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Financial Highlights

MBEHE

Operating Results
Revenue

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Operating profit before other losses
(including impairment loss on
a financial asset) — net

— e-print segment
— e-banner segment

Other losses
(including impairment loss on
a financial asset) — net

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Operating profit

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Profit for the period attributable to

— equity holders of company

— non — controlling interests

Net profit margin %
(Attributable to equity holders of
company)

Gross profit margin %

Basic earnings per share (HK Cents)

Financial Position
Total assets

Total equity

Cash and cash equivalents
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2019

—E-NE
HK$’million
BERBTT

408.7
314.1
94.6

20.9
21.1
(0.2)

(1.9)
(2.5)
0.6
19.0

18.6
0.4

17.4
(0.2)

4.3%
32.7%

3.16

310.7
234.5

123.7

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’ million

BEATT

403.3
308.8
94.5

33.8
30.5
3.3

5.5%
36.2%

4.01

311.2
231.7

89.5

1.3%
1.7%
0.1%

-38.2%
-30.8%
106.1%

-61.2%
-41.9%

-200.0%

-34.0%
-28.7%
-85.2%

-20.9%
118.2%

-21.2%

-0.2%

1.2%

38.2%



Operating Results

Year 2018/19 was another challenging year for eprint Group Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) as
we were continuously facing competition from digital marketing
and increasing operating costs in Hong Kong. Yet, we still able to
minimize these negative impact and delivered a profitable result to
our shareholders.

Under the strong competition from digital marketing, our paper
printing segment’s revenue still managed to record a slight
improvement due to our strong market presence and our sustained
efforts in improving our printing products and services. In order to
enhance the customer experience, we upgraded our self-service
platform and developed a newly corporate gift segment during the
year. The management believes that these measures are just the
beginning and we will definitely take more initiatives in the coming
year to maintain our market position.

For the banner printing segment, after the revenue boosted last
year, we still achieved a comparable result in the current year.
This proved that our banner printing services and products
successfully broke into the market and started to build up a sound
reputation around customers. With the continuous efforts from the
management and staff, we believe the banner segment will become
a vital role in the Group’s business and have a significant presence
in the industry before long.

Even though our two major printing segments achieved comparable
revenue in the current year, we recorded a drop in profit not only
because there was an absence of the one-off software income
which was recorded last year, but also we spent more on the
daily operations during the year. However, we believe that these
expenses will pay off in the foreseeable future as we built a solid
foundation, such as an experienced and motivated team and
better brand recognition, to deal with different uncertainties and
challenges.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Prospects

The growing popularity of digital marketing and inflating operating
costs in Hong Kong will no doubt remain the major constraints of
our business in the future. Nevertheless, the management shared
a strong belief that the Group will overcome these hurdles and
enhance the value of the Group with our maximum efforts to offer
services and products with excellent value for money. The Group
will take the following approaches in order to achieve the target:

- Adopt a diversification strategy by expanding the product and
services portfolio.

- Continue to improve the value added services, including
but not limited to the e-print mobile application, self-service
platform, phone quotation system, self checkout and
collecting counters and the storage and delivery system.

- Monitor the cost and pricing strategy regularly to ensure the
Group’s competitiveness.

- Retain the current experienced staff and recruit new young
talent.

As a result of a profitable operation and effective capital
management, the Group maintained a healthy cash balance which
can be used for further expansion and investment. For the principal
printing business, the management is seeking for advanced printing
machines and stores from time to time in order to improve the
production capacity and efficiency for our principal printing business
and expand our stores network.

In the meantime, we are also open to different business projects,
no matter where they are and what they are, if they can add
value to the Group. Our previous investments in Sakura Japan
Property (Hong Kong) Limited and e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd has
already proven that we are willing to diversify our business to other
industries and nations. During the year, e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd
recorded a significant improvement in their financial performance
and this further enhanced our confidence that these investments
would be beneficial to the Group and the shareholders in the long
run.
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Appreciation

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their unlimited
support throughout the year. In addition, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank all the hardworking and talented management
and staff for their persistent contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

She Siu Kee William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFN WD

Business Review

The Board presents to its shareholders the results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2019. In the current financial year,
the Group’s revenue increased by 1.3%, from HK$403.3 million
to HK$408.7 million. However, the costs of sales increased in a
higher degree because of the reclassification of the delivery charges
and hence the gross profit margin dropped by 3.5%. The Group’s
audited profit attributable to equity holders for the year ended
31 March 2019 was HK$17.4 million, representing a decrease of
20.9% when compared with last year. The declined net profit was
mainly attributed to the increased operating costs and the absence
of the one-off income from software sales as recorded for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

The revenue of the Group’s paper printing segment increased by
HK$5.3 million as a result of our well established reputation. The
advertising printing was still the major contributor to the segment’s
revenue and recorded an amount of HK$128.1 million. Our bound
book printing also achieved an improvement of 5.1% increase as
a result of the increased market demand. The segment’s gross
profit margin dropped by 3.0% to 32.2%, and the major reason
was that the delivery charges, which was classified as selling and
distribution expenses in previous year, had been reclassified to cost
of sales during the year according to the newly effective accounting
standard. If the effect of the reclassification were ignored, the gross
profit margin would be 35.5%, which was similar as last year’s
figures. In addition, the absence of the one-off income from software
sales, inflating staff cost and other daily operating expenses led to
the decrease of the operating profit from HK$26.1 million last year
to HK$18.6 million in the current year.

For the Group’s banner printing segment, we maintained a similar
level of revenue since recording a significant growth last year. The
gross profit margin dropped by 5.1% as the segment was also
subject to above mentioned reclassification of delivery charges,
in addition to the increased subcontracting cost and material
cost. The gross profit margin would have decreased by 2.9%
when compared with last year’s figures if we ignore the effect of
reclassification. The segment’s operating profit was also influenced
by the increased operating cost and hence resulted in a decrease
of HK$2.3 million.
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Outlook

With the combined effect of the global economic uncertainty,
challenges arising from digital marketing to the printing industry and
increasing operating costs in Hong Kong, the management expects
that the operating environment in Hong Kong will remain difficult in
the coming year. Nevertheless, the Board believes that the Group
can overcome these challenges and increase the shareholders value
by continuously improving the customer experience; offering a wider
choice of products with customization features; and implementing
efficient cost management strategy. Last but not least, we are
proactively looking for different business opportunities in order to
fully utilize the solid financial foundation and excellent reputation of
the Group.

Under the leadership of the Board, the management of the Group
has formed a broad consensus in response to the key improvement
areas in the existing business operation and market expansion in
order to further enhance the Group’s overall competitiveness. The
Group will continue to strengthen its market position and increase
its market share by adopting the following approaches:

° Strengthening the cost control to maintain the competitive
pricing strategy.

o Developing the new business line and customizing products
and services to meet the market demand.

o Continuously improving the value added services, including
but not limited to the e-print mobile application, self-service
platform, phone ordering system, self checkout and collecting
counters and the storage and delivery system.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREw i AT

Financial Review

Revenue

Revenue from the provision of printing and other services increased
by HK$5.4 milion or 1.3% from HK$403.3 milion to HK$408.7
million. The growth was mainly contributed by the increasing sales
of the paper printing services. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of the revenue by service category and their respective
percentage of the total revenue for the years indicated.

Bt %5 O R

Wz

AR X EM RSSO KZEH
403,300,000/ 7T 1% 105,400,000 JT =X
1.3%%2408,700,000/8 7t - B B8 W =5 7t
FEARRELEER RIS A S MATE -
TRHEFNIEZRBERESHKZHE R
HEBHRIIRFEMNRKEZE DL -

2019

—2-NF

HK$’000

FET
Advertising printing & %5 EN R 128,136 31.4% 127,123 31.5%
Bound book printing FE 5 E & EN Rl 87,471 21.4% 83,209 20.6%
Stationery printing X E ENfl 84,788 20.7% 85,148 21.1%
Banner printing n& = E il 83,084 20.3% 82,370 20.4%
Other services H Ath fR 7% 25,244 6.2% 25,453 6.3%
Total “eEt 408,723 100% 403,303 100%

The advertising printing was still the major contributor of the
revenue, which accounted for 31.4% of the total revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

BEEERNAR/ETR2RERR BE-FT
—NWEFE=ZA=+—BLFEHRBAKRAED
31.4% -

2019 2018

e L —EN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

Sales Channels FERT FET
Stores G 93,475 22.9% 96,482 23.9%
Websites HER 186,024 45.5% 164,055 40.7%
Others (Note) Eb (HfaE) 129,224 31.6% 142,766 35.4%
Total HRET 408,723 100% 403,303 100%

Note:  “Others” refers to revenue derived from orders received over the telephone,  Fffaf: [Hith] 5@ BEE - BE - e-print B jE A 12

through e-mail, e-print mobile application and “Photobook” program.
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Financial Review continveq)

Revenue (continued)

Websites remained the major sales channel and it contributed
45.5% of total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019,
represented an increase of 4.8% when compared with last year. The
sales contributed by other channels slightly decreased from 35.4%
to 31.6%. The change was caused by the increasing proportion of
the revenue contributed by the paper printing segment, in which the
majority of the sales orders were made on the online platform.

Other income

Other income mainly represented the interest income from unlisted
bonds securities and sales of scrap materials. The amount
decreased by HK$4.0 million as there was an absence of the
one-off income from software sales as recorded for the year ended
31 March 2018, in addition to the HK$0.6 million decrease in
interest income received from unlisted bond securities.

Details of the unlisted bond securities are as follows:
As at 31 March 2018

Investment date

RERH

N

Details of the unlisted bond securities

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R wm R

B 7 B B o)
Wz )

BHE-_ZT-NF=RA=+—HItFEE @
HDAASENTEHERE  ERIARIK
mM45.5% BREFIHEMA8% - EMRE
B $HE B Bf 35.4%BE B £31.6% © % &
&) 5 B 4K K8 BN il 0 BB &9 & A 1k U &S B I
TEEIMAE ER RKBoHEFTENR
BEEFEET

Hitb e A

HEMWAFTERIFELTESFEFNFE
WA K 88 E BER - £ %R 44,000,000
B THRBRALABE_ZE—-NF=A
=+t HLEFEHSHN - AMEBMHHEE
WA - UARBIEETEFEFMEF B
AR 600,000 7T ©

FLHEFEFZFBNOT
R-ZZB-NF=ZA=+—H

Principal amount

N

20 October 2016

Subscribed for bonds issued by National Arts

HK$5,000,000

Entertainment and Culture Group Limited

(stock code: 8228)

“E-RFTHZ-t+H REBERB2REYCEEER QA

(B fh 55 - 8228) BEATHIE R

11 November 2016

Subscribed for bonds issued by Unity

5,000,000/ 7T

HK$10,000,000

Investment Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 913)

—E-RFt+—A+—H REA —REEBRAERAF

(RS 913) BITHIES

10,000,000/ 7T

2018/19% % eprint EEARAT 11



Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE R

Financial Review (Continued)

Other income (continued)

As at 31 March 2019

20 October 2016

Subscribed for bonds issued by National Arts

E\Zt %% @ EE: (%)
Hi A #2)

R-B—RE=A=+—8

HK$5,000,000

Entertainment and Culture Group Limited

(stock code: 8228)
RBEBRECEEGR QA
(B RER : 8228) HITHES

—E-XF+A=-+H

In view of the sufficiency of the Group’s liquidity, the Group had
diversified to invest in bonds issued by the listed companies on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
for the purpose of capital preservation and a relative high interest
return when compared with the bank interest income. The above
unlisted bond securities were reclassified from held-to-maturity
investments to other financial assets at amortised cost according
to the newly effective accounting standard. The unlisted bond
security held as at 31 March 2019 had expired during the year
and there was an unsettled amount of HK$0.5 million after the
year ended 31 March 2019. On 17 June 2019, the bond issuer,
National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited (“National
Arts Entertainment and Culture”), filed a winding up petition and
appointed joint provisional liquidators. Considering that the Group
has the right to demand immediate redemption in the event of
default and the outstanding balance is immaterial, no impairment
provision was made on this bond investment. As at the date of
this report, no further update has been received from National Arts
Entertainment and Culture.

Other losses — net

Other losses — net mainly represented the loss incurred on the
disposal of property, plant and equipment and foreign exchange
difference. The net loss decreased by HK$4.6 million when
compared with last year and it was caused by the significant
decrease in the loss incurred on disposing property, plant and
equipment during the year.
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Financial Review continveq)

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of staff costs,
handling charges for electronic payments, and rental charges.
Selling and distribution expenses represented 8.5% and 10.9%
of the revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018
respectively. The decrease of HK$9.1 million was mainly due
to the reclassification of delivery charges of HK$12.7 million to
cost of sales in the current year according to the newly effective
accounting standards. If we ignore the effect of the reclassification,
the expenses would increase by HK$3.5 million, which was
the combined effect of the increased staff cost and the delivery
charges.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly include staff costs and outsourced
customer support expenses. Administrative expenses represent
19.8% and 18.7% of the total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2019 and 2018 respectively. The amount increased by HK$5.4
million from HK$75.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
HK$80.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase
was the result of increased staff cost and outsourced customer
support expenses.

Impairment loss on a financial asset

Impairment loss on a financial asset solely represents the expected
credit loss of HK$1.6 million against the loan receivable. An
external valuer was engaged to determine the amount of provision,
in which various factors (e.g. financial information, average
corporate recovery rate, economic indices and etc.) was taken into
consideration during the valuation.

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from bank deposits and the loan receivable. The income increased
by HK$1.0 million as the Group allocated more funds to the bank
deposits during the year, in addition to the income generated from
the loan receivable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERENRRA

Financial Review continveq)

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings and finance charges on obligations under finance lease.
The amount was dropped by HK$0.6 million when compared with
last year because of the repayment made on the borrowing and
finance lease arrangement during the year.

Share of profit of a joint venture

The amount represented the share of result of the Group’s joint
venture, e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. The improvement of their
financial performance led to the increase of the Group’s share of
profit in the current year.

Share of losses of associates

The amount represented the share of results of the Group’s
associates in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), namely Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited and
Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong Technology Company Limited (“Yi
Yun”) respectively. During the year, an impairment provision of HK$1
million was made on the investment in Yi Yun after assessing the
recoverable amount of the investment.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
decreased by HK$4.6 milion or 20.9%, from HK$22.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2018 to HK$17.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019. Net profit margin also dropped by 1.2%.
The decrease in the profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company was mainly due to increased operating cost during
the year.
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Financial Review continveq)

Liquidity and financial information

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash was
HK$123.7 million, represented an increase of HK$34.2 million when
compared with that as at 31 March 2018. The increase was mainly
due to the cash inflow generated in the operating activities. As at
31 March 2019, the financial ratios of the Group were as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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R-ZE—hE F:ﬁ J\EF

=Z=B=+—H
Current ratio ™ MENELEO 2.5 2.3
Gearing ratio @ BEEAEBLXO 12.0% 13.7%
Notes: ihg=3
(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total current (1)  REILL R RERBEER N E RS EETE -
liabilities.

2) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank overdraft, borrowings and
obligation under finance leases divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

Borrowings

The Group’ bank borrowings balance as at 31 March 2019 and 31
March 2018 were HK$25.9 million and HK$24.6 million respectively.
All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong Kong and
were repayable within one year, except a mortgage loan with
the carrying amount of HK$20.9 million which will be matured in
2036. No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged by
current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments. The weighted
average interest rates (per annum) was 2.3% for both the year
ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERENRRA

Financial Review continveq)

Treasury Policies

The Group had adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year. The Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since 3 December 2013. As at 31 March
2019, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company
was 550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had capital
commitments totaling HK$4.4 million and HK$5.7 million for
investment in an associate and purchase of property, plant and
equipment, respectively.

Significant Investments Held
Except for the investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and

associates, the Group did not hold any significant investment in
equity interest in any other company during the year.
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Financial Review continveq)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Except for the aforesaid capital commitment to the investment
in an associate, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

Material Acquisitions

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2019.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charge of Assets

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with a carrying value of HK$4.4 million and HK$9.7
million respectively, as collaterals to secure the Group’s obligation
under finance leases. As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group
pledged two properties with the total carrying value of HK$62.5
million and HK$64.7 million respectively, as collaterals to secure the
Group’s mortgage loan.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERENRRA

Financial Review continveq)

Capital Expenditure

During the year, the Group invested HK$5.2 million in property,
plant and equipment, represented an increase of HK$3.5 million in
capital expenditure than last year.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

At 31 March 2019, the Group had 333 full time employees. There
was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to the
Malaysian rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia.

Dividends

The Board recommended the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019 of HK1.6 cents per ordinary share, totaling
HK$8,800,000 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 23 August 2019
(2018: HK2.40 cents per ordinary share, totaling HK$13,200,000).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (‘CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors including two

executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Shing Kai

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Deng Xiaen

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai

Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit
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Board of Directors (continued)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She
Siu Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming and
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki on 2 July 2013 confirming the existence of
their acting in concert arrangement to jointly control their respective
interest in the Company held through eprint Limited. Save as
aforesaid, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board. The composition of the Board reflects
the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership. The
biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 80 to
82 under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 5 Board meetings were
held. All Directors were given an opportunity to include any matters
in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and were also given
sufficient time to review documents and information relating to
matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director

Corporate Governance Report
PEREBRE

BEESw

—MERRETR (HFEFE)KRBEL
EMEESE REPEERFEEHEE
ARZFE—=FtHZHFIZ Bt &
EHRBEN— ﬁlﬂ@)ﬁﬁ Liﬂeprlnt

Limited R A ZEHIFEZBFENEAR
M2 o BR £ SCPT AL AN %%@&E\ZF&W%
B ER REXEMERHESH

F-HKN— AN EESEERRESS
E’J%‘F%I‘I‘Eo%%?ﬂ%ﬂﬁ&ﬂ%i@@i&
RELR METARNAE-FHESY

Eﬁéﬁﬂ%@ﬁé$¢$&%aoz‘észﬁ [EER
EREEBZBE] —H-

EXQRTLERK BEBRRBER
g HREAEENYBRAREE-BF
@Q%$%@%ﬁ@%%i&%@%§
MEEFSHAENKEK EREERE K
EAMEZERERF ARBERETHEREEE
ME ME AR R ER AR -

%@é:;—hiiﬂi+—ﬁ¢¢§
A @Agﬁm@%°%%§$ﬁ
“m EAMNEEMATHES
HENBRABFEEL
%@ﬁ@%%%% R LTWEED
XHERER -

Number of
attendance

R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William RARELE
Mr. Lam Shing Kai MRAFEAE A
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEEHEL
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERALEE
Mr. Deng Xiaen HEBREE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B 5 A
Mr. Fu Chung BRELE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BN EE
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Board Meetings (continueo)

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meeting

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 1 general meeting was held,
being the 2018 annual general meeting of the Company held on 14
August 2018.

Name of Director

EEE2EEEw

EFEeeRnBbm AR ARARE (A
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Number of
attendance

R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William REAESLE
Mr. Lam Shing Kai MAEES &
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RREALE
Mr. Deng Xiaen HEREL
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B 5 A
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit FERRELE

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the
Board and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company should attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions and collect views of
shareholders.
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Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by way of attending seminars relating to their role as a
Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William RIBETAE
Mr. Lam Shing Kai MAFEAE A
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERLE
Mr. Deng Xiaen BEREE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B 5T A
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BEREE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors.
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Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high calibre, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
printing or management. With their experience gained from
various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation
of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers
each of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a specific term and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference which was
revised on 25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and
Mr. Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She
Siu Kee William. The functions of the Nomination Committee are
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify
qualified individuals to become members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 13
November 2013 and delegated certain duties under the Policy to
the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own
business model and specific needs from time to time in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The Nomination Committee will review the necessity for setting
measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to
time.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review
of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an
additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises)
or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the
Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the
Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited,

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

() ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(90 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

Corporate Governance Report

EEERMSE
REZEEGw
REZBERTRREIRLERBEN
AFEERMNENE-
REREFENEITRENELITEN
BRATET TR ZERBREENA
RESEABEBENMAZHAE MAFM
ﬁ%%&(@%mﬁﬁzx%$$@%
THESZE TN EE (BHIES
=X 45 7 R B 22 R ) 3 %%EE% ¥ |
EZeRBEREZEGHEZREAN
HEE R AEHIRE -
EZRBEEAZEANAERKANBRER
RET R HE AN NEEQ AN
=% ﬁﬁ%%%%@%% gu&ﬁﬂ

H%I/?ji Tﬁﬁﬁi I
= HEBR -ETETH
=) 78 1E H 98 37 I I

3l

=

t+

4}><rqﬂﬂ+
—m]]]E

M&

208 W
Ny

BN
ar .

—mﬂ]]Hm

J

N
il
At
ot
Bl
[
e
Fist
sied
i
st
it
ﬁ
H

w
31
et
it
-

&>

%
et =
P =
i1
)
25

4
10 =2

N B
18 oy
25 X
oMt m
=1
=t v
junij
I8 0\

i 8>
AH
B Fn -

\
/

RRWE
5 0 P

inf I8

m 3

?:‘H
B W
Btk /%\'

W
c1
aup \
aop
[N
‘TR

COHEE
@
8
0K = et
I MY S~ 4t
B o

my ol
I

s

>

|\

N

\
’

Lol
S i

= A A
SF 2 M ST e
T3 jk 22 om0

AE ot B = 38
E‘*mab%
g~

=

&

©
ot B
Sl ¥
it
B
it
5
>
i
m
S
X

St
@ ol
_, M
=
El:lm AN :
i
\‘rmm
e
iy
Sad
off

(0 ABTEEFGIBITAXEIANAR
BIH A ER  SOXPI K E R A
i he IR (E AT AR 7E ~ 77 8t R AR B (A
SR e

2018/19% 3 eprint EEER 2T 25



Corporate Governance Report
PERERRE

Nomination Committee continvea)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting for (1) reviewing the Board composition, (2)
reviewing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and (3) assessing the necessity to set measurable
objectives for implementing the Policy.
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BUMARR (AR EE) EmHRAFE3.13
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THERQFERLEERRNAIGER
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Number of
attendance

Nomination Committee member

Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) HRLE (EFE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William REBEFLAE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference, which
was aligned with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman)
and Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu
Kee William.
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Remuneration Committee (continueq)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting for reviewing the year-end bonus
proposals for Directors the year 2017/2018.
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Number of
attendance

Remuneration Committee member

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) BRI (FE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEKE
Mr. Fu Chung BRELE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
13 November 2013. The purpose of the share option scheme is
to recognize and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract or retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. Details of the share option scheme
are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under employment contracts or service contracts,
if any, and will be fixed by the Board based on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group
and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note
36 to the financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference on 13 November 2013 which was revised on
25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is currently made available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai
and Mr. Fu Chung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the interim
and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and overseeing
the Company’s financial reporting system (including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in charge
of the Company’s financial reporting function and their training
arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk management and
the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (chairman) EIRREE(FE)
Mr. Poon Chun Wai 5 TJKW?EE
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee
reviewed, among others, the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2018 and interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 September 2018, which were in the opinion
of the Audit Committee that the preparation of such consolidated
financial statements and results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and

internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board had reviewed the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended to 31 March 2019, the remuneration payable or
paid to the Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”),
was as follows:
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HK$’000
FTERx

Services rendered RS

— Audit services — &5 AR 1,624

— Non-audit services (Note) —IERET RS (B aE) 242
Note: the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services  FfaE: T RE B IE A & £ KB REN TSRS

provided by PwC. K H thAB R AR 7% ©

Company Secretary AEME
Mr. Mok Chun Wa (“Mr. Mok”) was appointed as the Company EEEXL ([ELXE])IR - FHh
Secretary on 30 September 2016. The biographical details of Mr. A=+ BEZET AR RIME-EXLNE
Mok are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of FEHFBEEH AR EENSREEE 2 B F ]
Directors and Senior Management”. —ffo

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Mok had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital
expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future
expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and articles of association,
the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves

the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A3, 1st Floor, Phase 3
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the
sub-section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion
at general meetings.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2019 annual general meeting will be voted by
poll.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in
the following manner:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
shareholders;

° Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the Stock Exchange’s website, and issue of other
announcements and shareholders’ circulars in accordance
with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing
Rules; and

° General meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgments and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a
going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the
Audit Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group appointed
Corporate Governance Professionals Limited (“CGPL”) to:

o assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by CGPL to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of CGPL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework

(Continued)

Principal Risks

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the following principal risks
of the Group were identified and classified into strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
BB FERRK

Strategic Risks
&I b
Operational Risks
EiER R
Financial Risks

No significant risk identified

ARERBEBRAR

RREHREB L2 RE
No significant risk identified

B 15 R B AREREXER
Compliance Risks No significant risk identified
AR ER AERBARER

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by CGPL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.

Inadequate cyber security protection
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures (the “Risk Management
Policy”). The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
framework will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic
management meeting is held to update the progress of risk
monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure that risk
management forms part of the daily business operation processes
in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an
effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Approach

eprint Group Limited (hereafter called the “Company”) is committed
to promoting transparency of the Company’s operations and
its impact on the environment and society in which it operates,
and also communicating with its stakeholders. The results of the
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) review shown in this
report demonstrate the importance of environmental protection we
place on top of our business development target, and explain how
we seek to continually improve our ESG strategy in line with global
standards. This report also illustrates the focus of our resources
utilized for our core operations in order for the Company to become
the leading printing company for creating a highly efficient and
balanced business profile.

With both integrity and determination, we look at issues that
may have a reputational impact on, or that may pose a risk to,
the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter called the “Group”)
in the short-, medium- or long-term. Issues that are important to
our stakeholders, including but not limited to, our customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”),
are also crucial to us. We are positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the Group’s success in
business development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed
on to our employees, customers and the environment.

We see the integration of sustainability into our business strategy as
well as daily operations as a must to pursue our business model.
To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding of, and
interaction with, our employees, customers and other stakeholders
are of the highest priority. We believe that effective management
of ESG issues is important to our long-term success in a rapidly
changing world. With thorough understanding of the ESG risks
and opportunities, the Group will be better positioned in allocating
its resources to reduce and recycle different kinds of waste, and
responding to the increasing demand for higher standards of waste
treatment by regulators. Thus, with all the aforementioned factors,
the Group expects itself to face greater challenges. In addition,
we believe that our expertise, capabilities, and ownership model
can form part of the solutions to some of the challenges that
organizations around the world are already facing. We are confident
that as part of the business decision-making process, by involving
all relevant stakeholders in the ESG management process, we
will be able to better monitor the ESG issues, and the long-term
success of the Group will be assured.
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Ap p roac h (Continued)

Finally, our sustainability strategy in the following aspects applies to
all the work streams:

1. To promote environmental sustainability;
2. To attract, retain and support employees;
3. To engage with stakeholders;

4. To sustain local communities;

5. To strengthen community relations;

6. To grow suppliers’ commitment.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia, for the financial year ended 31
March 2019 (“Reporting Period”). It describes the Group’s progress
on its way towards creating sustainable value for its shareholders
and other stakeholders. During the process of preparing this
Report, we have conducted thorough review and evaluation of the
existing ESG practices of the Group with the aim of achieving better
performance results in the future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations in
Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia.

In addition to the internal factors such as our core values, strategy
and competency that contribute to our sustainable development,
we have communicated with our stakeholders and considered the
ESG challenges as reported by other market players, to decide and
prioritize material topics in this Report.
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About this report continueq)

Report Scope and Boundary (continued)

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

° the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong, PRC and
Malaysia;

° current and future environment and/or society;
° our financial and/or operational performance; and
° our stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Stock Exchange’s
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7121). Although
there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders outside
the Group when this Report was being prepared, we have included
the key issues which are of different stakeholder groups’ concerns,
based on our continual communication with them. Alternatively,
you are also welcome to send your comments and suggestions
regarding our ESG performance to our Company Secretary and
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Mok Chun Wa, by mail.

Our Stakeholders

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage our stakeholders to ensure that improvement of our
products and services can be implemented. We strongly believe
that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of
our business.
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Our Stakeholders (Continued)

HKEXx

ERRXZR

Government

BT

Suppliers

HER

Investors

REE

Media & Public

HEEAR

Customers

EF

Employees

R’

Community

HE

Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

T LR BB A -

Compliance with laws and regulations,
preventing tax evasion, and social welfare.

BPRRER  BRAMIEEGREN -
Payment schedule, stable demand.
NHRE - BEFRK-

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, investment
returns.

PEERER ¥XBEBERRERR -IRED
.

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, human right.

PEER BREK A

Product quality, service delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value, personal
data protection

EmEx REXSE - SEER RS
BE - EAEFRE-

Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and development,
work hours, working environment, labour
protection and work safety

A LA EEFM HI R ER - TH
B THERR STRERTEL2-

Community environment, employment and
community development, social welfare.

HRRE BEMERER TSR -
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Meetings, training, workshops, programs,
website updates and announcements.

& B HEe RiE BUHEHRLL

%O

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

EBRAE BRE BBREEMER
Site visits.
RIGHHE -

Seminars, interviews, shareholders’ meetings,
financial reports or operation reports for
investors, media and analysts.

RREE BREOWEFRRNMATE &
FOBRAE MERERLERS -

Newsletters on the Company’s web site.

TA 72X ) 48 U 3% 4 &9 37 7 o

Site visits, after-sales services.

BRigHE SR RG-

Team building activities, training, interviews
with employees, internal memos, employees’
suggestion boxes.

Bz Bl BEESEA REA
HRAERETIERME-

Community activities, employee voluntary

activities and community welfare subsidies
and donations.
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Environmental

Overview

We understand that a healthy environment is the foundation for
economic progress and well-being of the society. Thus, our priority
is to protect the environment and minimize adverse impact on the
environment.

The Group has established a set of management policies and
measures regarding environmental protection to help ensure
sustainable development and efficient operations of the Group. The
Group strives to enhance the efficiency in the use of energy, water
and materials, and also to comply with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to
reduce the use of natural resources and protect the environment.

We aim at striking a balance between sustainable corporate
development and environmental protection, and thus, we closely
monitor greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
rates to minimize our impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Compliance and Grievance

As far as the Group is concerned, there were no reported
non-compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group in
relation to environmental aspects during the Reporting Period.

Emissions

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulffil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.

The Group has implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public.
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Environmental continueq)

Emissions (continued)

In order to achieve the above objectives, we have adopted the
following working principles:

42

To comply with the regulations

The Group ensures that internal guidelines and procedures
are in place for all its business operations to follow in order to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong,
PRC and Malaysia.

To prevent pollution

The Group does its best to avoid, reduce and control
environmental pollution caused by its daily operations.

To reduce the wastes

While there is no wastewater discharge from its operations in
the PRC and Malaysia, the Group has installed an automatic
wastewater treatment system to ensure that any effluent
discharged to the drainage complies with the relevant
regulatory requirements in Hong Kong. The Group also
engages external agencies to perform waste discharge testing
annually to ensure that the pH value of the discharge fulfils the
environmental protection standard set by the government.

In addition, the Group closely cooperates with qualified
environmental recyclers to recycle solid wastes produced
during the production process in Hong Kong (including,
but not limited to, waste paper, waste zinc, waste plastic
materials, etc.).

To reduce consumption of resources

The Group aims at implementing convenient and
cost-effective waste management; and upholding sustainable
development by reducing consumption of resources, reducing
manufacturing waste, as well as reusing and recycling of
reusable wastes.
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Environmental (continueq)

Emissions (continuea)

° To improve the Group’s performance

Based on the changes in internal and external factors,
management reviews the objectives relating to environmental
protection, use of resources, and sustainable development
and operations of the Group in order to continuously improve
the Group’s performance.

Besides, the Group has obtained a Discharge Licence (Licence No.
WT00032965-2018) which is valid until 31 January 2024 in relation
to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358). The Group
has also been granted with the Registration of Waste Producer
(Producer No.: 3422-295-12857-02) under the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation (Cap. 354C).

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”,

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC).
Non-hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, paper, foam
board, synthesized paper, lightbox film, canvas and sticker.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong, Solid
Waste and Public Cleansing Management Act 2007 in Malaysia,
and the Law of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste in China.
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Environmental continueq)

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions (continuea)

In order to mitigate the emission of wastes, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle wastes. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators
— A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 &
Non-hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”,

Use of resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials.

It is very important for the Group to monitor water quality and air
quality, and strengthen the investigation, assessment and reporting
processes and procedures as for the impact of our production on
the ecosystem in order to prevent any environmental accidents from
happening.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental (continueq)

Direct/indirect usage of electricity/water and raw
materials

The practices that reduce the use of resources include:
Electricity:

o Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

° Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

° Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
and computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during
non-office hours, and lunch time.

° Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

o Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

Water:

° Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

° Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

° Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

o Install filters in printing machines to recycle water.

° Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE e kEamE

Environmental continueq)

Direct/indirect usage of electricity/water and raw
materials (continueq)

Raw materials:
o Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to the qualified recyclers for recycling.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”.

Packaging materials used for finished products

To reduce the carbon footprint and contribute to saving the planet,
the Group encourages our customers to minimize the use of plastic
bags. We suggest our customers to bring their own shopping bags.
Besides, the majority of the packaging materials used by the Group
are recyclable and biodegradable.

For details regarding the consumption of packaging materials
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Packaging Materials
Indicators KPI A2.5”.

46  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2018/19

I%; iﬁ (#&)

B EERE KREME 2

PRCESE
° KAEERBERIUR LD ERISHE-
s REEBBEHERERRERA-

o IRHFSC (ARMRRE) RBMKRMBEP

B

s TEHIBERERAVEMBOLERMBN
REHENRF

o fHEHIELARB AR ZFHM
R B - BB ER At -

o HoBRBEPERFRARE AR
RS

s BBEFEHBEMXR-

e HEBECEAATHMKAHSE-

s RAEEAMAROIEBEVEEZZEEXR

BARETERER -
ERREHAREERKERNFRE F2
B BSR4 DB IR-ARIR— AL B MKOH
BEBREVNERAANERESER
A22] —ffie

R m P AEEMH

R D IRIF IR R BRI A LB B A
SERBEFPEERDERBEHR KM
REREFEGRYR- AR AEEFERN
REBD BEME - R R] = K 7] £ YR -

ERBREHABRKMIERNFRE F2
Bl BRI R-ARR - BEMEER

BB A IR IRA2.5] — o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Social

Workplace

The key to our success depends on the well-organized team of
qualified and experienced talents. We focus on assisting our staff
to achieve their career goals and self-development. We provide
training through seminars and forums, and encourage our staff to
grow with the Group together.

The Group’s team profile

As at 31 March 2019, we had 333 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as at the year ended March 2019 and March 2018,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B.
Social — Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees’ Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, and holidays, etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments which they belong to. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled
to have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their
first year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are
entitled to 5 days of marriage leave and 2 days of compassionate
leave for their close family members i.e. parents/children/spouse/
grandparents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B B REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

The Group’s team profile (coniinved)

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

1. The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) as for recruitment,
and provision of reasonable working conditions.

2. The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

3. In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group

”

complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

4.  For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

5.  The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong
Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety (continueq)

We signed a “Health and Safety Policy” statement in 2013 to
emphasize that occupational safety is the first priority of our Group.
In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend relevant
training and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision to the
employees.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a fire safety training to all
staff in the Malaysia Office, aiming to reinforce fire safety awareness
to our staff. Upon the completion of the fire safety training, our staff
are equipped with basic fire safety knowledge and skills, such as
proper way of using fire extinguishers.

In addition, during the Reporting Period, we arranged an
occupational safety training session for e-print production staff in
Hong Kong, covering safety measures in operations of tail lifts. As
such, we aspire to minimize potential hazards associated to the
unsafe operation of tail lifts, such as trapping injuries.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardize
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to
work injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section
of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.

Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering staff turnover rate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B B REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

Development and Training (continued)

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, work flows of
order placement, and customer service technique, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required
job knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include, but not
limited to, sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge
and skills through pursuing continual education. Employees who
have been employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing
Education Assistance” if they enrol on courses which are relevant to
their jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined list
for restricting the courses to be chosen, and so, our employees can
select the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training
hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please
refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.

Zero Tolerance

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstanding and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

B. Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

C. At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A.  The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

B. Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phone, laptop, business cards, chops, and
locker key, etc.;

C. Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B B REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

Complaints

The “Human Resources Operations Procedures” issued by the
Human Resources Department of the Group stipulates that the
Group provides employees with a number of channels of lodging
complaints. For example, when a staff member encounters any
unreasonable treatment, he/she can report it to the department
head and Human Resources Department of the Group.

Cultural activities

In order to promote work-life balance for our staff, various kinds of
recreational activities are provided.

For example, the Group has formed a basketball team and a
football team. Sports training sessions are provided every month to
increase the bonding among employees.

Education

The Group is in good relationship with the Hong Kong Design
Institute (“HKDI”), Pro-Act Training and other tertiary institutions,
and invites their students to visit our printing production line from
time to time to pass on the basic knowledge of the printing industry
to them.

We believe that education is the most effective means of
propagating and sustaining community investments. During the
Reporting Period, the Group made donations to Youth College
to fund the scholarship awarding students with sound academic
attainment and providing financial aid to students with financial
difficulties.

Environment
As a result of our continual efforts made on environmental
sustainability, we have been awarded “3 Years+ EcoPioneer

Certificate”, “EcoPartner Certificate” and “BOCHK Corporate
Environmental Leadership” by Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Environment (continueq)

During the Reporting Period, the Group was also certified with
“Green Office” under Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme
organized by the World Green Organization. The certification
demonstrates our substantial achievement in green workplace
practices. Moreover, in recognition of our energy saving initiatives,
we have been awarded “Hong Kong Green Organization
Certification — Energywi$e Certificate”.

In addition to the environmental certifications, the Group is also
actively involved in various types of environmental protection
activities, such as the “Paper Towel Reduction Scheme” organized
by the World Green Organization, “Earth Hours 2018” organized by
WWEF, and “Lai See Reuse and Recycle Program 2019” organized
by the Greeners Action.

Labour demand

We deeply understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Internship and full-time employment opportunities are offered to
university students, such that they can gain hands-on experience
in the printing industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was awarded “Partner Employer Award 2018/19” for our efforts in
promoting youth development.

Moreover, the Group maintains close contacts and co-operation
with the Employees Retraining Board (“ERB”), providing different
kinds of training to staff, as well as offering job opportunities to
ERB students, and has won the “ERB Manpower Developer Award
Scheme”.

Aiming for more suppliers complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt
green procurement practices by using printing ink that is made
of soybeans in our production. As compared to the traditional
petroleum-based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly
and makes paper easier for recycle.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE e kEamE

SOCiaI (Continued)

Aiming for more suppliers complying with our Code
of Conduct (continuea)

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such
as price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery
time, and payment terms, etc. For the number of our suppliers by
geographical region during the Reporting Period, please refer to the
section “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Supply Chain
Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include, but not limited to, incidents of goods
return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background, and
stability of goods supply, etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. For each
procurement order, the Group selects the suppliers from the
approved vendor list and requests two to three suppliers for price
quotations.

In addition, the Group requires the suppliers to declare if there
is any close personal or business relationship with the Group’s
directors, employees or agents. If any suppliers and contractors
are found guilty in breaching any legal requirements, the Group has
the right to terminate all outstanding contracts with the relevant
suppliers or contractors immediately, while the relevant supplier
or contractor is not able to recover any compensation or claim for
loss.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with laws
and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and PRC that have a significant impact on our business,
including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528)
in Hong Kong; Trademark Law of the PRC, the Copyright Law
of the PRC and the Rules of Protection on Information Network
Dissemination Rights in the PRC; and the Consumer Protection Act
1999 in Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights.

For the orders placed by the customers at the retail shops or the
self-service platform or through the customer service hotline, the
Customer Service Department is responsible for checking the files
against infringement of intellectual property rights or any other
issues.

If the file to be printed is suspected of possible infringement of
intellectual property rights, the Group would not start printing unless
the customer can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual
property for verification. In case the customer fails to provide such
authorization/proof, the Group has the right to reject the order.

Moreover, the Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation
in respect of infringement of intellectual property rights arising from
printing of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substance such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list out the composition
of the ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink
manufacturers for our reference. The test reports show that no
hazardous components are contained in the printing ink.

If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the products
delivered, the staff of the retail shops have to conduct preliminary
assessment, and will pass the products to the Quality Control
Department for further checking, if necessary.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continueq)

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issue, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report
will then be prepared with information such as checking results,
the responsible department involved, and recommendations for
rectification, etc. clearly listed.

In recognition of our commitment to consumer care, the Group was
awarded “Consumer Caring Company 2018” organized by GS1
Hong Kong. The award recognizes our efforts for delivering a high
standard of products and services to customers.

In addition, the Group has been qualified as “G7 Master” since
February 1, 2018. G7 Master Qualification Status certifies our
printing facilities are capable of offering efficient and consistent print
products that align with G7 Standards.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of product and service related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.

Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc.

Nevertheless, all the personal information collected by the Group
is strictly used in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and
regulations.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures for
protecting the personal data collected. For example, staff members
are required to sign a non-disclosure agreement upon employment
to state that they are not allowed to disclose any information
to unauthorized third parties. Besides, when the Group collects
personal data via the Group’s website, e.g. when customers
place orders through self-service platform, encryption technology
is adopted to protect the personal data from potential leakage.
Firewall has also been set up in the Group’s website to prevent
unauthorized access and abuse by third parties.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, including,
but not limited to, Criminal Law of China, Anti-Money Laundering
Law of China, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong
and the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

As stated in our “Anti-fraud Policy”, employees should promptly
report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are aware of any
suspected persons or events. Employees may report the suspected
fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or the department
manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g. telephone, or
formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support from senior
management will be given to the employees reporting fraudulent
cases.

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported,
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

Furthermore, the Group has established a guideline on gift receipt
to make it clear for employees to prevent corruption and bribery.
Upon receipt of gift, an employee has to make declaration to the
Group within 3 working days.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption case was noted and/or
reported.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group has set up a whistle-blowing policy to provide
guidance for employees to report their concerns of any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group.

In our workplace, in order to maintain a high standard of integrity
and impartiality, we encourage our employees to whistle-blow any
suspected corruption incidents and the whistle-blowers will remain
anonymous after the investigation report is issued.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Communication channel

The Group has established internal staff complaint procedures to
ensure that proper channels are in place for employees to file their
complaints. If an employee would like to lodge a complaint, he/
she can report it directly to his/her department head. If he/she is
dissatisfied with the results, he/she can file complaints further to the
Human Resources Department.

Customer Service Department

The Group has established “Complaint Handling Procedures”
which stipulates the procedures for handling complaints received
from customers. Complaints received must be recorded in the
internal system and passed to senior staff or the Customer Service
Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group, should update the complainant about the investigation
status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution

Our goal is to establish long-term relationships with organizations
that share the same philosophy as ours, and are willing to bring
social development to the community based on their mutual
assistance, respect and integrity.

Through cooperating with different organizations in the community,
employee voluntary service and donation, the Group is committed
to establishing positive impact in the following three areas:

Environmental education:

We work together with different agencies in order to reduce the
damage to the environment caused by our business operations.
We are also committed to raising the awareness of employees
about carbon reduction in the environment, and supporting
and sponsoring relevant institutions and initiatives to promote
environmental education.

During the Reporting Period, we cooperated with a number of
NGOs and tertiary institutions to organize various activities such as
red packets recycling and paper towel reduction scheme. As such,
we aspire to raise environmental awareness in the community.

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups:

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help
and mutual love is to make the society harmonious and help
develop the economy. We collect donations from employees
and business partners through various activities to help meet the
needs of the disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality
of the communities to which they belong. We also provide job
opportunities to the underprivileged groups.

To show our support to the patients with the genetic defect,
thalassaemia, over 50 members of staff participated in “Dress
Red for Thalassaemia Campaign” on 25 May 2018. The campaign
works towards enhancing health and quality of life of patients; and
to arouse public awareness on thalassaemia.

During the Reporting Period, printing sponsorships were offered to
various NGOs, such as Hong Kong Rehabilitation Power and Fu
Hong Society. The sponsorships support the community initiatives
in offering assistance to the disadvantaged group.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution continued)

Cultivation of cultural creation:

Culture is an important milestone in the heritage of mankind and a
key part of historical testimony. Creation can inspire us to learn from
each other, leading to a more innovative thinking environment. With
respect to this, we support employees to organize different design
contests in order to widen the contestants’ creative horizons.

Design competitions were held to recognize students with
outstanding design talent. During the Reporting Period, we
organized two competitions, namely “e-print Greeting Cards
Competition” and “e-print Posters Design Competition”. The
competitions ultimately aim to encourage students to leverage their
innovative talents.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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FERERER

F—8HD RER

Key Performance Indicators
Part A. Environmental

Emission Indicators
- KPI A1.1
B E-HREN

Source Emission Type

HRALY

TR

Emission Data from Vehicles

EHNFHBE

Kilometres
travelled
BEIRAE

Units of fuel
consumed
FTREM B E AL
Diesel
£
Petrol
o

For the

year ended
31 March
2019

az
-
=A=+-A
%34
78,719.0 km
78,719.07 8

213.4 L
213.47t

9,962.3 L
9,962.37+

For the

year ended

31 March
2018

az
—F-N\F
ZA=+-A
LEE
167,879.3 km
167,879.32 8

3,658.2L
3,558.27t

11,625.5 L
11,625.57+

3 il

Nitrogen
Oxides
=R &)

Particulate
Matter
s

Sulphur Oxides
k=R d=%)

For the

year ended
31 March
2019

BE
—E-NF
ZA=t-H
IEFE
28,870.3

2,660.3

149.9

(in grams)
(JA53t)
For the
year ended
31 March
2018

az
—F-N\F
=A=+-A
LLER
123,411.6

11,450.5

228.2
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part A. Environmental «continued)

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.2 Source
FHEE-BREEN
EEAL2 R
Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
BEREHR ((RERE] 48
For the
year ended
31 March
2019
HE
—E-hE
“A=+-H
HEE
Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources
HEEEAMEEREEER
Scope 1b - Units of fuel
GHG Emissions consumed
from Mobile FIFEI B E R
Combustion Sources
HEIb-KEBHLFY
BEREAH
Diesel 2134 L
C 21347t
Petrol 9,962.3 L
L 9,962.37

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

BE2-HREEFHHA

Unit of Electricity ~ 2,924,734.0 kWh
Consumed 2,924,734.0
FrEE B TRE

For the

year ended

31 March

2018

D
—E-N\F
ZR=+—-ALt
EE

3,658.2 L
3,558.27F

11,625.5 L
11,625.57F

3,196,925.0 KWh
3,196,925.0
TRE

Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period:

RESHEELN _ELREE:
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BERERER )

F—E2 BE#)

Emission Type

3¢ i

Carbon Dioxide
&bk

Carbon Dioxide
—& b

For the

year ended

31 March
2019

HZE
—T-NE
=A=+-H
IEFE

27,565.2

1,879,761.3

1,907,326.5

(in kilograms)
(A F5at)
For the

year ended
31 March
2018

HZE
—ZT-N\F
=A=+-H
LFE

41,448.1

2,018,863.4

2,060,301.5
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Key Performance Indicators (continueq BRENER =

Part A. Environmental (continved) EF—Ho BRE»)

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPl A1.3 Source

REREVESE-BREMNESRALS HR

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2019 2018
HE HE
—FT-NE  —ENF
=A=+-B =A=+-8
IFFE IEFE
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEEREEYEE (LABEET)
Chemical Wastewater 861.000 1,272.000
fEIi57K
Cloths stained with chemicals 3.273 9.000
SR EMmMTEME
Wasted Zinc 101.608 108.810
P& &
Photograph Potions 17.342 190.688
R oK
Isopropy! alcohol (IPA) 4.824 6.822
2R
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 4.700 5.025
REE
Hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
BHERMMEENEEREY (CARTEERIBEELET)
Chemical Wastewater 0.303 0.430
{5k
Cloths stained with chemicals 0.001 0.003
SHREROTRME
Wasted Zinc 0.036 0.037
Photograph Potions 0.006 0.007
R YN
Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) 0.002 0.002
HNlE
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 0.001 0.001
BRaLE
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BREVER =

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—E2 BE#)

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators
- KPI A1.4 Source

BERRVES -BEREREFRA14 HR

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2019 2018

B=E BHE

—F-NAF —T)\F
=A=+—B =ZA=+—H

IEFE IEFE
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEZEREYEE (LABEE)
Paper 503.107 533.036
AR IR
Foam board 33.621 39.993
FIARIR
Synthesized Paper 27.415 34.915
B
Lightbox Film 5.984 7.523
R AEE IR
Canvas 3.092 5.397
i)
Sticker 14.980 40.801
BhAR
Non-hazardous waste produced per tonne of unit produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
BHEMMEENEERREY (AFTE £ HIBEELET)
Paper 0.177 0.180
Aok
Foam board 0.272 0.580
YIRIR
Synthesized Paper 0.474 0.596
B
Lightbox Film 0.094 0.119
R A E R
Canvas 0.454 1.638
A
Sticker 0.348 0.753
AL AR
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Part A. Environmental (continued)

Energy and Water Consumption
- KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2 Source

BRRKEFEE-BREX
ERA21QFRENEFA2.2 R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI e RERRE

FAEEWNIEE o

F—Eo BRE 2

Total Consumption

HERE
Electricity

== Ak
B, A

Water
KEIR
Consumption per unit produced

BENMELENEEER
Electricity

== 4k
412

Water
KER

For the year ended
31 March 2019
BZE

—E-NF
=A=+-H
HFE

2,924,734 kWh
2,924,734 F FL

3,300 cubic metres
3,300 7 K

873.16 kWh per tonne
873.16F I b5 i

0.99 cubic metres per tonne
0.993 77 K G M

2018/195 % eprint EEAR AT

For the year ended
31 March 2018
BE

2\
=A=+-A
LEE

3,196,925 kWh
3,196,925F K B

3,373 cubic metres
3,373 77K

925.15 kWh per tonne
925.15F L MR

0.98 cubic metres per tonne
0.983 /7 K G M
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BREVER =

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—E2 BE#)

Packaging Material Indicators

- KPI A2.5
BEMBHEE - BARENISFA25
Source Total Packaging Material Packaging material
used for Finished Products per tonne of
product produced
HRIR BRmTRAEEMEEE BHMERMEENEEME
(in tonnes) (in tonnes/tonne produced)
(BAREE) ( bAFAEE 2 O WERKET)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
B=E B=E BHE BH=E
—T-NEF —T-)N\F —T-NF —T-N\F
=A=+—8H =A=+—8H —A=+—H —A=+—H
IEFE IEFE IEFE IEFE
Carton 1.40 1.10 0.0005 0.0004
i)
Plastic Box 5.83 6.55 0.0021 0.0022
ZR=
Kraft Paper 6.73 10.19 0.0024 0.0034
BN
Paper Box 27.62 32.87 0.0097 0.0111
a2
Transparent Wrap 4.84 5.05 0.0017 0.0017
FIER
Sealing Tape 0.92 1.72 0.0003 0.0006
BT
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER =
Part B. Social F-HD HE

Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018

BREER-BEENESFBI1 R-ZZB-NF=A=+—-H RZBE-NF=A=1-—

Employment

Total number of employees 333 342
ETHAH

By gender
5 7

Male 207 215
S

Female 126 127
Mt

By age group

N

Below 18 1 0
185 A T

18 t0 25 60 61
18&255%

26 to 35 122 132
262=35)5%

36 to 45 66 63
36E455%

46 to 55 58 69
46ZE555%

56 to 65 26 17
566554

By region
ZEZ D

Hong Kong 273 285
e

PRC 30 33
Gil

Malaysia 30 24
RS

g/ Employment Type
EBEE S

Permanent Staff 311 315
KA#RBIAB

Contract Staff 17 21
AFREER

Par:[—Time Staff 5 6
FRBAB
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social «continuea)

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2

EEEE - BRENIEEB1.2

FERENEBE»
E_EHo HE )

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—NF BE-ZT—N\H§

=ZA=+—-BLEFE ZA=+—HLEE

Employee turnover

EBERKLLR

Aggregate employee turnover rate
aHEERKLE

By gender
7M1 55

Male
B

Female

ey

By age group
BRERD

Below 18
18 AT~

18 to 25
18& 255

26 to 35
26%355%

36 to 45
36%455%

46 to 55
46 E55)5%

56 to 65
56655

By region
HEZS

Hong Kong
0

PRC
R

Malaysia
Bk
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FAEEWNIEE o

F_Eo HE @)

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Health and Safety Indicators
- KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2

RERZZER -BEREREFEB21&

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019

For the Year Ended
31 March 2018

HRgEMIEEB2.2

Fatality number
BT AE

Number of reportable injuries

ATHREIGHE

Number of day lost

ATHRERERE

Development and Training Indicators
- KPI B3.1

BREREIESR - BREREEBS3A

Percentage of employees trained
EIEIEDL

By gender
F3: 3 b0

Male

S

Female

Mt

By employee category
BETHE S

Entry level
API&R

Middle level
F g

Management level
EIRE

BE-Z-h&
=A=+—HLEEE
0

9

124

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019

BE-Z—hF
=A=+—-BHLEE

71.7%

28.3%

86.9%

12.0%

1.1%

BE-Z—N\&F
Z—A=+—HLEE
0

17

94.5

For the Year Ended
31 March 2018
BE-Z—-N\#F

ZA=+—-HLEE

72.8%

27.2%

79.4%

18.3%

2.3%
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social «continuea)

Development and Training Indicators
- KPI B3.2

BRERBIESR -BERERIEFEBS.2

Total number of hours of internal
training received by employees

B T RT3 oy 8B5S 69 48 B Y

Average hours of training per employee

BEE T FHRIEH

Average hours of training per
employee by gender
B F 5 B8 T F1515 50 2

Male
B
Female

it

Average hours of training per
employee by employment category

HEREF 7 & 168 T -F 155 5 #F 2

Entry level
Nk

Middle level
HE

Management level
IR E
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BRENIEE »
F-HD HE@)

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
BE-ZE—NF BE-_Z—N\F

=RA=1+t—BLEE =R=t—HLFE

71.50 175.50
1.27 1.47
2.27 1.50
1.60 1.47
1.27 1.50
1.00 1.50
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FAEEWNIEE o

F_Eo HE @)

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Supply Chain Management Indicators
- KPI B5.1

HEREEER - BEREARIEEBSA

Supplier management

HEHEE

Total number of suppliers

HIER R

By region
HEZS

Hong Kong
e
PRC
[

Taiwan

N3
=01

Malaysia
Bk R

Product Responsibility Indicators
- KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

EmBEAER-BRAXEEBCAFHREN
£1£B6.2

Total No. of Products sold or shipped
EERCEXERAE

Total number of products subject to
recalls for safety and health reason

HZ2RREFRHACENERER

Total number of complaints received
SRR FAEHY

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019
BE-Z—NF

ZA=+—-BLEE

169

130

28

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019

BE=-Z—hF
=A=+—HLEEE
722,201

0

2
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For the Year Ended
31 March 2018
BE-_Z—N\#§

ZA=+—BLEE

154

118

27

For the Year Ended
31 March 2018

BE-Z2-/N\F
=ZA=+—HLEE
737,176

0

7
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BREVER =

Part B. Social (continued) F-HD Lt m

Community Investment Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B8.2 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

BE-2-h&F BE-—ZE2—N\#§
HEREEE-ARENIEEBS.2 =A=+—HLEHEE =A=+—HLEHFE

Resources contributed to education, 172,725.75 96,359.00
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport (Amount in HK$)

HHYE REHE LHER -BE b
BEEMNER (REBLFE)

Corporate charitable activities 21 8
Hours spent on charitable activities

TEEETH
REREARE

Employee volunteering 71 18
Number of employee volunteer

EBILREES
ETIEREEAH
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BRI e RERRE

T HERERBERLR

N i

Related Section

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference R
3
A. Environmental
ABRE
A1. Emissions
A1.BERY

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FABRIAZEREBER SRS EERBEEEEDY
EEENBRMETHRETABERTZENEBERIERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

FA B 4B RUR IR A1 A BE IR R 1 S AR BE BRI BUE

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREBESAMAERBEYRE (NEAE) X (NER)EER
(INABEEEN SHEKBHETE) °

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).)
BREVIESEAMIMELEEETEEYRAE (UEE) R (NER)BE

(MAGEEBA BERETE) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREMESAMAMESEZEZYRAE (UBEAE) R (MER)BE

(WANBESBN BERMTE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

BB 4B RUR IR AL ST IUR B BER B S i S PR 1S AR ©

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

FAREMIERAM HILREEERBETREENN L RIEELEN
H e R PTG AR

Environmental — Overview,
Compliance and Grievance,
Emissions

RE-HME &R BFK
e

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
BREMER-F %D RKE

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
BRESIEIE-—F—Hn RIE

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
FRENES - F 89 RE

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
FREDETE - F &9 RE

Environmental — Overview,
Emissions

RE-BE HRY

Environmental — Total Hazardous
Wastes and Non-Hazardous
Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions

RE-BEBREVLEZTEEY
#8 UA SO A HE U BNE Y
B R
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ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continueq RE - #H8RkERHREESIR

BZ s

A2. Use of Resources

A2.5 R

Related Section
HERERS

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BERERER (BT K REA R B BUR

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type. (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

MRESIEEARERE SN ERE R, SEEER (1S f3h)
HREE (UVTETRARFE) RBE (NMAGEEEM  BRRKRMEHE) °

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BRE BRI EA2RFAKEREE (WABEESEN BERMTE)

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
RS AE IR IR A2 B L RE R (E B st 8 M PTG R -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

A 248 R IR A2 A% I SKEGE A /KR £ AT B (2] F 28 - DA RRIR T K B es
FTEIRFREARR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and,
if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

FRBEBIEFEASR K mATAEEMENEE (UE:E) R (2@ER)
BEEEMIEE-
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Environmental —
Use of Resources

RE-EREH

Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental
BREMER-F %0 RE

Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental
BARESIEE—F—Hn RE

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water
and Raw Materials

RE-HE HEERSER
K BE R R R

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water
and Raw Materials

RE-HE HMEERAER
K Be R R

Environmental — Packaging
materials used for finished
products, Key Performance
Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BIR-HKmAABREME—
BRERIEE-F -85
R

\ife
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ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continueq RE HERERBEEIIR
Z

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources Related Section

AR RARER HEEH

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources. Usage of Electricity/Water

BIEBITAHRBERRABEREXNERNTZENBUR - and Raw Materials

RE-H& HEEHAER
IKEE KR R K

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources and the actions taken Usage of Electricity/Water
to manage them. and Raw Materials

FRARIEFEASIHIREEEZHHRRERRAERNEATE R RE-E&E HEEHAER
ERBERERZENTH- K e KR EL

B. Social Related Section

B.iE HEEEH

B1. Employment

B1.j2 &

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Workplace,
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and The Group’s Team Profile
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal e —-TEGM RSB EK
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. LM

BRAZFMNERE RERET TERE RY FEHS Zit-
REGAREMFEREBNOERRRETHETABERTEN

MAERRERNER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Key Performance Indicators —
geographical region. Part B. Social

B AR IEBI AR RIBEE  FRAHN R ES DNEE A - MREMEE-F _Ho e

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and Key Performance Indicators —
geographical region. Part B. Social
BEAERIEEBI.2R MR FiER R EIDEB R KL X BAREIEE-F_H0 - 1HE
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ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (coniinued RE HERERBEEIIR

BZ s

B2. Health and Safety

B2.R@ERZZ

Related Section

] e

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe

working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BFREHZETERAMMRERBELBEEBENRRR
ETHETABEAZENEREARRRIINER

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.
FARAESIEEB2 1A TEMEMB TR A KL X

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
FREDIEEB2 2R TBIBARTER S

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
how they are implemented and monitored.
SR AE BB IR B2 S M T ER AV B R 2 R B 2 2 Fa b - DA BB 1T X

ERITA

B3. Development and training

B3.2% & KR 3E 3

Social — Protecting Health
and Safety
rE-RERREZ SR

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
ARESEE-F Mo e

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
BARERESE-F_Ho - HE

Social — Protecting Health
and Safety
re-RERERZR

Related Section

mEES

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRARTEREET TEBRENANZ M RENER Ml iFIES -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BRERIEEBI IR REERS (NEREERE FREEES)

EoXIlEER L -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

PR A RUEIEBI 2RI BB A D BREE TXZ N F RS-
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Social — Development and
Training
e — R REI

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
AREVEE-F_H5:-1HE

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
BRENETE - F 8o Hg
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ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continueq RE 8RR ERBEEIR
B x
B4. Labour standards Related Section
B4.%5 T %8| HEEEH
Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Zero Tolerance
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child HE-TEAR

and forced labour.

FRAMLEZETHRHE THBRRRETHETABEAZENAREZR

EHREIE R
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Social — Zero Tolerance
avoid child and forced labour. HE-ZRR

P AERURIEBA R RIS B BIM B e AR 2 B T o485 T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Social — Zero Tolerance,
when discovered. Complaints

BB RUEIRBA M E R R E RSN FIRE BB RAMRIRE TR - HE-—ZRR KF

B5. Supply chain management Related Section
B5. (L E S EE HEEH
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Aiming for More Suppliers
EIRHE SR IRIE At ' R R BUR Complying with Our Code
of Conduct
EESTEZHHERETFTRME
TRt R
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Key Performance Indicators
BB AR EBS 1R R B SR HEEHEE - - Part B. Social
BB E RE R — > A
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Social — Aiming for More
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, Suppliers Complying with
how they are implemented and monitored. Our Code of Conduct
RS REIEBs 2t A A B ER BN MEARTEAELIN HE-5ESEZHNHERS
HEBMEE ULRBBEHNRITRERT A BrHANTASA
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BRE HERER
BZ s

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continueq HEESI R

B6. Product responsibility

Related Section

B6.Em=E1E

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and method of redress.

BERAMREEMMBRBNREREREZ 2 BEE SREMLEEEN LRI

B R M ETHETABEAZENARER LA DIHER

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

AR ENIEIEBC.1IEEHEE
Baotte

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

B8 A8 RUIR 1R BO 2R RN E fn S RIS OISR BB A B H T 0% -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

BAR A N5 1586 S i B i i N (R [R AI AR A B RO 1B I -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

BRENIE SR AR EERTEBENEREKRER -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

B 5248 A5 1586 .5 iUE B B B BHRIE RALBBUR - ARMEERITR
BERTE
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REMAHE TR 2 REFIERMARKD

HEEH

Social — Product Responsibility
HEe-EmBE

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
BAREMER - %o 1

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
BAREZEE-F_Ho:-1He

Social — Product Responsibility
HEe-EmBE
Social — Product Responsibility
HEe-EmEE

Social - Privacy Matters
He-fLEBEE
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ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continveq) RIE
=

B7. Anti-corruption

B7.RE5

BRI e RERRE

Related Section

HEEH

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

ERBR DR FFRARBABRERETHETAGEAZEN
MHEEERROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
BARAREEBT IR BEPAHBETANHEEERDIEERN
BSRARMTNEE MR ER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

BB B RURIRBT 2t S e R B AR AR RIT RER A

B8. Community investment

Social — Anti-corruption
HE-RES

Social — Anti-corruption
HEe-RES

Social — Whistle-blowing Policy,
Communication Channel,
Customer Service Department

HE—-RRPEK BEES-
= PR 7% &6 P

Related Section

B8.# EBRE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure
that its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BN R2ERTHRETALENELREFTENBRE XD
EEEHEBENAABE-

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BRERIEIEBS A I ERERE (HE - REME 88T R @K Yt

BE) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

FARENIEEB2EF T HFEMBAER (M EHKFRE) °

HEEH

Social — Cultural Activities,
Community Contribution

g —-XbE® 1R E R

Social — Community Contribution

HE—XLEE R E R

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
FHRENES-F 89 g
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE 2BEE

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R#B &), aged 56, is the Chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the founder of
the Group and has participated in the management of the Group
since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. She is primarily
responsible for the overall management, development and planning
of the Group and has over 20 years of experience in the printing
industry.

Mr. Lam Shing Kai (M {£) , aged 46, is an executive Director.
He joined the Group in 2008. He is a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=), aged 54, is a non-executive
Director. He joined the Group in 2005. He has over 10 years of
experience in corporate management. Mr. Chong was awarded a
diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing for
fulfiling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the diploma
examination held in June 1991.

He also obtained a certificate in marketing from Vocational
Training Council in June 1989 and a higher certificate in electronic
engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1987.

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (R#8), aged 47, is a non-executive
Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM Leung has over 10
years of experience in the marketing field.

Mr. Deng Xiaen (B8E &) , aged 42, is a non-executive Director.
He joined the Group in 2014. He holds a postgraduate degree
of master in law awarded by Fudan University. He served in the
legal affair department of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Shantou branch from 1999 to 2002. He was the practicing lawyer
in the legal aid centre of Jinyuan District Shantou City from 2002 to
20083. He was the practicing lawyer and deputy chief of Guangdong
Zhongda Lawyer Office from 2003 to 2010. He is currently the vice
president of Tung Fung Investment Group Holdings Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GE#REL) , aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 August 2016. He is also
the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each
of the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Poon has over 30 years of experience in printing. He has served
several large-scale companies in printing solutions industry.

Mr. Fu Chung (&) , aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Fu
has over 25 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (FJ &), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2016. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Ma
had obtained a bachelor’s degree in business (accountancy) from
Queensland University of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Ma is currently the company secretary of China Flavors and
Fragrances Company Limited (“China Flavors and Fragrances”), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Before working with China Flavors and Fragrances in September
2005, Mr. Ma has over 20 years of accounting related experience
from accounting firms and international companies.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREREBE

Senior Management

Mr. Mok Chun Wa (E &%) | aged 33, is the Company Secretary
and chief financial officer. Mr. Mok joined the Group in 2012.
Mr. Mok has over 9 years of experience in accounting, audit and
corporate finance and is responsible for the financial planning,
management, internal control and company secretarial matters
of the Group. He had obtained a bachelor’s degree in business
(accountancy) from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2010, and now
he is a student of master of corporate governance programme in
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Mok is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan Wai Keung (BR{£3&) , aged 51, is the general manager.
Mr. Chan joined the Group in December 2011. Mr. Chan is primarily
responsible for formulating the corporate strategies and planning
the business development of the Group. Mr. Chan has over 10
years of experience in the printing industry. Mr. Chan served as a
sales manager in Wilson Printing Equipment Limited from August
2001 to July 2009.

Mr. Tsui Pak Wai (#R#%&) , aged 51, is the chief administrative
officer. He joined the Group in 2006. Mr. Tsui is primarily responsible
for the internal control, formulating the corporate policy and
workflow, monitoring the daily operation of the human resources
department and administrative department and participating in
brand building activities of the Group. Mr. Tsui has over 10 years
of experience in the corporate administration and management.
He has been a member of the Industry & Technology Committee
of Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce since July 2015, a
member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute since
January 2015. Mr. Tsui was awarded the graduate executive
diploma in Finance and Corporate Accounting from the University
of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education
in March 2016 and the graduate executive diploma in PRC
corporate governance from the University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education in November 2014 and
bachelor of arts from Fu Jen Catholic University in June 1997.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (¥ %% ) , aged 56, is the information
technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in December
2004. Mr. Cheang has over 10 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries, to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are discussed under
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. Such discussion forms an integrate part
of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 37 to 79
of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

.

5

SHRE

Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Potential non-compliance with the Occupational Safety &
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “OSHO”) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “ECO”)

Due to the nature of the business operations, production workers
are involved in the use of manufacturing facilities and may get
injured at work easily. However, the Group may be penalized or
asked for claims in any of the following cases:

(1

84

If the Group fails to provide and maintain a safe working
environment and the employee suffers from a workplace
accident, the Group will be liable on conviction to a fine of
HK$200,000 and to imprisonment for 6 months. (s6 of the
OSHO)

If the Group purchases a policy of insurance less than the
applicable amount, the Group will be liable on conviction
upon indictment to a fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to
imprisonment for 2 years; and on summary conviction to a
fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to imprisonment for 1 year,
according to the ECO. (s40 of the ECO)

In the case of a workplace accident, the Group would be
subject to, but not limited to, the employees’ compensation
claims, the common law personal injury claims and the lawsuit
brought by the employees.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response BB FE ¥

The Group has established an internal health and safety policy
which provides guidelines on work safety for the employees (e.g.
workplace environment and machine operations).

The Group has also set up a Safety Committee which conducts a
quarterly review on the existing controls on the occupational safety
of workplace and makes recommendations, if applicable. In general,
the improvement actions will be taken shortly. We also analyse the
reported incidents of employee’s work injury and provides training
sessions to the respective workers regarding the occupation safety
and health.

In addition, the safety protection materials (e.g. ear plugs for ear
protection) have been provided by us for the production workers,
according to the advice from the Labour Department of Hong Kong.

During the year, no work injuries have been recorded.
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Risk Description T B 4 2t

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Currently, even though the Group operates principally in Hong
Kong which its business transactions are primarily denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), the Group is expanding its business
to overseas markets (e.g. Malaysia) and China (‘PRC”) at the same
time. As such, the Group’s business transactions (e.g. receipts for
provision of services, operating fund transfer) are denominated in
foreign currencies e.g. the United States Dollars (‘USD”), Malaysian
Ringgit (“MYR”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

In addition, the IT and Accounting supporting services centre
is located in PRC. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from the exposure of RMB against HKD.

In this respect, the volatility of the exchange rates between
foreign currencies and HKD (the Group’s functional currency) may
create substantial foreign exchange risk due to the fluctuations of
exchange rates of foreign currencies.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response BB E ¥

The financial department keeps close monitoring of the fluctuations
of foreign currencies.

Under the accounting matching principle, the Group adopted
natural hedge to mitigate the foreign exchange risk, for example,
settling payments denominated in MYR by the revenue earned in
MYR, while settling payments denominated in RMB through RMB
bank accounts and cash maintained by the Group.
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Risk Description B0 B 4

Increase in labour cost

According to the statistics reported by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the average wage of an employee in the
manufacturing sector in China had increased from RMB71,130 p.a.
in 2016 to RMB77,649 p.a. in 2017. Therefore, the increase in
labour cost may indirectly upsurge the subcontracting cost of
the Group since the call centre service and over 50% printing
production have been outsourced to the enterprises in China.

At Hong Kong side, labour cost increases when more headcount is
needed for the expanding business and giving high pay to attract
competent youngsters who are generally less willing to enter into
the manufacturing/production/printing industries.

As a result, the potential risk of an increase in labour cost in both
China and Hong Kong regions cannot be minimized.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response BB FE ¥

Management monitors the labour cost of the Group regularly and
also forecasts that the rise in labour cost can be compensated by
the depreciation of RMB and the automated production in both
Hong Kong production base and the subcontracted factory.

With the inception of the advanced printing technologies, the
Group’s manufacturing process has already highly automated. The
Group has also recruited over 25 IT talents to ensure its printing
technology can be developed in an ongoing manner.

Therefore, the Group considers the risk of labour shortage and rising
costs do not have a significant impact on its normal operations.
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Risk Description 30 B 35

Reduction of market demand

Other than traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising and
telemarketing, the Web becomes a must-use daily medium today.

Various inexpensive advertising media have grown rapidly, including
pay-per-click advertising; online banner advertising that entails
the display of a graphical advertising unit, etc., and social media
advertising such as Youtube, Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn that are
the other kind of media to promote customer relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent years
and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales performance.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market demand
for business communication materials such as brochures, rack
cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional functions is
still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition to
traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.
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Business Review (continueq)

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 37 to 79 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 125 to 126.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK1.6
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2019 to be
payable to the shareholders on Thursday, 5 September 2019 whose
names appear on the register of members on Friday, 23 August
2019.

Donations

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group made
HK$172,726 charitable and other donations (2018: HK$96,359).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2019 annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) will
be held on Friday, 16 August 2019.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Monday, 12 August 2019 to
Friday, 16 August 2019, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer of shares
accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9 August 2019.

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 22 August 2019 to Friday, 23 August 2019,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 August
2019.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the
year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 25 to the financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”).
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2019.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) (the “Companies Law”) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$149,607,000, of which HK$8,800,000
dividend has been proposed for the year. Under the Companies
Law, the share premium account of the Company of approximately
HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2019 is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend, if any, is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Board of the
Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with
section 391(1) (a) of the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 240.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Lam Shing Kai

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Deng Xiaen

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Lam Shing Kai and Mr.
Ma Siu Kit shall retire by rotation at the AGM. Mr. Ma Siu Kit, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election at the AGM. However, Mr. Lam
Shing Kai confirmed that he will not offer himself for re-election at
the AGM as he would like to spend more time pursuing his own
business.

Mr. Deng Xiaen elected to retire at the AGM pursuant to article
108(b) of the Articles as he would like to devote more time on his
own business.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares

As at 31 March 2019, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation

() The Company
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Long position/ ordinary shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest short position shares held in the Company
BE REARER
Exps Eatg e/ KR EERYA BAE DL
Mr. She Siu Kee William  Beneficial owner Long position 1,584,000 0.29%
RIBELE BB A HE
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 7)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
REHEEER (M) HE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 7)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HEHELE REHEE R (M) HE
Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
fliBiE= (Mi32) FE
Mr. Lam Shing Kai Interest of controlled corporation (Note 7) Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
MAESRE REHEEER (M) FE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 7) Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in

Shares (Continued) ﬁ (4#&)
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying RAQTRHEBEEZER M HEE R
Shares and Debentures of the Company or its HREFNEZRXE 2

associated corporation (continuead)

() The Company (Continued) (i)

Notes: Wit -

1.

313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held as
t0 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu Kee
William (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam Shing
Kai (“Mr. Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (“Mr. WM Leung”) and Mr. Leung
Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted Shareholders”)
respectively. Pursuant to a deed of confirmation dated 2 July 2013 and
entered into by them confirming the existence of their acting in concert
arrangement, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests in
the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act
in accordance with joint instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.
Hence, each of the Concerted Shareholders is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

eprint Limited# A313,125,0008% i% {5 °
eprint Limited AR BELE ([REE])
HeEis (THEE]) MEELE
(THREHE])  REFEAEE(TREFHE
ENRR-BxRE(NR-BEE]D (&
BI—BITERER]) 5 I F21.62%
21.62% 21.62% * 21.62% K% 13.52%1&
X BRERARSEIZAPA-_T—=
FHtAZBIBREBRAGFTEZ -
TR fuEE Has Mas R
BALERZ-BEEESEREHRRA
FHBEESERARBIMER Bt
eprint Limited{& ¥ 18 — ST B AR R
FERITE AL - IRIBFESH RHEEEG
F—BATE R R A Reprint Limited
i BEmMBERDPER#ER -

HAEBRGARERBERLIHEN
712,0008% B 17 R A 4 2 o

2. Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his 2.
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei.
(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (i)

Name of Director

Number of
ordinary shares
held in

the Associated

Nature of interest Corporation

BFAEMEBEE
EEnE EEME EERHE
Mr. She Beneficial owner 2,162
REHE EmEAA
Mr. Chong Beneficial owner 2,162
A EmEAA
Mr. Lam Beneficial owner 2,162
Mot EmEAA
Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner 2,162
RERATE EnEAA
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continuea)

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (continuead)

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as at 31 March
2019 as recorded in the register to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of the
then shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The Scheme
is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 November
2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may have made to the Group.
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to
grant an option to subscribe of new shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) in aggregate not exceeding 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time.
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Interests in Share Options (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continuead)

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(1

96

The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme(s) of
any member of the Group must not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares as at the listing date of the Company (i.e. 3 December
2013) (the “Listing Date”) (which was 50,000,000 Shares)
unless approval of the shareholders of the Company has been
obtained, and which must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. As at the date of this
report, the total number of Shares available for issue under
the Scheme is 50,000,000 Shares, which represents 9.09% of
the issued Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares as at the date
of grant.

The subscription price for the Shares under the options to
be granted under the Scheme will be a price determined by
the Board at the time of grant of the options, and will be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a
Share.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continuea)

(4) An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified
by the Board to each Eligible Participant (as defined in the
Prospectus) who accepts the grant of any options, which
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
(subject to acceptance) of the option.

(6) HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

(6) The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

No share option under the Scheme has been granted by the
Company since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons’
Interests in Shares

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq)

Interests or short positions in shares and underlying

shares of the Company

eprint Limited (Note 7)
eprint Limited (#77£1)

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 2)
BSRzt (Hi22)

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 3)
¥Rzt (H:23)

Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 4)
mdEZ L (Hi24)

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 5)
BB Az L (#:25)

Mr. Huang Xiaopeng (Note 6)
EBhlE T & (Mit6)

Mr. Huang Xiaojia (Note 6)
BhRExE (Mit6)

Mr. Huang Bingwen (Note 6)
BIRE A (H:t6)

Hong Kong Tung Fung
Investment Company
Limited (Note 6)

BEERRAREERAA

(Hizt6)

Nature of interest

BEME

Beneficial owner

ExBAA

Interest of spouse

LB m
Beneficial owner
EnBEAA
Interest of spouse

ALBEas

Interest of spouse

ALBEas

Interest of spouse

ALBEas

Interest of controlled corporation
REHEE#ES

Interest of controlled corporation
REHEE#ES

Interest of controlled corporation
REHEE#ES

Interest of controlled corporation

REHEE# S
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Number of
ordinary shares/
Long position/ underlying
short position shares held
FEEERHE
Be/ % /HBERBEA
Long position 313,125,000
)
Long position 314,709,000
)
Long position 712,000
)
Long position 313,125,000
)
Long position 313,125,000
)
Long position 313,125,000
)
Long position 61,875,000
)
Long position 61,875,000
)
Long position 61,875,000
)
Long position 61,875,000

e

g@ﬂﬂﬁﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ@%féﬁiiﬁé

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

the Company
RAERQ R FRE
NEDL

56.93%

57.22%

0.13%

56.93%

56.93%

56.93%

11.25%

11.25%

11.25%

11.25%
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Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons’ FERRNEM AT ZRMOE
Interests in Shares (continued) (47

Interests or short positions in shares and underlying ZAAFROEEERODNVEZIAE
shares of the Company (continued) (#)

Number of Approximate
ordinary shares/ percentage of
Long position/ underlying shareholding in

Nature of interest short position shares held the Company
FBEERHEE RAARERE
BRtE #E/ % /HBERHEA WEI

Shantou Dongfeng Interest of controlled corporation Long position 61,875,000 11.25%
Printing Co., Ltd.
(“Shantou Dongfeng”)

(Note 6)
WERRDRBROERAR ZEGEEER HE
(DLSERRL) (Hfet6)
Hong Kong Luck Beneficial owner Long position 61,875,000 11.25%
Investment Company
Limited (Note 6)
ERRHIREERDA ERBEA HE
(Hiizte6)
Mr. YP Leung Interest of controlled corporation Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
(Note 7)
R—lgk 4 Ryt B ER (f57) HE
Notes: B 5 -
1. eprint Limited is directly interested in approximately 56.93% in the Company. 1. eprint Limited & # % A 7K 2 T 4756.93% 1 7 ©
2. Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee 2. EERRTAREENREB - REZSFKHE
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is B ESRLTEREBNKEERBEEREZ
interested. 2R E RMD A ER -
3. Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Feiis takento 3. ERLZTBHEAENRB-BEESFRBER
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested. B ERZELTHERAERNEEEMEEERZAE
g EROPHEAER
4, Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping 4. LS LETAMEENEE - BEESREE
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lam is B gL+ R BN MREEREE R
interested. ZHEREE RMDFPHEEER -
5. Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau 5, ARBZTARERHEENRB - BREZHR
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which HEGY AR &AL THE AN REREER
Mr. WM Leung is interested. HEERZBRHERNDPHEER -
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq)

Interests or short positions in shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

6. These 61,875,000 Shares are held by Hong Kong Luck Investment Company
Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shantou Dongfeng, an A share
company listed on the main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Shantou
Dongfeng is 54.40% held by Hong Kong Tung Fung Investment Company
Limited and 1.11% held by Mr. Huang Xiaojia. Hong Kong Tung Fung
Investment Company Limited is owned as to 34% by Mr. Huang Xiaopeng,
33% by Mr. Huang Xiaojia and 33% by Mr. Huang Bingwen. Under the SFO,
each of Shantou Dongfeng, Hong Kong Tung Fung Investment Company
Limited, Mr. Huang Xiaopeng, Mr. Huang Xiaojia and Mr. Huang Bingwen is
taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Hong Kong
Luck Investment Company Limited is interested.

7. These 313,125,000 shares are held through eprint Limited, a company
beneficially owned as to 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
other persons who have interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of Mr. She and Mr. Lam, executive Directors, has entered into
a service agreement dated 18 November 2016 with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 3 December 2016. Each
of the executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus, the
amount of which will be determined by reference to the comments
of the Remuneration Committee.
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Directors’ Service Contracts continved)

Mr. Deng Xiaen has signed a letter of appointment as a
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 15 June 2018
for a term of three years commencing from 1 December 2017.
Each of the other non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment dated 13 November 2016 issued by the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 3 December 2016.

Mr. Poon Chun Wai has signed a letter of appointment as an
independent non-executive Director issued by the Company
on 15 August 2016 for a term of three years commencing from
15 August 2016. Mr. Poon Chun Wai has signed a re-newed letter
of appointment issued by the Company on 24 June 2019 for a
further term of three years commencing from 15 August 2019.

Mr. Fu Chung has signed a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 8 March 2017
for a term of three years commencing from 8 March 2017.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit has signed a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 30 December
2016 for a term of three years commencing from 30 December
2016.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 34
to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or
at any time during the year.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.

Connected Transactions

The Group has the following connected transactions during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Connected Persons

102

CTP Limited (“CTP”)

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an
independent third party, respectively.

Promise Properties Limited (REEBEWEER A T)
(“Promise Properties”)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.

VVV Limited (“VVV”)

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by Mr.
WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

Profit More Rich Limited (2 E Z B PFR 2 &) (“Profit
More”)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is wholly owned by CTP.
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1. CTP Limited ([CTP])
CTPEENREMERLER BLR%E
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13.52% K 21.62% A% #E o
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Connected Persons (continued)

5.

King Profit International Limited (ZRIBEEER A7)
(“King Profit”)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
70% by VWV and 30% by Mr. Yip Chi Man.

Wilson Printing Equipment Limited ( B S ENRI:RE B R
A F) (“Wilson Printing”)

Wilson Printing is principally engaged in the business of
trading of printing equipment and printing materials, and is
beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Lam Shing Tai (“Mr.
Lam ST”), the brother of Mr. Lam, one of the Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors.

Wilson (Hong Kong) Limited (B2 (F#8) AR A7)
(“Wilson HK”)

Wilson (HK) is principally engaged in the business of trading
of printing machineries and spare parts, and is beneficially
owned as to 65% by Mr. Lam ST.

(1) Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors and
(2) Mr. YP Leung are substantial shareholders of the Company,
and they are Controlling Shareholders. The above companies are
associates of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP
Leung, and hence they are considered as connected persons of the
Company under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules.

8.

Sun Cheong Paper Development Limited ( #7 & 4% % %
REMR23) (“Sun Cheong”)

Sun Cheong is principally engaged in the supply and sales
of paper and is owned as to approximately 50% by Mr. Li
Cham Kuen, father of Mr. Li Jian Hua (“Mr. JH Li"). Mr. JH Li
is a director of e-banner Limited (“e-banner”), a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, Sun Cheong is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The following connected transactions constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

1. Tenancy agreements

Background

(@

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 14 December 2015, nineteen tenancy agreements
were entered into between CTP, as landlord, and Lucky
Gainer Limited (“Lucky Gainer”), Promise Network
Printing Limited (“Promise Network” and e-banner as
tenants, under which CTP agreed to lease a number
of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
to Lucky Gainer, Promise Network and e-banner,
with a total saleable area of 29,217 square feet for
use as offices, workshops, stores and car parks. The
monthly rentals payable to CTP for the three years
ended 31 March 2019 are approximately HK$607,800,
HK$668,600 and HK$734,000 respectively (exclusive of
government rent, management fees and other utilities
outgoings which are payable by the relevant tenant).
The aggregate rentals paid to CTP for the year ended
31 March 2019 was approximately HK$5,271,600.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)

1.

Tenancy agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(b)

Tenancy agreements relating to Promise Properties

On 14 December 2015, five tenancy agreements were
entered into between Promise Properties, as landlord,
and Lucky Gainer, as tenant, under which Promise
Properties agreed to lease a number of properties
located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer
with a total saleable area of 8,280 square feet for use
as workshops. The monthly rentals payable to Promise
Properties for the three years ended 31 March 2019
are approximately HK$137,800, HK$151,400 and
HK$167,300 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to
Promise Properties for the year ended 31 March 2019
was approximately HK$1,855,200.

Tenancy agreements relating to VW

On 14 December 2015, six tenancy agreements were
entered into between VVV, as landlord, Lucky Gainer
and Promise Network, as tenants, under which VVV
agreed to lease a number of properties located in
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer for use
as workshops and a car park and one property in Chai
Wan to Promise Network for use as a store, with a total
saleable area of 11,865 square feet. The monthly rentals
payable to VVV for the three years ended 31 March
2019 are approximately HK$233,600, HK$258,100 and
HK$285,200 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the relevant tenant). The aggregate rentals
paid to VVV for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$1,965,200.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

1. Tenancy agreements (Continued)
Background (Continued)
(d) Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 14 December 2015, a tenancy agreement was
entered into between Profit More, as landlord, and Lucky
Gainer, as tenant, under which Profit More agreed to
lease a property located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
to Lucky Gainer with a saleable area of 2,895 square feet
for use as a workshop. The monthly rentals payable to
Profit More for the three years ended 31 March 2019 are
approximately HK$50,000, HK$55,000 and HK$60,000
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management
fees and other utilities outgoings which are payable by
the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Profit More
for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$720,000.

(e) Tenancy agreement relating to King Profit

On 14 December 2015, a tenancy agreement entered
into between King Profit, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
and Promise Network, as tenants, under which King
Profit agreed to lease a property and a car park located
in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to the tenants with a
total saleable area of 1,820 square feet for use as a
workshop and car park. The monthly rentals payable to
King Profit for the three years ending 31 March 2019 are
approximately HK$33,000, HK$36,600 and HK$40,500
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management
fees and other utilities outgoings which are payable by
the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to King Profit
for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$486,600.

(collectively, the “Tenancy Agreements”).

The annual caps for the leases under the Tenancy Agreements
for the year ended 31 March 2019 is HK$15,444,000. The
actual rental paid under the Tenancy Agreements for the year
ended 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$10,298,000.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)
2. Master Supply Agreements 2. HBHEEHSE
Background =R
(@) On 14 December 2015, Wilson Printing and Wilson @ RZTE—RAF+ZA+TWIHE'H

HK and the Company entered into a master supply
agreement (the “Master Supply Agreement”) for a term
of three years commenced from 1 April 2016 and ending
on 31 March 2019, pursuant to which Wilson Printing
and Wilson HK agreed to supply the ink products,
zinc printing plates, printing solutions, consumables of
printing machines and printing machine spare parts (the
“Products”) and provide the provision of printing machine
maintenance services (the “Services”) to the Group for
production and operation of the printing business of the
Group. Pursuant to the Master Supply Agreement, the
price of the Products and the Services shall be based
on the prevailing market prices of similar products
or services; or the prices agreed between the Group
and the Sellers from time to time after arm’s length
negotiation and are comparable to market prices of
similar products and services.

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the
Group for the supply of the Products and the Services
under the Master Supply Agreement for the year ended
31 March 2019 is HK$20,204,000. The actual fees
paid/payable by the Group under the Master Supply
Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
HK$12,832,500.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

2.

Master Supply Agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(b)

On 15 June 2018, Promise Network and Sun Cheong
entered into a master supply agreement (the “2018
Master Supply Agreement”) for a term of three years
commenced from 1 April 2018 and ending on 31 March
2021, pursuant to the 2018 Master Supply Agreement,
Sun Cheong agreed to supply and Promise Network
agreed to purchase various types of paper as set out
in the 2018 Master Supply Agreement (the “Products”).
The purchase price of the Products shall be determined
based on:

()  the latest selling price of similar products from
other independent third parties; and

(i) the prices to be agreed between Promise Network
and Sun Cheong from time to time after arm’s
length negotiation and are comparable to market
prices of similar products as set out in (a) above.

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the
Group for the purchase of the Products under the 2018
Master Supply Agreement for the year ended 31 March
2019 is HK$20,400,000. The actual fees paid/payable
by the Group under the 2018 Master Supply Agreement
for the year ended 31 March 2019 was HK$19,741,700.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. have been carried out in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Provision of Loan

On 27 September 2018, Promise Network as lender entered into
the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Sun Cheong as
borrower, pursuant to which Promise Network agreed to provide
the loan in the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to Sun Cheong
for a period of one year commencing from 27 September 2018 at
an interest rate of 10% per annum.

The provision of loan under the Loan Agreement constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempted from circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosures
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Fully-exempt continuing connected transactions

Tenancy Agreement

On 30 August 2016, a tenancy agreement (the “Agreement”) was
entered into between CTP, as landlord, and AppOne Esolution
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, under which CTP
agreed to lease a property located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
to AppOne Esolution Limited for a term of 31 months commenced
from 1 September 2016 and ended on 31 March 2019. Pursuant
to the Agreement, the monthly rentals payable to CTP for the 7
months ended 31 March 2017, and for two years ended 31 March
2019 are approximately HK$27,000, HK$29,700 and HK$32,600
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management fees and
other utilities outgoings which are payable by the tenant). The
aggregate rentals paid to CTP for the year ended 31 March 2019
was nil.

The transaction under the Agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction of the Company but was fully exempted from
notification, announcement, circular and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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2016 Printing Services Agreement

Reference are made to the announcement of the Company
dated 14 December 2015 and the circular of the Company dated
1 February 2016 in relation to, among others, a printing services
agreement (the “2016 Printing Services Agreement”) entered into
between Promise Network, and Dongguan Runxing Chengpin
Printing Company Limited (“Runxing”) (currently known as Tomato
Printing Technology (Dongguan) Limited) on 14 December 2015.
Pursuant to the 2016 Printing Services Agreement, Runxing agreed
to provide certain printing services to Promise Network for a term of
three years commenced from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019. The
Company was informed by Mr. Lam ST in 2015 that he has entered
into an agreement to acquire the entire interest of Runxing. In the
event of completion of such acquisition, Runxing would become
a connected person of the Company and hence, the transaction
contemplated under the 2016 Printing Services Agreement would
constitute continuing transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As at 31 March 2019, the aforesaid
acquisition has not been completed. As such, the transaction
under the 2016 Printing Services Agreement did not constitute any
continuing connected transaction of the Company.

Save for the above and those related party transactions as set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no
connected transactions carried out during the year ended 31 March
2019.

The Directors (including the independent executive Directors)
believe that the related party transactions set out in the Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements were carried out in the
ordinary course of business of the Company and were on normal
commercial terms.

Other than the aforementioned continuing connected transactions,
connected transaction, the related party transactions disclosed
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements are either
exempted connected continuing transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions which are in compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 13 November 2013
(the “NCU”), pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of the
members of the Group) that, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the shares of the Company remain so listed on the
Stock Exchange and the Controlling Shareholders are individually
or collectively with any of his/its associates interested directly or
indirectly in not less than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital
of our Company (the “Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their
respective associates shall not, () directly or indirectly engage in,
participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services
to or otherwise be involved in any business (whether as owner,
director, operator, licensor, licensee, partner, shareholder, joint
venturer, employee, consultant or otherwise) in competition with
or likely to be in competition with the existing business carried
on by the Group (the “Restricted Business”); and (i) directly or
indirectly take any action which constitutes an interference with or
a disruption of the Restricted Business including, but not limited to,
solicitation of our Group’s customers, suppliers or personnel of any
member of the Group.

The Covenantors have confirmed to the Company the compliance
with the non-compete undertaking during the year ended 31 March
2019. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the NCU and confirmed the compliance with the non-compete
undertaking by the Covenantors during the year ended 31 March
2019.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 0.5% and
2.1% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 61% and 82% of the total
purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint venture of
the Company are set out in Note 11, Note 12 and Note 13 to the
financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting system and to review the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Ma Siu Kit (chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their
respective associates has engaged in any business that competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 19 to 36 of this annual report.

Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2019 AGM. A resolution will be
submitted to the 2019 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EPRINT
GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 125
to 239, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2019;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B Ah R

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit is in relation to as follows:
o Impairment assessment of goodwill and property, plant and
equipment of banner printing segment.

° Impairment assessment of loan receivables.
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Key audit matters

ERESE

Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNESNMNEERAREETSAE

Impairment assessment of goodwill, property and plant and equipment of banner

printing segment

Refer to Notes 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 5, 16 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s banner printing segment has goodwill
and property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$29 million as of 31 March 2019,
representing approximately 9% of the Group’s total
assets.

The banner printing segment suffered loss for
past few years and recorded an insignificant profit
amounting to approximately HK$0.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019, which represented an
impairment indicator of goodwill and property, plant
and equipment within the banner printing segment.

In this regard, management performed an assessment
on impairment of goodwill and property, plant and
equipment of the banner printing segment by using
value-in-use calculation to determine the recoverable
amount and concluded that there was no impairment
as its recoverable amount exceeds its carrying
amount.

This assessment was based on management cash
flow forecast and involved significant judgements
and estimates about future business performance
including revenue growth, gross profit margin and
discount rate and accordingly, this was an area of our
audit focus.

In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill and property, plant
and equipment, the following audit procedures have been
performed by us:

° We evaluated management’s financial budget
and future cash flow forecast by understanding
the process by which they were drawn up, and
testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculation;

° We assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast
by (i) comparing the projected revenue growth
and gross profit margin growth to the historical
sales performance and historical profit margin of
the banner printing segment, (i) benchmarking
these key assumptions against other comparable
companies in the industry and (i) checking these
key assumptions against actual results in the period
subsequent to the year end;

o We evaluated the discount rate by assessing the
cost of capital of the Group and referencing the
cost of capital of other comparable companies in
the industry; and

° We obtained and evaluated management’s
sensitivity analysis of the cash flow forecast by
considering downside scenarios against reasonable
possible changes to the key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the
management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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BRETERE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Key audit matters

ERESE

Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNESNMNEERAREETSAE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

Refer to Notes 2.11 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group had loan receivables, of approximately
HK$10 million as at 31 March 2019.

Management assessed the provision of expected
credit loss of approximately HK$1.6 million against
the loan receivables. Management determined
the default rate by engaging an external valuer to
perform valuation. Management estimated the level of
expected loss, with reference to historical observed
default rates, loss given default rates of comparable
companies and industry, and forward-looking
economic factors.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
loan receivables. Moreover, significant judgements and
estimates were involved in estimating the provision of
expected credit loss for the loan receivables.

In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables, the following
audit procedures have been performed by us.

We assessed the competency and objectivity of the
external valuer by considering their qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular
credit assessment and the judgement related to
management’s identification of events that triggered
the significant increase in credit risk of loan
receivables and event of default;

We evaluated the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology;

We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by external valuer;

We assessed the default loss rate and loss given
default with reference to the borrower’s past
repayment pattern records and the settlement after
the reporting period; and

We challenged the appropriateness of
forward-looking economic factors applied by
management for the adjustment of the level of
expected loss.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management in
respect of the impairment assessment of loan receivables
were supported by the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B Ah R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BftRelRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EZ=T—NF=HA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Revenue g © 408,723 403,303
Cost of sales $H & AR 8 (275,258) (257,216)
Gross profit e 133,465 146,087
Other income H A Ug A 6 3,109 7,107
Other losses — net HihEE— 558 7 (271) (4,890)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHALZ 8 (34,822) (43,955)
Administrative expenses TERAX 8 (80,884) (75,486)
Impairment loss on a financial asset EREEREEE 22 (1,595) —
Operating profit .. a2 28,863
Finance income BB WA 1,510 488
Finance costs B & Bk A (743) (1,292)
Finance income/(costs) - net i BEMA(RA) %8 10 TeT . (804)
Share of losses of associates FE(G B & A R B 18 12 (2,268) (143)
Share of profit of a joint venture E(hE & hEREFR 13 2,494 777
________________________________________________________________________________________________ 26 634
Profit before income tax B FT 15 3% A1 % 1 19,995 28,693
Income tax expense FrigBimx 14 (2,862) (5,599)
Profit for the year F A5 A 17,133 23,094
Other comprehensive income: Hibsra Wz
Item that may be reclassified to AJREER TR IR B -
profit or l0ss:
Currency translation differences M ZE%R (1,081) 2,012
Total comprehensive income FALRE KRBT
for the year 16,052 25,106
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Bt E Em R
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BEZE=_ZT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ZIBREEF RN :
Equity holders of the Company N/NSIE - ESSE DN 17,353 22,032
Non-controlling interests IR R (220) 1,062
17,133 23,094
Earnings per share for profit FARNRBERFTFEA
attributable to equity holders FEAh & ) A F AR & F
of the Company during the year
Basic and diluted (expressed in BEARREE (RFRABWE)
HK cents per share) 15 3.16 4.01
Total comprehensive income for AT EIBEREFEA
the year attributable to: e G
Equity holders of the Company RARERFTBA 16,338 23,854
Non-controlling interests eI iR (286) 1,252
16,052 25,106
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO BRI &

R_F—_NF=HA=+—H

As at 31 March 2019

2019 2018
—E-h#F —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FMBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB R 16 121,213 135,671
Intangible assets mEE 17 725 725
Other financial assets RE AT BR 2
at amortised cost EMemEE 22 1,100 =
Investments in associates REEE R RIMIEE 12 1,158 2,977
Investment in a joint venture REETEMNTE 13 10,084 8,021
Deferred income tax assets RIS EE 30 2,313 2,402
Deposits and prepayments B RIERMRIE 21 6,093 4,913
142,686 154,709
Current assets BN EE
Inventories FE 19 6,032 6,051
Trade receivables 2 5 W GIE 20 6,480 7,880
Deposits, prepayments and e BANRIER
other receivables H b e W IR 21 10,639 15,036
Other financial assets REE AT R 2
at amortised cost HEthemEE 22 8,919 =
Held-to-maturity investments BEIEKE 22 - 15,000
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BBEZEAALEBEYIERZ
profit or loss TREE 23 9,545 12,746
Current income tax recoverable EHRREIFTISH - 20
Amounts due from related companies  J& U #8:E A R FUIA 34 2,708 10,191
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMEIEAEE 24 123,664 89,524
167,987 156,448
Total assets BERLE 310,673 311,157
Equity M
Capital and reserves attributable to RAFIEZFEEA
the equity holders of the Company BIRE RN #EE
Share capital A& A< 25 5,500 5,500
Share premium & mE 25 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H it 26 90,006 86,868
228,427 225,289
Non-controlling interests JEIE R = 6,091 6,377
Total equity WS aEE 234,518 231,666
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A AR
As at 31 March 2019 R=—ZE—hE=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Liabilities =iy
Non-current liabilities FmBEE
Obligations under finance leases BMEMHEEBETEMA 29 268 1,935
Other payables E b e~ 0E 27 1,063 1,186
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMSHAE 30 6,901 7,768
8,232 10,889
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables 2 S e IR 27 9,323 12,886
Accruals and other payables JE & 3038 N H fth FE < 5K I8 27 30,250 25,270
Borrowings BE 28 25,943 24,592
Obligations under finance leases BMEREBETERME 29 1,868 5,110
Amounts due to related parties FET g3 5 ;IR 34 34 336
Amounts due to directors ERTEEIE 34 200 245
Current income tax payable FERTE BIRT ST 305 163
oo eeeeeeieeiaiieaieiieiiiao....... 00,923 68,602
Totalliebiltes  ______________&fE®s 716155 79,491
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEEE 310,673 311,157

F133E289E T M A MM BRER 2
4R EB 5

The notes on pages 133 to 239 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

F125ER12EFTE A HTBHRRER =
TE-NWENA-_tHBEEEESHE I
MTIEERKREER:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 125 to 132 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2019 and were
signed on its behalf:

Mr. She Siu Kee William Mr. Lam Shing Kai

RBEKE MAE K&
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EZ=T—NF=HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAAEREEARE
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Bx RGEE EXEE  HbEE  SERE  REEA Nt EBRRER ag
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TER TAn TEn TEn Thn AR
Bdanceat 1 Apil20t  RF-CRRACAER 5500  1adn 6593 @) @68 696 21028 (a7t 750
Comprehensive income Ak
Profit for the year FREH = = = = = 22,032 22,032 1,062 23,094
Other comprehensive income el
Currency translation differences EX=E
- Group s ] - - - - 516 - 516 190 706
- Joint venture and associates -RELEREERT - - - - 1,306 - 1,306 - 1,306
Total comprehensive income Lalings - - - - 1822 22,082 23,854 1,252 25,106
Transactions with owners, ERRNERERL
recognised directly in equity BERANRS
Capital injection from non-controling ~ FEHZRVER &
interests - - - - - - - 7,840 7,840
Divdends (Note 31) B (Bt - - - - - 80 B8 - B8
Total transactions with owners, EERNERERL
_ropeddecynenty  BEEAMERS S D ]
Balance at 31 March 2018 W-E-\FZA=+-B&& 550 132921 6,593 o) @62 81158 225289 6377 231666
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AERE DR
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BEZE=_ZT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARFERSE AR
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
kA RHEE ExGE  EtEE  HERE  REEA Mt FERER a8
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiEn TEn TR TiEn TR TEn THR TiEn TR

Balance at 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EEA-B&H 5,500 132,921 6,593 (1) (862) 81,158 225,289 6,377 231,666
Comprehensive income Falka
Profit for the year FREA - - - - - 17,353 17,353 (220 17,133
Other comprehensive income i e
Currency translation differences ELER
- Group -F&E - - - - (433) - (433) (66) (499)
- Joint venture and associates ~BECERBEDNR - - - - (582) - (582) - (582)
Total comprehensive income nAkELE - - - - (1,015) 17,353 16,338 (286) 16,052
Transactions with owners, ERMERRRY

recognised directly in equity BREANR S
Dividends (Note 31) TR (W31 - - - - - (132000  (13,200) - (13,200)
Total transactions with owners, EERNERERL

recognised directly in equity BEFANERS - - - - - (132000 (13,200) - (13,200)
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+-REH 5,500 132,921 6,593 (1) (1,877) 85,311 228,421 6,091 234,518

The notes on pages 133 to 239 are an integral part of these &R E133F 2398 &M sx & Ak & OF 81 75
consolidated financial statements. WEm—ao e
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Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% —

KEEBELMNRERE

Aﬁﬁﬁb"ﬁ%%

—hF=ZA=1T—HLHFE

2019 2018
—®-nE  —E\%
HK$’000

FET

HK$’000
FERT

Cash generated from operations EEEANIRE 32 47,157 47,778
Interest paid [RENEESA (743) (1,292)
Income tax paid BFAEH (3,478) (13,222)
Net cash generated from operating KEREEEMIR S FE

activities 42,936 33,264
Cash flows from investing activities KRERHEENBRESRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME BERRK

equipment (3,562) (812)
Prepayment for purchase of property, BE®HE - BELREN

plant and equipment B FRIA (1,220) (2,108)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - HE RRED

plant and equipment Fr1S K18 32 122 425
Proceeds on disposal of unlisted HEFLEMEFESFZ

bond securities FT15 5878 14,000 10,000
Proceeds on redemption of financial ~ BEIFBEFIZAABE

assets at fair value through R 2 EREBEEZFTE

profit or loss FIE 12,837 =
Investment in other financial assets IR E SR A BR 2 Bt

at amortised cost EREENRE (10,600) -
Investment in financial assets REBBRIEANEE

at fair value through profit or loss IRz EMEENKRE (3,989) -
Interest income from unlisted bond ELEMESFFHFHN WA

securities 246 1,501
Investment in an associate Rt &R RNRE 12 (600) @3)
Proceeds from partial disposal of HEBE QR BMERLZ

an associate Fr 1S k38 - 1
Interest received 2 U B 1,323 461
Net cash generated from investing KRB EHELREFHE

activities 8,557 9,465

2018/19%F % eprint EEAER AT 131



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BEZE=_ZT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary

MERDHEENRDRE
[ SF 122 RO 25 35 1T E B AR

2019
—B-AF

HK$’000
FERT

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’'000
FHET

shares to non-controlling interests B P15 5K IE - 7,840
Proceeds from borrowings EESHIE 5,020 1,679
Repayments of borrowings EEER (3,669) (15,430)
Repayments of obligations under BEERREHEETHEMT

finance leases (5,169) (7,013)
Dividends paid BEfRIRE 31 (13,200) (8,800)
Net cash used in financing activities  _ MAEEFIMAMNRELFE (7,018 . (21.724)
Net increase in cash and RekReFEBHEM

cash equivalents R 34,475 21,005
Cash and cash equivalents FYReRREEMEIEE

at beginning of year 89,524 68,220
Effect of change in exchange rates EXSHNTE (335) 299
Cash and cash equivalents FRAS AR SEEEE

at end of year 24 123,664 89,524
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, George Town, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture are set out in Notes 11, 12 and 13, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts (“HKICPA”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.1

B OB SRR MIEE

—REHR

eprintE B AR AT ([A2A])R
—E-NE-ATERERSHS
REE(KET)RAEHSTM
RIIREHRRBRAG - RRQAFE
fift #% == B2 b 4k & 4th Floor, Harbour
Place, 103 South Church Street,
George Town, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands -

AKARBREER AR HEE EH
BEAr BMEAARAELEZE
o RIS FE11 ~12K% 18 °

BRAHAN AR REKEB R
A (% [AEE )G G B i ®wmK
BB TTE®

TEETHERRBE

MEZEEHMBREEAEMAN
TZEABRRIN TN -BHREAH
RN L EBRRAEZ2INEFE
EREH-

R E R
ARARINEHMBHRRDBRIERE

gt rg (BBt A®])
BmZEERE YGRS LR
(IBEMBREEA]FER -G H
MHEBRERBELKRAEER
YHARAARBEAEZBEDERA
REEIENEREENEGFDL
CHI

KBREBY B RELEN RN 5
MRBERAETEASH GO
EREBEERERAEE S TBR
B M BT - R = 128 H sk
EHENEE SBRRLRETYHSE
HUBEBRERBEEANSEBEGHEER
B 5E4 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continuea)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group (a)

The following new and amended standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial

year beginning on or after 1 April 2018:

Annual Improvements Projects HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28
BB KR EEAFE1R R
B G ERIFE8RFEBEIRR
HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

BB WE LR F25% (BFTA)
HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

BAMBRELANEAH (BETA)
HKFRS 9
BBM W E R R LN
HKFRS 15

BRI ME LR E155

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)
BRI WE LR F1558 (BFTAR)
HKAS 40 (Amendments)

BB g ERIE405% (BRI A)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

B8 (BRMBHREREZES) —REBFE22%

The Group had to change its accounting policies and
make certain adjustments following the adoption of
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 which are disclosed in Note
2.2. The adoption of other new and amended standards
and interpretation did not have any material impact on

the current or prior periods.
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2 FESHHERBFEw

21 REEEE »)
21T RS RINESEE

KL 2 AT RASES
EAY

ATRAEER _T—/\FH
A—B&zE&RAMZMBFEE
BIRERM 2] RAEERTLR

Annual improvements 2014 — 2016 cycle

—E-NEE_T-RFRHAZFESCE
Classification and measurement of share-based
payment transactions
BONRERG 2z ERGE
Applying HKFRS 9 financial instruments
with HKFRS 4 insurance contracts
HEBPBRELERNBARREES L —HER
ERVBREENEREHMITA
Financial instruments
TR T A
Revenue from contracts with customers
BEFE& WA
Clarifications to HKFRS 15
BERVBREEDNFE155R 2 BF
Transfers of investment property
HEREME
Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

SNER 5 RIBNKE

RERAI T2 2P R BB B
BREERNESRLBETHK
HEEFIGHK NEEA
FRESFHBRALIELETH
B RMEMMET REETE
QAR 2 e I 8 4 2 AT B 1
HHELEENERZE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR
2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESTHREREE =
pOliCieS (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continueq) 21 REEE (@)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 2ANEBHBRBBRBESE (&)
(Continued)
(b) New and amended standards have been issued but are (b) EAEME A KL AT RELR
not effective and have not been early adopted by the EEERI R FTET RACIEET
Group ER
The following new and amended standards are not THFET REET LB T
effective for financial year beginning on 1 April 2018, and —N\FOA—BRBHIERE
have not been applied in preparing these consolidated EHEEAER BERREEZ
financial statements: SEHPBmMEREHRER:

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

RULT B 2%
K FERBENR
Annual Improvements Project Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle 1 January 2019
(Amendments)
FEBEER (BT AR) —_E-RFE_TLFREPZ —E-AF—HA—H
F IR
HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan amendment, curtailment or 1 January 2019
settlement
BB T ERE195 (BRI &) FTEER] BB AE R —E-NAF—HA—H
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term interests in associates and 1 January 2019
joint ventures
BERGTERFE285 (BF]AR) BENmkegrEsRPER —E-NAF—H—H
HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment features with 1 January 2019
negative compensation
EEMBHREEAFESR (BFTA) AFAMENREENRSE —E-NF—H—H
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
BB R E LR FE165% HE —E-NAF—H—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& et

2 Summary of significant accounting

R M et

pOliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continuea)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

©)

New and amended standards have been issued but are (b)
not effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Tk (AR BERE2EEZES)
— 22358

HKFRS 3 (Revised) (Amendments)

ER T B wmEERFE35R (KLIEFT)
(BETA)

Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018

— T \FHBHmEZHER

HKFRS 17

ERT B mEERNE17HR

HKAS 10 and HKFRS 28
(Amendments)

FB G ERE105% R EF BT
s £ RIE285% (BFTAN)

Note: To be announced by HKICPA

The Group will adopt the new and amended standards
when they become effective. The Group has commenced
the assessment of the expected impact of HKFRS 16 as
set out below. The directors of the Company assess that
the adoption of the other new standard, amendments
to standards and interpretations is not expected to have
any significant impact on the results and the financial

position of the Group.
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2 FESHHERBFEw

21 REEEE »)

AT RS RIWESE (&)

E A8 4 5K £ 3% B W KR
B BIRFI IR Z #TAT RASIEET
ER (&)

Effective for

annual periods

beginning on or after

RUT RS 2%

FRENEERBEN

Uncertainty over income tax 1 January 2019
treatments

FrG i ie 38 2 T HEE 1 —E-NF—HA—H

Definition of a business

EHOTEE

1 January 2020
—FT-F%—A—H
Revised conceptual framework 1 January 2020

for financial reporting
I ME 2 REFT I RAESR —T_FTF—H—H
Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
Rz & & —T_—%—HA—H

Sale or contribution of assets between Note
an investor and its associates or
joint venture

KEHEEIE QA By &

BECRZRANEELESEE
M SR EERHABLEAMH

A& E R AT KB RT A
ERERA - AKREC FHRKF
T XA EE NG REER
F16RWEHTE - AR A E
SRR RMEMFTER £
AR AR REBEARTEHAR
SENXERVBRAELEFE
MEBREE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continuea)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

©®)

New and amended standards have been issued but are
not effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continuead)

HKFRS 16, “Leases”

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being
recognised on the statement of financial position, as
the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and
low-value leases.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, the
Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments
of approximately HK$45,449,000, see Note 33(b).
Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 the majority of operating
lease commitments will be recognised in the statement
of financial position as lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets. The lease liabilities would subsequently be
measured at amortised cost and the right-of-use assets
will be depreciated on a straight-line basis during the
lease term. For lease commitments relate to short-term
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line basis
as expense in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not foresee any material impact on the
net profit of the Group as a result of adoption of HKFRS
16.

B H SRR T

2 TEEHBEREw

21 REEE ()

2AMEST RS RIWEEE (&)

©)

B B8 4 K £ 2% A 90 K R
EFIEAI RN FTAT RAZIEET
EA ()

FEMBHREELE 165 [H

= |

o otE
BEMBEREERNE16HE K E
ﬁ&?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬂ“ﬂﬁ)ﬂi’%
NER REARKEHEER
éf?ﬂi*\Z%lJ 2 % M Bx - 1R &
ZFETER BE (ZHEEER
MEMAE EXNEEZE®

BB R M —
HAEEEHEE-

{5 5N & 7= 58

By 488

i

ERAEEEZEAEE LS
EZEtEIE - NS HE-
AEBETIRBEZEERE
A HE 445,449,000 7T ( &M

E33(b) ) © 5 M B B 15 9
BB 168 15 - A 5 5 48

M E AR SN BRI R A
REHEAEREREEE-
HEBBHER SRS HK A
E-mMERBEESRNEHA
HEGEEETHE - BERE
HEERBENEEAERS -
HBR & 6f B 715 R A A B 4%
AR RBF -

AEBUEBRARANETEY
BHREERF165RME A EH
BFENEEEEMERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot BRI T
2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continuea)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards have been issued but are
not effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continuead)

Date of adoption by Group

It is mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group does not
intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.
The Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for
the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for all
leases will be measured on transition as if the new rules
had always been applied.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

(a)

The following explains the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” on the Group’s financial
information and also discloses the new accounting policies
that have been applied from 1 April 2018, where they are
different to those applied in prior periods.

Impact on financial information

The Group elected to adopt HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 without
restating comparative information. The reclassifications and
the adjustments are therefore not reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, but are
recognised in the opening of the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1 April 2018.
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2.2

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR
Summary of significant accounting 2 FESHHER/Ew
pOIiCieS (Continued)
Changes in accounting policies (continued) 22 ST BEEE @)
Impact on financial information (continueq) (a) HHBERNWKE &)
The following tables show the adjustments recognised for TRINTHEEFEBAIERE-
each individual line item. Line items that were not affected AXBHTENEE L EFTAE
by the changes have not been included. As a result, the bt P B 2 /et R B EEEAR IR
sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from ERBCETEFRFTE - ABEKT
the numbers provided. The adjustments are explained in more NERIEH B AR -

detail by standard below.

31 March 2018  Effects of the

Consolidated statement of as originally adoption of
financial position (extract) presented HKFRS 9 1 April 2018
B I BN (FEk) R-B-NE BENEBUK
ZA=1+—-H ®EEAEE R=B-NF
RIREEZS VR A—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET TET
Current assets mEBEE
Held-to-maturity investments SEEERE 15,000 (15,000) -
Other financial assets at amortised cost & $ A 28 51| Bk 2
Hith & @& E - 15,000 15,000

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Impact on adoption (b) BHEMBHREEHFORLSMITE -

RN E
HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the BERAMBRELEFIRRRTE B
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets S EREREHEHEENS
and financial liabilites derecognition of financial instruments, BREENER DHEEHE /8T
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. BRIt ER @ EERERE
SHEENHTE -
The adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 April BE-ZE—NFENA—BEBENEHB
2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies. The new MBREEANFIReHTAEYS
accounting policies are set out in Note 2.11 below. ABREHRESH A BERER

T KIzE2.11 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&I R M aE
2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESHERXRBFEw
pOIiCieS (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 22 S BEXREE @)
(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Impact on adoption (b) EFEUKHE LR FoKESMTE -
(Continued) RN E #)
(i) Classification and measurement () DERIE
On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS RZZE-—NFHEA—-—B (¥R
9), the Group’s management has assessed which KB BIERE LR FEHR
business models apply to the financial assets held by the WBEH) AEEEEEDNMGE
Group and has classified its financial instruments into the BRARAEBEFRBEEREED
appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The Group elected to X¥BEX YKRESRIAESD
classify its held-to-maturity investments as other financial BHERAWBRELERFINR
assets at amortised cost. THRERN AEEEEH

REINHMRED B SR HEHK
ARz EBEREE -

Other financial
Held-to-maturity assets at
investments amortised cost

78 DNl S

REIMKRE ZEMBEREE

HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT
Closing balance at 31 March 2018 RZZE—NF
- HKAS 39 —A=+—HH
HRESH BB
AR ZB395% 15,000 =
Reclassify held-to-maturity BREEHEE
investments to other financial assets BENOER
at amortised cost REE SR AT BR 2
Hfth & @ & B (15,000) 15,000
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FMA—H
- HKFRS 9 Z BRO) AR
—EANHRE
R B 95% - 15,000
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Impact on adoption

(Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H SRR T

2 TEEHBEREw

22 S HEXEE )

(b) BEBUBHELEANESRETMT A

RANEE w)
() TR EERE

The Group has two types of financial assets that is
subject to HKFRS 9’s new expected credit loss model:

° Trade receivables; and

° Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each class of assets.

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the customers past settlement

pattern and existing market condition.

While cash and cash equivalents and other receivables
are also subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses (‘ECL”) which permits
the uses of the lifetime expected loss allowance for all

trade receivables.

To measure the lifetime expected credit loss, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The Group
assessed that there was no significant financial impact

upon the initial adoption of the standard.

AEBKBEUNTHREREY
BHREERNESRFTRAMEE
BEEL ERGE RN TR
BE:

s EBHRWFE: K

s MEBHRAIKRZEME
BMEE

A 4 BB 1R 15 B 0 1 7 3R 45 o
Bl S50%% 5 % 18 & & 1 2T A
TR

TRMEEDREBEEBENAR
LBHEBRENBRRIRER
BE - AEERELEZFMRR
RITEHE Y RETFPBE
REEARBITHHRNERE
ARBEFTENE ARE-

BEREAREFEEB UKL
Hit BURKIB IR BETHRAEY
B ELERIFEIRHRER T -
HE BRI REBEL TERX -

B 5 EWHIR

AEEFRRAEBMBEHREER
FORBL T AFERYEER
BEE(BYEEER]) &7
ERARA B S RWGKIARE
ReRBEMEBERE-

RITEXHEMESEEE &
ZFRWFIBC RBRABNEE
[ B Rr B AN dE R By AR - K
SEFFE VAR AZER D
SELBEAUKEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2.2

(b)

(c)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Impact on adoption
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure ECL which permits the uses of the lifetime
expected loss allowance for all other financial assets
at amortised cost. The Group assessed that the loss
allowance was immaterial upon the initial adoption of the
standard, but the Group recognised a loss allowance of
approximately HK$1,595,000 as at 31 March 2019, see
Note 22.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers -
Impact of adoption

HKFRS 15 replaces the provision of HKAS 18 which resulted
in changes in accounting policies that relate to timing of
revenue recognition and presentations of contract liabilities.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from 1 April 2018 which
resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments
to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. In
accordance with the transition provision in HKFRS 15, the
Group elected to use a modified retrospective approach which
allows the Group to recognise the accumulative effects of
initially applying HKFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings on 1 April 2018. Thus the
comparative figures have not been restated.

The new accounting policies are set out in Note 2.23 below.
The impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 15 are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(c) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers -
Impact of adoption (Continuea)

()

(i)

(i)

Timing difference of revenue recognition

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognise revenue from sales
of goods.

Presentation of contract liabilities related to contract with
customers

“Advanced receipt from customers” which were
previously included in accruals and other payables,
amounting to HK$4,597,000 as at 1 April 2018, are
now included under contract liabilities to reflect the
terminology of HKFRS 15.

Accounting for shipping service

Management has identified certain shipping
arrangements as separate performance obligation, the
total consideration of sales contracts are allocated to the
performance obligation identified based on stand-alone
selling price.

Under HKFRS 15, certain shipping arrangements are
recognised as revenue once separate performance
obligations are identified. The shipping costs directly
fulfilling shipping arrangements are then recognised in
the consolidated profit or loss. During the year ended 31
March 2019, cost of shipping services of HK$12,677,000
was reclassified from ‘selling and distribution expenses’
to ‘costs of sales’.

BB ERR M

2 TEEHBEBE«

22 S HEXEE )

(c)

ERMBHREERNEISHRE
L O3
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(i)

(i)

Bx
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BEFEABBEKR B
E 7/

2 B & A BB £ 3O % K A A
SORM [BRE S ROA] (A=
T—)\F1HH—H%&4,597,000
BRI A OREET N
B B 5 9 4 A A 1 5%,
O 38 <

WERB A& &t ke

BEEECDRMNETNERHR
BEREOBEE HESHNE
RE T2 E =R EE R & Bt
EWERAINEHNEE-

BEEEWBRELEANE1S
oEEAENENEE BT
NELZHEBRABKRA -HEE
FE T ERERNEKABER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries

2.3.1 Consolidation

2 FESHHERBFEw

2.3 B F

2.3.18 6t

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

(@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

(@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H SRR T

2 TERHBEME.

2.3 B F &)

2.3.166f ()

@)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are

recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is

accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated profit

or loss.

®)

change of control

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without

©)

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also

recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(c)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
[t means that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associates include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in associates, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the associates’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associates
equals or exceeds its interest in the associates, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associates.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associates
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associates and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2.4

25

148

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost
of the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in
a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint
venture.
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2.5

2.6

2.7

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Joint arrangement (continuea)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the chairman and executive directors of the Group that
make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated profit or loss. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in profit or loss within ‘Other losses
- net’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2.7

(c)

150

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Current
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.7

(d)

2.8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2.8

2.9

(a)

152

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Buildings 30 to 50 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 15 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Computer, furniture and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.
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2.9

(a)

(b)

2.10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Intangible assets (continueq)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets represent source codes acquired
which are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Source codes have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of source
codes over their estimated useful lives of three years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2.11

(a)

(b)
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Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets and
liabilities in the following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which investment is held.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2.11

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses — net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in profit or loss.

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other losses — net in the period in
which it arises.
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2.11

(c)

(d)
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Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in other losses-net in the
profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 20 for further details.
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2.11

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a result, the
comparative information provided continues to be accounted
for in accordance with the Group’s previous accounting policy.

Until 31 March 2018 the Group classified its financial assets in
the following categories:

° financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

° loans and receivables; and
o held-to-maturity investments.

The classification determined on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired. Management determined the
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the
case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluated this
designation at the end of each reporting period. See Note 18
for details about each type of financial asset.

(1) Reclassification

The Group could choose to reclassify a non-derivative
trading financial asset out of the held for trading
category if the financial asset was no longer held for the
purpose of selling it in the near term. Financial assets
other than loans and receivables were permitted to be
reclassified out of the held for trading category only in
rare circumstances arising from a single event that was
unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term. In
addition, the Group could choose to reclassify financial
assets that would meet the definition of loans and
receivables out of the held for trading or available-for-sale
categories if the group had the intention and ability to
hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity at the date of reclassification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continuead)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018
(Continued)

(1)

@

Reclassification (Continued)

Reclassifications were made at fair value as of the
reclassification date. Fair value became the new cost
or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair
value gains or losses recorded before reclassification
date were subsequently made. Effective interest rates
for financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables
and held-to-maturity categories were determined at the
reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of
cash flows adjusted effective interest rates prospectively.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did not change an
adoption of HKFRS 9, see description above.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, loans and
receivables and held-to-maturity investments were
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or
loss within other losses — net.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is
determined are disclosed in Note 3.3.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

(Continued)

(3)  Impairment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B H SRR T

2 TERHBEME.

(e)

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting period
whether there was objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired
and impairment losses were incurred only if there was
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events)
had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that could
be reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost was
considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss
was measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that had
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset was reduced and the amount of the loss was
recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment had a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss was the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the group could measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value

using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised

impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in

Note 3.1(b).
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212

2.13

2.14

160

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
See Note 2.11 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.19

2.20

(a)

162

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity.
In this case the tax is also recognised directly in equity.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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2.20

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continueq)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that
is measured at fair value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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2.20

(b)

2.21

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continvea)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2,22

2.23

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.
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B I R R M T

2.23

(a)

(b)

166

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (cContinuead)

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Services income

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. For
fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as
a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

The Group provides shipping services in addition to the goods
sold to the customers under certain sales contracts.

Shipping services give rise to a separate performance
obligation when the Group promises to ship the products after
the control of the products are transferred to customer.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.
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2.23

(c)

2.24

(a)

(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees. Contributions are made based
on certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are recognised as employee benefit expense as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

2.25

2.26

168

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
consolidated profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in other long-term payables.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
consolidated profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and
equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over
the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the
statement of financial position based on their nature.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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2.27

3.1

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is included in the net fair value gains/(losses) in other
losses — net (Note 7).

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost (2018:
held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables)
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as part of other income (Note 6).

Interest income is presented as finance income/(cost) — net
(Note 10) where it is earned from financial assets that are held
for cash management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

Market risk
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings,
obligations under finance leases, other financial assets at
amortised cost, bank deposits and cash at banks.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s interest-bearing
assets were bank deposits and held-to-maturity investments,
which are of fixed interest rates, and cash at banks, which
bears variable interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

3.1

(a)

170

Financial risk management continueq)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (Continuead)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s income and cash flows from operations were
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates
as the significant interest-bearing assets were either fixed or
not expected to fluctuate significantly.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, borrowings at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is
partially offset by cash and cash equivalents held at variable
rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before income
tax would have been approximately HK$281,000 lower/higher
(2018: HK$316,000 lower/higher). The sensitivity analysis has
been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the balance sheet date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of
reasonable possible change in the interest rate which has the
most impact on the Group over the period until the next year
end date.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, bank deposits, other financial
assets at amortised cost and obligations under finance leases
at fixed rates expose the Group to insignificant fair value
interest rate risk as the fixed rates approximate market interest
rates.
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3.1

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (Continuead)
Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises
from investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 23).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.

The Group’s investment in equity securities are publicly
traded. The fair value is determined with reference to quoted
market prices.

The management is of the opinion that the Group has minimal
exposure to the price risk as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables,
other receivables and amounts due from related companies.
The carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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3.1

(b)

172

Financial risk management continueq)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continuead)

As at 31 March 2019, all the bank deposits are deposited
in the high quality financial institutions. The credit quality of
cash and cash equivalents have been assessed by reference
to external credit ratings or to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not
have default in the past.

Most of the Group’s sales are settled by cash or credit
cards. Trade receivables of the Group are mainly due from
credit sales mitigating credit risk. There are no significant
concentration of credit risk as no external customers
contributed over 10% of the Group’s trade receivables.

The Group’s investment in debt instruments are considered to
be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments
are monitored for credit deterioration.

() Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subjected to the expected credit loss model, trade and
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade and other receivables
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to

measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before
31 March 2019 or 1 April 2018 respectively and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The impact of the
expected credit loss is insignificant.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade
receivables

In the prior years, the impairment of trade receivables
was assessed based on the incurred loss model.
Individual receivables which were known to be
uncollectible were written off by reducing the carrying
amount directly. The other receivables were assessed
collectively to determine whether there was objective
evidence that an impairment had been incurred but not
yet been identified. For these receivables the estimated
impairment losses were recognised in a separate
provision for impairment. The Group considered that
there was evidence of impairment if any significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation,
and default or late payments (more than 90 days
overdue).

3.1

(b)

B H SRR T

BERABREE @
PR EE )

EERB @)

()

L EEE (&)
EZENFIE (&)

RITEBRHEEER EFHE
WK IE B = IR 8 B R A K A
MEERBRE# M-

BHEBERRNOINR_F—A
FZA=+T—HBH=ZZT—NF
A — B A1361E A #fE AR &
#H & UK & 5% 2 N AE e
BELFEEBERET-FELER
RREABRNRREERTP X
B FRAENINEZBEREZ 2R
BEAEEEN BHEES
BHREELTEKN-

B 5 N H e U SRR R (B & 1
REEGMNAZY SRERBE
FRoHRKEBEMBENS
RET AR —#4RE -

B 5 IE W R B E A48 1 & aT
BR

RBEFE B 5 EWKER
BEREELEEBEEEAFGE -
A0S B] W [B] R fE] ) L RO A
BEZRVEREERE -Et
EWRIBT ERBFEUNEER
BHRERBEBREACELR
B 18 1 K & 5l - 3t &% % e MK
A E A REBER S I
BMERERER -AKERS W
BEHRALBRBEEV RN &
BAFRRERESETHEEM
Ko 8 R 5T B 5 5K (8 HI90 A
A L) - BNE R B 7 4% o

2018/19% 3 eprint EEER2AF 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

3 Financial risk management continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
() Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade
receivables (Continued)

Receivables for which an impairment provision was
recognised were written off against the provision when
there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

3 HMERBEREw
3.1 MBEBEE »
(b) EERE &2
() ZEEENHRE %)
B SN E R EL BT S5

B (&)
FE 52 0 181 188 48 B0 I8 W SR TR X TR
ﬁﬁ)ﬁ?\ﬂﬂ&@%ﬁ&l\iﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé

HEEHKASN R R T &

E
Other financial assets at amortised cost include REEKASN R A EEE
receivables from unlisted bonds securities (previously EBEFELMESESERNK
held-to-maturity) and loans to third parties. E (BARZIMRE=FE
Ko
Management considers the credit risk on the loans to EREERR R2EXH5HF
related parties has not increased significantly since initial BEBOERBERTEAKR-
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical BTHEABMAITNERZEER
default rate and current financial position. The impairment b B VAR AR & E K
provision is determined based on 12-month expected e ERERZEI12[ A A
credit losses and the loss allowance of approximately HEEREET A BEREYD
HK$1,595,000 was recognised as at 31 March 2019. 1,595,000 TR — W F=
A=+—R®R-
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2018 —under R_-_Z—\F=F=+—H
HKAS 39 and opening loss allowance WERBERE-RE
as at 1 April 2018 — under HKFRS 9* BB ERFEIRE
ER=_ZE—N\FWHA—H
WEVEBEE - RE
BB RS R B
e -
Increase in loan loss allowance recognised in profit FARERBRZEREE
or loss during the year BN 1,595
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2019 RZE—NAF=H=+—H
B F RSB 1,595

*

No restatement on transition to HKFRS 9 as a result of applying
the expected credit risk model was immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR
Financial risk management (coninueq) 3 HMKEKREREw
Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEREKREE @
Liquidity risk (c) RBEELEMR
The liquidity risk of the Group is controlled by maintaining AEBZABESRBRATERSE
sufficient cash flows of banking facilities, bank deposit and MEATRTBE RITFRLA
cash and cash equivalents, which are generated from the LA ZERA (AN RIARE
financing activities and the operating activities, respectively. TEE RS E IR ELE) TS -
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the ERIANAGB 2 HBHMRAR EER
directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will BORITETAREITERBEEEZX
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment. M BNE R o
The directors believe that such borrowings and obligations ESHGE %EREVNREMER
under finance leases will be repaid in accordance with the THEEBEERBEENRERBZEZ
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. ETERBHEE-
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into TEOPMASBEMEBAR IR
relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment BER BRI TERARFSE
dates set out in the loan agreements with the consideration of WEARBZRERGRIOEESD
the effect of repayment on demand clause. EAMRBEHBER -

Between Between
Within 1 1 and 2 2and 5
On demand year years years Total

BREXR -%#R -E@MF C—EIf A5t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
THBT TAT TBTT THET TR

As at 31 March 2019 R-E—-NE=R=+—H
Borrowings and interest EERFERY

expenses 25,943 - - - 25,943
Obligations under finance ~ BEREBETHEMER

leases and interest FER%

expenses 1,973 79 79 53 2,184
Trade payables B HEMFTIE - 9,323 - - 9,323
Other payables' H e 5008 - 1,259 1,063 - 2,322
Amounts due to arelated  JE(TREE L B FIA

company - 34 - - 34
Amounts due to directors ~ JEfT E=FUE - 200 - - 200
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=HA=1+—H
Borrowings and interest EERFISAX

expenses 24,592 - - - 24,592
Obligations under finance ~ BEREBETHEMR

leases and interest FIBR%

expenses 5,268 1,832 137 - 7,237
Trade payables BHREMNIE - 12,886 - - 12,886
Other payables' Hfth fe < 5008 - 1,258 593 593 2,444
Amounts due to arelated  JETREE LD BIFIA

company = 336 - = 336
Amounts due to directors BN EEFUE - 245 = = 245
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities/advanced receipts from 1 HERTREGHNERE TEREFHRE

customers and accrued expenses. RETER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& I R MR

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BIREKBREE #

(c) Liquidity risk (continuea) (c) REBEZSRMR 2
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into TEROMAEENEHEBE DR
relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment EERHEMEBETERBHAE
dates set out in the loan agreements and the effect of any WESFAEMNEEREZERARNT
repayment on demand clause is ignored. EHRREBIIERER -

Between Between
Within 1 1 and 2 2and 5 Over 5
year years years years Total

—-£x -E@mF C—ERFf EFEHULE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THET THET THET

As at 31 March 2019 RZZE-AFE=A=1+—H
Borrowings and interest EERFIERY

expenses 6,462 1,442 4,325 18,140 30,369
Obligations under finance ~ BEMREBTHEMR

leases and interest FERZ

expense 1,911 220 53 - 2,184
Trade payables BSREMNTIE 9,323 - - - 9,323
Other payables' Hi R 50E 1,259 1,063 - - 2,322
Amounts due to arelated  JE{TEEE 1 B FIAE

company 34 - - - 34
Amounts due to directors BN EEFHIE 200 - - - 200
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A=1+—H
Borrowings and interest FERAMBRAX

expenses 4,176 1,441 4,325 19,581 29,523
Obligations under finance ~ BEREBETHEMR

leases and interest FERZ

expenses 5,268 1,832 137 = 7,237
Trade payables B S EMNTIE 12,886 = = = 12,886
Other payables' H 508 1,258 593 593 = 2,444
Amounts due to arelated  JE{TBEE L B FIA

company 336 - = = 336
Amounts due to directors BT EZ IR 245 = = = 245
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities/advanced receipts from 1 ERTBEANEE TAREFNRIE

customers and accrued expenses. REst B -
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and obligations under finance leases.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 were as
follows:

3.2

BB ERR M

BEERERE

EXERERE

AEBMNERAERBER EUAER
BEAER LELREAN DA M
BeB URBhREHRE®RESE
510 & R A 2

RERFIABREANGRE A&EA
HERNTRRZESESENIRE
BRRER -

AEMBGTLEN REEEAE
B i A A KT o K TR
BEER A BERAETE-EHA
ENREEERREBEETHA
EatE-

RZE-NAFR-_FT-—NF=H
St BEMEERBLXRZINNT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHT
Borrowings (Note 28) BE (MfsE28) 25,943 24,592

Obligations under finance lease MEHEBETHNER

(Note 29) (F7E29) 2,136 7,045
Total debt BERE 28,079 31,637
Total equity e A RE 234,518 231,666
Gearing ratio BEBELE 12% 14%

The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2019 resulted
primarily from repayments of obligations under financial lease
by the Group.

BEABLER _ZT-NAFATRE
IZANAEEEEREEERT
BEMEC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

3.3

178

Financial risk management continueq)

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets,
including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and amounts due from related companies, current financial
liabilities, including trade payables, other payables, amounts
due to related parties and directors, obligations under finance
leases and borrowings approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities, and non-current liabilities, including
obligations under finance leases and borrowings as their
interest rates approximate market interest rates.

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2019 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2018/19
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3.3

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

HK$’000
T

“E-NEF
=ZA=+-H
BRBERRNAEME

31 March 2019

Financial assets at fair value

3.3

BB ERR M

BEEEEE
DAAREBEME @)

TRHBINAEBR_ZE—NFR=
ZE-NF=ZA=+—"BEAALEBE
HAENEMEE-

Total
act
HK$’000
TER

HK$’000
T

HK$’000
TET

through profit or loss FIR v e MEE 9,545 - - 9,545
31 March 2018 —E-N\F
—A=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value BABEZRANER
through profit or loss FIRz e REE - - 12,746 12,746
Financial instrument in level 1 (a F—He@mITHE

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

REBMEEENERTAARE
BELVREREHNRATEHREEE -
HREEMERXH M KHEH KL
A KBERR EERBAEERE
ES AZEERRTRERAFEE
ETHEREREREET SRS A
ZMIGHRRERT S AR B
FRATRMEEMANMERERSE
AIRE - ZETAGFAZE M-t A
F-RMNTATZEEIERESB
BaB A AnBEIGZEREEN
ERRARES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRRME

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3 BXRBRERE«

3.3 Fair value estimation (continueq) 3.3 AAEEME @
(b) Financial instrument in level 3 (b) E=HemITA
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments TEREINHE-_ZE-—NFRZZE
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. —N\EFE=R= + EI FEFE=HK
THEz&F-
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FHT
At beginning of the year REH] 12,746 12,319
Disposal s (12,837) -
Addition = - =
Gain recognised in profit or loss i = Endaski o8 DL s 91 427
At end of the year RER - 12,746
Total gain for the year included FRIEBZEERFNR
in profit or loss for assets held Wes @ EERT A
at the end of the year, under TIVEE b &5 18 — F %8
other losses — net - 427
Changes in unrealised gain for RELFTABREZFRN
the year included in profit or loss RER WS
at the end of the year - 427

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill and property,
plant and equipment of banner printing segment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2.10. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 17).
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(a)

(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (continueq)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and property,
plant and equipment of banner printing segment
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. The calculations require the use of judgements
and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and (i) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate.

Changing the assumptions selected by the directors in
assessing impairment could affect the recoverable amount
determined by the directors and as a result affect the result of
the impairment reviews. Further details are set out in Note 17.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial instruments recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation techniques
including the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the
same, and discounted cash flow analysis. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required
in establishing fair values.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1.

(a)

(b)

(c)

B H SRR T

B0 AT 0 5 IR o

ME - BEMEBEREFLRKB
8 B JR R BR B A A8 SBOR W Bl
EITRERS A BB SEDRE
EREEFEBEEXNARAEEN
BRHEXRATE (UBRSERE) -
LaEF B R E R A KA A e

EEEREIFA LEEFEHEAT
XIER - EEEBAELHE: (4G
BRAEHAEATNEBEEET
B R E ; (AT U E £ %8 (BIA
BENGEEKAR S BERE
EEEEBEREREEMMTZR
KBEREFREMERIZESE)
ALY EHEEERBTAE: Kii)EER
EREBANBEERAZ2EAEETER
HoBREEEREREEINEE N
e BhIR R -

E=THRERERZER
EFEESTEET 2 AIREEE K
MEEARE 2 RERSMNER-
S HBHNMEE7 -

TRITENDIAEE

R R P REN SR T RN
AABENEREERTSPEL
AEREERTEE BRMNABLI
HOAFRS 2REMAHAER
MTARBRRAE AN -ZFHE
B2H ABBERAEER TRE R
BIRmiG MHEM 8BI AA1T RNE
g@ﬁ%@ﬁ%%ﬁ*iﬁﬁmﬂ

ETMEERE

TRHEENERBEBEEREENR
SHNEMBRENBRR - RERE
HEAR AEBREEBEES ]
B T 50 M R BE I 15 T AR B B (E
HzERRMERREFE 28 A
BE-MERABZIERR B AR
B BRI EES. -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I R R M T

4 Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

(d) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful
lives are different from those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(e) Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain for the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial
statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the carry
forward of unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised,
based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgement regarding the future financial performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group. A variety of other factors
are also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary differences, group relief, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised.

The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets recognised
for certain of the Group’s businesses depends principally
on these businesses maintaining profitability and generating
sufficient taxable profits to utilise the underlying unused tax
losses. It may be necessary for some or all of the deferred
tax assets recognised to be reduced and charged to the
consolidated profit or loss if there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting projected
taxable profits of these businesses. Judgement is required to
determine key assumptions adopted in the taxable profit or
loss projections and changes to key assumptions used can
significantly affect these taxable profit or loss projections.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into two business segments:

(@ paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”); and

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”).

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length basis.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the year consists of the revenue from paper
printing and banner printing. The Group derives all revenue
from the sale of goods at a point in time.

B H SRR T

7 B EH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRRME

D EBE R =)

BE-Z-NAFR-Z—\F=f
S+-RILEFE BENBEFE
1 EB 31 0% Y 2 8 B L o

5 Segment information (continue) 5

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.

The following tables present revenue and segment results
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 respectively.

TRFIAEERENHBEEZ_-F
—hER-_FT-A\F=A=1+—H
IFFEZ e Mo ARSEAE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-NG=A=+-HLEFE

Paper Banner
printing printing  Eliminations Total
HEE R EEE R ¥ 88 oy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THER THER THER
Segment revenue R
Revenue from external customers' & BN EF iz 314,143 94,580 - 408,723
Inter-segment revenue Vo=l 292 46 (338) -
Total Bt 314,435 94,626 (338) 408,723
Segment results DEEE 18,623 379 19,002
Finance income BMEKA 1,510
Finance costs MEKA (743)
Share of losses of associates [EfhE & N A (2,268)
Share of profit of a joint venture  JE1E & & (55 F 2,494
Profit before income tax B FT 1534 A 7 19,995
Income tax expense SRR (2,862)
Profit for the year FNm A 17,133
Impairment loss CTREERERSE
on a financial asset 1,595 - 1,595
Depreciation of property, mE BERBEBTE
plant and equipment 11,070 6,938 18,008
Capital expenditure NG 3,621 1,567 5,188

i Included revenue of approximately HK$12,677,000 are derived from

shipping service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR M

D EE F =

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE_T-\§=A=1+—HLFE

5 Segment information (continue) 5

Segment revenue

7 B s

Paper

printing
AR EDFR
HK$'000
BT

Banner
printing
15 & N
HK$'000
FTET

Eliminations
i
HK$'000
TAT

Total
Feb
HK$'000
FHET

Revenue from external customers R B 9M 8% P Wz 308,780 94,523 - 403,303
Inter-segment revenue 7 E 364 65 (429) -
Total st 300,144 94,588 (429) 403,303
Segment results DEERE 26,147 2,716 28,863
Finance income BEWA 488
Finance costs MEKA (1,292)
Share of losses of associates e B & N A& (143)
Share of profit of a joint venture ~ FE1 & &> ¥4 F [
Profit before income tax BR BT 15350 A1 A 28,693
Income tax expense FEHRAY (5,599)
Profit for the year FRER 23,094
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRETE

plant and equipment 11,702 6,781 18,483
Amortisation of intangible assets £ & & 5 - 430 430
Impairment loss EVEERERSE

on an intangible assets - 287 287
Capital expenditure BARY 1,457 246 1,703
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Xt ik
5 Segment information (coniinueq) 5 oHER
The following tables present segment assets as at 31 March TR AI#EH TR —hEk=
2019 and 2018 respectively. —NFE=A= ‘I' 2 Z“ *Bﬁ&
Paper Banner
printing printing Total
4 EN R & & Rl ‘et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHExT FTHEx
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—IF
=A=+—H 134,958 40,809 175,767
As at 31 March 2018 RZZE—N\F
=A=+—H 156,719 48,919 205,638
Segment assets for banner printing segment mainly &= R 2 B o jﬁﬁﬁigh
represented property, plant and equipment and goodwill %8 A #128,450,0008 T (=T — N\
amounting to approximately HK$28,450,000 (2018: F : 34,871 OOO;‘%T_E)&,%’WZS,OOO
HK$34,871,000) and approximately HK$725,000 (2018: BT (=T — )\ & : 725,000 7T ) &9
HK$725,000). ME -BERREBEALEE-
A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided DEEEEREEHRWOT
as follows:

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
Segment assets DEEE 175,767 205,638
Investments in associates E/Q\H% ERNAINERE 1,158 2,977
Investment in a joint venture RE&atENRE 10,084 8,021
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ% kR eEFEEER 123,664 89,524
Other unallocated segment assets HMRDEHHEE - 4,997
Total assets BEE 310,673 311,157
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BB ERR M

Other income 6 HlgA
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T
|.T. license fee income BB FERFFIERA 67 254
Sales of software e 124 3,461
Scrap sales FEER & 1,444 1,456
Interest income from unlisted FEEMEHFFFZFBUA
bond securities 723 1,324
Sundry income HMTEIT A 751 612
3,109 7,107
Other losses - net 7 EMEE-EEE

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET

Losses on disposals of property, plant &Y HE KR EEE

and equipment (Note 32) (FF7E32) (1,350) (4,720)
Exchange gains/(losses) — net bE N W, (B51B) —F% 431 (486)
Fair value gains on financial assets FRBREZEAALEBEBEYEZ

at fair value through profit or loss TREENAABEYS 648 427
Loss on partial disposal of an associate i & B & A B 2B D HEZE 2

EE - (111)
271) (4,890)
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&I R M aE
8 Expenses by nature 8 EMEIEMNMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, seling and distribution BREEEKNA HERDHEA XA
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITERATERNNBRINOT :
follows:
2019
—E-hE
HK$’000
FExT
Cost of materials MEHR AR 53,112 53,180
Auditor’s remuneration ZELRD B
— Audit services — BT IR 1,624 1,566
- Non-audit services — TR 242 111
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EEREFMAEZ (M) 86,616 82,292
Depreciation of property, plant and M- B REBTE
equipment (Note 16) (MF3E16) 18,008 18,483
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEEE (ME17)
(Note 17) - 430
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERBE
(Note 17) (FF3E17) - 287
Outsourced customer support expenses M HIE P X 1255 20,648 19,491
Subcontracting fee 2BEER 146,179 141,888
Operating lease rental of premises MERRBOKEHEERS
and equipment 21,507 20,430
Repairs and maintenance HIERIRE 3,763 3,386
Distribution costs 28R 17,841 13,971
Utility expenses NARBE T 3,697 3,835
Write off of trade receivables HisH & 5 e kI8 109 3
Recovery of trade receivables U 181 52 B 3 5H A
previously written off B 5 WK IE (24) (24)
Others H At 17,642 17,328
Total cost of sales, selling and SHEKA - HE R
distribution expenses and DR AR
administrative expenses TR 2% 390,964 376,657
Others mainly represent credit card handling charges, EMFrEZEEGERARFEE ES X
advertising and promotion expenses and telecommunication feHF s R EMA X
expenses.
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Employee benefits expense (including 9
directors and senior management’s
emoluments)

BB ERR M

BERAAX (BEEER

—_

'%II

EEEZMH)

2019 2018
—g-nFE T )\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Salaries and allowances Fr e MOERh 72,491 69,546
Bonuses and commissions AR AE 9,096 8,275
Pension costs — defined contribution BRIRE KA —REHRKETE
plans (Note a) (MFsxa) 3,798 3,751
Welfare and other benefits & FI) R B A F) 2 1,231 720
86,616 82,292
Notes: B
(@)  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (@ RRESERA—FEHNETE

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2018: HK$1,500)
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 11% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2018: 8%) of their basic salaries,
while the Group contributes approximately 13% to 14% (2018: 13%
to 14%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

AEEELHEEB2MRHEAES
sTEl ([afEEsrall) mxstalBh—
BB EAANEERN—BREHKTE -
RiFRBEEE AEENEHMBER
Al (B *x) REEEBHERARZTEIH
FoMIBER M ATEE AN HRE5E
—RAEREEWANSS EEEXEEEN
FAHERERAE1,5008 7T (ZZF—/\F:
1,500/ 7T) MBI E R 2 518 B FE i
Ko BR AL RO - AN S B A H A B BE AR AR
BRANEE-

AKEEHSRATNEE AR
EEHER-BEIREESA —KRDH
IR B #H 2 M183% K% 11%% % & & F i
B R FHRIN AEE W EE AR
REBRZEE

BN EER RERRE AEBEA
REPEEEMHAEREENRAKT
Bl R - EBEREHFIEL&EZE% (=
—N\F:8%) 2 MASLEAIZEE
FEH13%E14% (ZZE— N\F:183%=E
14% ) fEH R - R SHFIN AEE
WEEMBBER X FRARSKBRAKE
BRZ2EE-RAREEZBRARESEM
HAEREEMRKGTEIAE-
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BHMBHRRME

Employee benefits expense (including

directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continveq)

Notes: (Continued)

9

Eéﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi (BREEER
SREBEREEHHN) o

BysE: (&)

(@)  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continued) @ BRASKA-FREHKTE (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the amount of the Group’s HE-_Z—NF=A=1+—HBLFE"
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately AEBEEITAARTHRTEHZILD
HK$3,798,000 (2018: HK$3,751,000). There were forfeited contributions 3,798,000 7t (=& — J\ % : 3,751,000
to the MPF Scheme of approximately HK$546,000 (2018: HK$256,000) BIL) BEZTE-—NF=A=+—HI1
which has been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2019. As at 31 FEEHANERYEBEFTEHRRR
March 2019, contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to #7546,0007% 7T ( =& — /\ F : 256,000
approximately HK$500,000 (2018: HK$493,000). BIL) RZT-—NAF=ZRA=+—H &
M 5% T8 € 51 & £ 5K 49500,0007 7T (=&
— J\4F : 493,000/ 7T ) °
(o)  Five highest paid individuals ) BEZESFHAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include two directors (2018: one director), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 36. The emoluments payable
to the remaining three (2018: four) individuals are as follows:

FAAEENAERSHFALEEM
REZE(ZZE-N\F:—REE) '3

iy e
ZE

EEZNFHMERK 3625 MR
R-BABT=ZBAL(ZT-NF: X
) HFEn T

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT F&T

Salaries and allowances e ROFRL 3,138 3,763
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT 1,452 835
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  RIK & Ak A8 — R 5KE 2 54 72
4,644 4,670

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZEALTFBN T AT EHE

Number of individuals

A
2019
—E-NF
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 500,000/ 7T 21,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2=1,500,0007 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000 7T 2 -
3 4
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other AEBBERERNEEIAEESHTA

THhEMERR M EARS NS
REE EMBRR BEFRASEARE K
TERBER 1R -

members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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BB ERR M

10

BMEWRA S (HAK) —FE

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FABT
Finance income BE WA
— Interest income from bank deposits —RITIF A B A 1,000 488
— Interest income from loan receivables — — fiE Yt & zx 71| 2 U A 510 -
. 1510 .. .488
Finance costs BE KA
- Finance charges on obligations under —HARREREE ~&TH
finance lease BEEMA (174) (379)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —EEMERX (569) 917)
_________________________________________________________________________________________ (743) . (1,292)
Finance income/(costs) — net BMEWA S (AA) —F58 767 (804)

Subsidiaries

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2019:

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

IMRIGEREEERER
Directly held:
HEERE:
Promise Network The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
Holding Limited limited liability company
Promise Network RERLHE ((RBRLHES])
Holding Limited BREFAR

eprint Digital Holding The BVI, limited liability company

Limited
eprint Digital Holding ~ REBEZEHES BRETRH
Limited

11 B QA

RABEMT :

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FERERKE
EERLH

(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the
Group (%)
rEEER
EER LA

(%)

Particulars of
issued share capital

BERTRARE

2,887 ordinary shares of 100% -
US$1 each
2,887 BREBEIETH
Timmk
1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% -
1REREEIETHLER
2018/195 3}

eprint KEERAQF]

RZEBE-NF=R=+—HB KB

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEXRTEBREREE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER
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BHMBHRRME

11 B A 8=

11 Subsidiaries continuea)

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling Principal activities and
interest (%) place of operation
AEEEE FERERERS
EER LA EER LA
ERITRAEE (%) (%) TEXBIEBREREH

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the
Group (%)

Particulars of
issued share capital

Place of incorporation and

kind of legal entity

SRR AERRER

Directly held: (Continuead)
BEERE: (£)

E-print Group Limited ~ The BVI, limited liability company 50,000 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holding in
US$1 each Hong Kong
E-print Group Limited ~ REBEZEHE  BREFRE 50,000 R EE1E T H) BAREER
LRk
eprint Holdings Limited ~ The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
eprint Holdings Limited REBRXEHS BREEATA 1REREEIETHEBR BRREER
e-print Trading Limited ~ The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
e-print Trading Limited ~ RBEZHS  BRETAH IREREEIETHNE AR BRREER
Indirectly held:
BiEEE:
Promise Network Hong Kong, limited liability 2,886 ordinary shares of 100% - Provision of printing
Printing Limited company HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
fRaaAS A L ED R BB BREEAF 2,886 BAREE1E A EER R AR
BRAA TR

Invoice Limited

EROFIERAT

Kimley Technology (HK)
Limited

SRBR (BH)
BRAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company
BE BRAEEAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company
B EREMAH
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1,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
1,000/ GREE1ETH

2,775 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2,775l B IRE B T
LTk

100%

100%

Provision of printing
services in Hong Kong

EEBREEARIRS

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
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Subsidiaries continueq)

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

SRR AEREER

Indirectly held: (Continuead)

BERH: (£)

Dajinlai Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited'

K& R ORI
BRAR

Lucky Gainer Limited

HERERDA

Design Easy Limited

Fit 5 (BE)BRAF

eprint Investments
Limited

eprint Investments
Limited

eprint Property
Investments Limited

eprint Property
Investments Limited

e-banner Limited

e-banner Limited

The PRC, limited liability company

HE AREEAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B BEREEAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BB BEREAAR

The BVI, limited liability company

KERAEE BREAAH

The BVI, limited liability company
RBRIAS BREARA
Hong Kong, limited liability

company
& BRAELTA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR M

11 B2 =)=

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FEREERE
EER LA

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the
Group (%)
AEERET
EER LA

Particulars of
issued share capital

Principal activities and
place of operation

BRTRARE

1,000,000 ordinary shares of
RMB1 each

1,000,000 & fR E (B
ARBATHERR

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
R BRE BB T BB

2,775 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
2,775 BREBEIETN

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each
IREREEIETHEBR

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each
IRERABIETHLER

40,133,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

40,133,000/ & fR (& 178 7T )
Lk

(%)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

2018/195 % eprint EEAR AT

(%)

49%

FREREDRERDH

Provision of I.T. services
in the PRC
T BUR A R AR

Provision of management
services in Hong Kong

EEBREEERE

Provision of printing
services in Hong Kong

EEBRHEERIRE

Property investment in
Hong Kong
BAEMERE

Property investment in
Hong Kong
BENERE

Provision of digital printing
services in Hong Kong

EEEREEHRIRS
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11 Subsidiaries continuea)

Place of incorporation and

kind of legal entity

SRR AERRER

Indirectly held: (Continuea)

BMERH: (8)

AppOne Esolution
Limited

AppOne Esolution
Limited

Digital Printing Centre

Limited
YBEORIHLERAR

Ebanner Australia Pty
Ltd

Ebanner Australia Pty
Ltd

Ebanner Solution Sdn.
Bhd.

Ebanner Solution Sdn.
Bhd.

E-BOSS CO. LIMITED

ERBERAT

eprint Japan Limited'

eprint Japan = g4t

Hong Kong, limited liability
company
BB BREMELF

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BE EREEAR

Australia, limited liability
company

BN EREEAR

Malaysia, limited liability company

SRAE BERAERF

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BB BREELR
Japan, limited liability company

BAR BREALH

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRTRARE

10 ordinary shares of
HK$430,000 each

108% & AR 18 430,000/ 7T )
LEk

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,0008 B AR E B 17 7TAY
LEk

1 ordinary share of
Australia dollar (“AUD”)
1 each

1RBREETRT (TRT])
LBk

400,000 ordinary shares of
RM1 each

400,000 R EE12 &
EER

1 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
1REBREBVE TN L @R

100 ordinary shares of
JPY25,000 each

100k & AR (E25,000 A 7LHY
LEk

U English translation is for identification purpose only.

194 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2018/19

11 B A 8=

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the
Group (%)
AEERET
EER LA

(%)

70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FEREERE
EER LA

(%)

30%

Principal activities and
place of operation

IREREDRERDH

Inactive

EEaE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Inactive

HENE

Provision of printing
services in Malaysia

S RA S R RERIRS

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Dormant

BEEY

! RGEREHRBR
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B IR
11 Subsidiaries (continueo) 11 B AT =
(a) Material non-controlling interests (a) EXRFERES
The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2019 is RZFE—-—NF=ZA=+—H k&
HK$6,091,000 (2018: HK$6,377,000), in which the whole A% 1 % 48 %8 /56,091,000 7T (=
amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries — N\4F: 6,377,000 7T) & 2B
(the “e-banner Group”). Re-banner Limited & £ [t B A &
([e-banners@ ) °
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries BEERFEREZNHBATZ
with material non-controlling interests B ERBE
Set out below is the summarised financial information for TXHINGAESEMS BERNE
the subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are BEEREZNNBRAR T BE
material to the Group. B2 o
Summarised statement of financial position MBERRERBE

e-banner Group
e-bannerf

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FA&ET
Current m
Assets BE 16,666 13,661
Liabilities =L+ (16,993) (18,708)
Total current net liabilities REAEFERAR (327) (5,047)
Non-current ERH
Assets EE 13,120 19,546
Liabilities afE (268) (1,935)
Total non-current net assets IERBEEFREE 12,852 17,611
Net assets B EFE 12,525 12,564
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&I R M aE

11 Subsidiaries (continueo) 11 B A 8=

(a) Material non-controlling interests (continued) (a) EXRFERER &)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income HEWERBE

e-banner Group
e-bannerfk &

2019 2018
—2-hE T )&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Revenue W 2= 94,626 94,588
Profit before income tax B AT 15 ¢ B g A 185 1,990
Income tax expense s R (90) (857)
Profit for the year F A Al 95 1,113
12 Investments in associates 12 REEERARINEKRE
2019 2018
—g-hE T )&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
At beginning of year NGl 2,977 2,962
Additions (Note i) WNE (FEE) 600 3
Disposal (Note ii) & (B i) - (112)
Share of losses of associates e B & N RIEE (2,268) (143)
Currency translation differences ME N ZE%R (151) 267
At end of year TGS 1,158 2,977
Notes: B 5
0] On 18 December 2018, the Group subscribed addition 600,000 shares [0) RZFBE-—N\FE+=ZA+NB XEER
to its associate, Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited, with a HMERRB 2 TIHE (FH)ERAA
cash consideration totalling approximately HK$600,000. #8532 BE600,00008 i 10 IR S KRB A
#9600,000/% T °
(i) ~ On 28 Aug 2018, e-print Trading Limited (“e-print Trading”), a wholly- iy RZFE-—NFENAZ+NB ' X&E
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales and purchase 2 & W & 2 Ale-print Trading Limited
agreement with a third party relating to the shares of Giant State (le-print Tradingl) R—BZE=FFHE
Limited. All shares held by e-print Trading Limited were sold to this third RERAABRNET —HEEWHE-F
party investor at a cash consideration of US$1 accordingly. It + e-print Trading Limitedi®:Z5 86 =7
BEERERBERE1IEZETHERREAE
B2 A o
As the carrying amount Giant State Limited was nil under the equity BRIEEREZTERERARZEEREAR
method, the disposal had no impact on the consolidated profit or loss. T HLGBHEHEHBERRBEEXY
2 o

=
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12 Investments in associates (coninueq

(a)

(b)

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as
follows:

Place of
business/country Effective interest
of incorporation held as at 31 March
£5%/
TR IER REB=t-BHFERER
2019
—E-NE
Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu PRC 30%
Wang Tong Technology
Company Limited" ?
AYNEEERBREERAR 2 FE
Giant State Limited' The BVI -
EABRAR EERAES
Sakura Japan Property Hong Kong 20%
(Hong Kong) Limited'
BZABE (FE)BERAR  FE

U The financial statements of these companies are not audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

2 English translation is for identification purpose only.
Commitments in respect of associates

The Group has commitment to investing in one of its
associate, Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong Technology
Company Limited of approximately HK$4,385,000 (2018:
HK$4,686,000).

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the associates.

Summarised financial information for material
associate

Set out below are the summarised financial information for
Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong Technology Company Limited
which is accounted for using the equity method.

-
— =<

12

2018

—N\%F

30%

30%

20%

(b)

BB ERR M

REEE DNTNRE )
REEREES AR EFHBOT

Measurement
method

SRR

Principal
activities

FRERED

Provision of cloud  Equity
printing services
RUZHRIRYE DA
Investment holding  Equity
in Hong Kong
BRREER Ba%
Provision of real Equity
estate agency
services
REFWERE ok
R
i ZE R A2 PR BRR I 7B KB
EREIES Sl
2 R EREHBR -
B A F R
2 A A A

EEBREQNTURENRE

TXEINRYBEEZEEPBRRBER
REAMPTBERBE X AEEE
N
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AP SRR M 5
12 Investments in associates coninueq) 12 REEE R RINIRE =
(b) Summarised financial information for material (b) EEBRE QAN KEERNBE »)

associate (continued)

Summarised statement of financial position BERRREE

Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong
Technology Company Limited
RINBEERBENEZERAA

2019 2018

—E-hE —ET-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Non-current assets FERBEE - 2,886
Current assets MEEE 925 5,013
Current liabilities mEAE (38) (117)
Net assets BEFRE 887 7,782
Summarised statement of comprehensive income HBEWBERBME

Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong
Technology Company Limited
RYNREEFBNEERDT

2019 2018
—E—hE —ZE—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue g %5 48 1,109
Loss before income tax B P15 %6 A E5 18 (6,388) (2,980)
Income tax expense FrE R X - -
Loss for the year FAEE (6,388) (2,980)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the LA & 8 IR LB & N R A B IS Sk
financial statements of the associate, and not for the Group’s ANEY B EEE  WIERNEBFTEH
share of those amounts, adjusted for differences in accounting B WA AE B S QR 2HE
policies between the Group and the associate. BHBERNERELAE
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BRERBENSIR
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information MHBEHNMENHRZ2S ERXEE
presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the NAIMEREEE:
associate.
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BB ERR M

12 RBZEQATNERE @
(b) EEHRELNTHNBERBE &)

12 Investments in associates (coninueq

(b) Summarised financial information for material
associate (continuea)

Summarised financial information

Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong
Technology Company Limited
FIBEERBENEERAF

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Opening net assets FHEEFR 7,782 9,872
Loss for the year FAEE (6,388) (2,980)
Currency translation differences M N ZE%R (507) 890
Closing net assets FREEFE 887 7,782
Interest in associates RE & R R = 30% 30%
Share of net assets EIEEEFR 266 2,335

13 Investment in a joint venture 13 REELENRE

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

At beginning of year i) 8,021 6,205
Share of profit of a joint venture B & & 2,494 777
Currency translation differences ME N %R (431) 1,039
At end of year RE 4R 10,084 8,021

AEBEZAELEFBNOT:

Details of the Group’s joint venture is as follows:

Place of
business/country
of incorporation
ExnE/
A S B R

Name of company

NEER

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. BRAD

Measurement
method

Percentage of

ownership interest Principal activities

SRR

TERBED

EREAH
2019
—E-hE

2018
“E-NE

30% 30%  Provision of printing  Equity
services
1R Ak EN I PR 75 &
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BHMBHRRME

13 Investment in a joint venture (continueq)

(@) Commitments in respect of joint venture

(a)

The Group has no commitments relating to its joint venture.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s

interest in a joint venture.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd and its subsidiaries. (“e-print
Solutions”) which is accounted for using the equity method.

(b)

Summarised statement of financial position

(b)

13 REEBELENKRE »

BELENERE
AEEYEBBEEDLEAAE-

BEAEASER -—HAEEEN
BmmkABE-

™ X &%l e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd
M E W B Q7R ([e-print Solutions |)
M BEERBE WA EAR-

RN RBE

e-print Solutions
2019
—E-NF

2018
—F-NF
HK$’000
FHET

HK$’000
TR

Current assets mENEE
Cash and cash equivalents HeMkBELEFEMEER 8,879 5,253
Other current assets (excluding HMREhEE (T8IE

cash and cash equivalents) RekBReEMEIER) 6,346 7,597
Total curentassets ~ aBAEA® 0 15225 12,850
Current liabilities MEAE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade cRBE(TREESEN

payables) KIA) (9,635) (10,639)
Other current liabilities (including Hn#eE(REES

trade payables) FETRIE) (15,195) (18,796)
Total current liabilities ~ n#Afies 0 (24830 | (29,435)
Total non-current assets ~~ : FnBAERE 77217 79,315
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Financial liabilities = (30,926) (32,847)
Other liabilities HEmBE (3,256) (3,343)
Total non-current liabilities ~ JFmBIAFA®R 000000000 (34182 (36,190)
Net assets EEFRE 33,430 26,540
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13 Investment in a joint venture (continueq)

(b) Summarised statement of financial position

(Continued)

Revenue

Depreciation

Finance cost

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Yz

e

B P 15 B A i 7
PR BE R X

F R A

BB ERR M

13 REBENKRE w

BMERRRBE (2

e-print Solutions

2019 2018
—g-nE  —T-\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiB FBT
95,273 84,436
(4,439) (4,250)
(2,156) (1,921)
8,323 4,178

9) (1,588)

8,314 2,590

The information above reflects the amounts presented in
the financial statements of the joint venture and not for the
Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of its interest in a joint

venture.

Summarised financial information

NEBRRBRE 2 DENP B RE
NEFWEE WIFAEEFHEH
YRR AEEESLE X ZH
A BRRNERFEHFRE-

MBERBMEOHRZ5ERN —H
BECRNESREEE
MBEMBE

e-print Solutions

2019 2018

ZE-NF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FAT

Opening net assets FUEEFHE 26,540 20,515
Profit for the year F A% F) 8,314 2,590
Currency translation differences PE W = RE (1,424) 3,435
Closing net assets FREEFHE 33,430 26,540
Interest in joint venture RE&ETENER 30% 30%
Share of net assets LB EFRE 10,029 7,962
Goodwill EES 55 59
Carrying amount BREE 10,084 8,021
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BHMBHRRME

14 FISHAX

14 Income tax expense

2019 2018
—®-1E  —T-N\F
HK$’000

HK$’000
FB FIBTE

Current income tax EHREH
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 3,887 5,747
— PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH 371 150
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEREE)

BETE (618) 554

3,640 6,451

Deferred income tax (Note 30) EFEFTS R (F7E30) (778) (852)
Income tax expense FriEfifA < 2,862 5,699

Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 8.25% (2018: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profit up to approximately
HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on any part of the estimated
assessable profit over approximately HK$2,000,000 for
the year (2018: 16.5%). Subsidiary incorporated in the
PRC is subject to PRC corporate income tax based on the
statutory income tax rate of 25% for the year (2018: 25%) as
determined in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax
rules and regulations. The Company has not been subject to
any taxation in the Cayman lIslands as it does not have any
assessable profit since its incorporation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Income tax expense (continueq)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows:

BB ERR M

14 FIBFHBAX @

Fh AN 5% 8 B BR P 15 85 A s A 1 28 48
A Y A5 TR B B P OB AR R 2 70 4 B R
ERE RS OF B B8 A s A B0 A
OBREFAENEBRBEAEMTR
ABBERILT:

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Profit before income tax B BT 15 35 AL A 19,995 28,693
Tax calculated at a weighted average 2 I F R14%+ &
tax rate of 14% (2018: 20%) BIB (ZT— \fF:20%) 3,100 5,022
Tax effects of: NTEBENRIBLE :
— Share of loss of associates — & N REE 178 28
— Share of profit of a joint venture —EEaghEEN (359) (153)
— Income not subject to tax — A IRA (708) (639)
— Expenses not deductible for tax SOk 5
purposes 987 829
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — — Eh B It BT AR FESR HYF 18
tax losses &8 - (4071)
— Tax losses and other temporary — W B ERIELE TSR A
differences for which no deferred I8 B 18 I E B
income tax was recognised =5 282 359
— (Oven/under-provision in prior years ~ —@BFEE (BEREE)
B (618) 554
2,862 5,599

Note:

GEE

The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are mainly
Hong Kong, the PRC, Malaysia and Australia with tax rate ranged from 16.5%
to 28.5%. The decrease in the weighted average tax rate is due to the change
of the allocation of tax assessable profit in different locations.

AEEEARTRABERAZLAER(EEEEH -
RE BREDERBAFE)HH RENT
16.5%%E28.5% ° MAE LI E T T ER TR
b [ 8 SR i A A D B £ B FT B
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B OB SRR
15 Earnings per share 15
(a) Basic (a)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

ZREF
B

BREXAFN TIIREA R R # &7
BEAREGEMNGEABE T —NF
MZZE-—NEF=ZA=+—HBLLFE
EHRTEBRBRMETFORE-

Profit attributable to equity holders of KRB EZFB ARG

the Company (HK$'000) wA (FET) 17,353 22,032
Weighted average number of ordinary & 217 & & IR AN #E 19 &

shares in issue (thousands) (Fh%) 550,000 550,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREARRBF (BW) 3.16 4.01

(b) Diluted (b)

Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years.
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BB ERR M

- ra Y
16 Property, plant and equipment 16 ME BERRE
Computer,
Leasehold Plant and  furniture and Motor
Buildings improvements machinery equipmen vehicles
N
BE HENEEE  BEREW RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL THET ; TEL
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tF
MA—H
Cost A 67,850 14,605 124,288 15,732 2,043 224,518
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (922) (8,590) (46,789) (9,979 (390) (66,664)
Accumulated impairment ZitRME - - (660) () = (665)
Net book amount REFE 66,928 6,015 76,839 5,754 1,653 157,189
VYear ended 31 March 2018 BHEZZ-N\F
=A=+-H
FEE
Opening net book amount FOREEE 66,928 6,015 76,839 5,754 1,653 157,189
Additions NE = 229 228 1,246 - 1,703
Disposals (Note 32) HE (H17E32) - (1) (5,000) (63) (81) (5,145)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Fize) 2.212) (1,867) (11,662) (2,329 (419) (18,483)
Currency translation differences  [E X Z 5 - 73 193 139 2 407
Closing net book amount EREMEFE 64,716 4,449 60,598 4,753 1,155 135,671
At 31 March 2018 RZB-N\F
=A=+-H
Cost %N 67,850 14,929 117,787 16,989 1,771 219,326
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (3,134) (10,480) (56,426) (12,231) (616) (82,887)
Accumulated impairment 2 RE - - (769) () = (768)
Net book amount FEFE 64,716 4,449 60,598 4,753 1,155 135,671
Year ended 31 March 2019 HE-T-NE
=A=+-"H
HEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 64,716 4,449 60,598 4,753 1,155 135,671
Additions wNE - 202 3,706 987 293 5,188
Disposals (Note 32) HE (F13E32) - (38) (1,398) (19) 17 (1,472)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (KizEs) 2,213 (1,579) (11,671) 2,141) (404) (18,008)
Currency translation differences & i, =% - (40) (60) (65) (1) (166)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 62,503 2,994 51,175 3515 1,026 121,213
At 31 March 2019 RZE—NF
=A=+-H
Cost 2% 67,850 14,795 117,247 17,641 2,022 219,555
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (5,347) (11,801) (65,350) (14,122) (996) (97,616)
Accumulated impairment ZiRE - - (722) 4 = (726)
Net book amount KEFE 62,503 2,994 51,175 3,515 1,026 121,213
Note: B &L :
As at 31 March 2019, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately RZFE—NEF=ZA=+—H KEEAY
HK$62,503,000 (2018: HK$64,716,000) were pledged to banks to secure 62,503,000/ 7T (=& — J\ £ : 64,716,000/
bank borrowings of approximately HK$20,923,000 (2018: HK$21,878,000) TONBFEERTRIT UERSBEALN
(Note 28). 2 07 —Z— )\% :21,878,000/ 7T )

BRI (HE28) -
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Xt ik
16 Property, plant and equipment contined 16 V¥ BERZE =
Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment AEENYE - BERKEBEBIITE
has been charged to the consolidated profit or loss as follows: EReaHBERTNK ERBBELN
T
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT
Cost of sales iz k- N 12,552 12,768
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HRA X 2,822 3,014
Administrative expenses TR 2,634 2,701
18,008 18,483
Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts ME - BERXEBEBEEATHERE
where the Group is a lessee under finance leases (Note 29): EREMmEHEERABEACERE
(Kt=E29) :
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
Cost — capitalised finance leases RAR—BRNEREREE 14,338 22,144
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (9,890) (12,409)
Net book amount BREEE 4,448 9,735
The Group leases various machinery under non-cancellable AEERBETAHEREHER R
finance lease agreements. The lease terms are two to five Pz ERSE - AMEERSF
years, and ownership of the assets lie within the Group. BEEREEBNASEE-
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BB ERR M

17 B EE

17 Intangible assets

Other
intangible
Goodwill assets
BE HUEFEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Year ended 31 March 2018 HE-_ZT—N\F
ZA=T—BIFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 725 717 1,442
Amortisation charge (Note 8) 5 %& A (M 7E8) - (430) (430)
Provision for impairment BEEME (HEE8)

(Note 8) - (287) (287)
Closing net book amount FAREREFE 725 - 725
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—N\F

=RA=+—8H
Cost B AR 725 1,290 2,015
Accumulated amortisation 25T - (1,003) (1,008)
Accumulated impairment 2R E - (287) (287)
Net book amount BREFE 725 = 725
At 1 April 2018 and RZZT—NF
31 March 2019 MA—B &
—T-NEF
=A=+—8H
Net book amount RESE 725 = 725

For the year ended 31 March 2019, no amortisation expense
(2018: HK$430,000) has been charged to ‘cost of sales’ in

the consolidated profit or loss.

BHE-_Z—NE=A=+—8I&F
E - vEHHERAZ(ZZ -\ F:
430,000 L) EREHE=N[H
ERA] R -
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B I R R M T

17 Intangible assets coninued 17 BEEE @
Impairment test for goodwill EERENR

Management reviews the business performance of the
Group based on the products and services the respective
business provide. Goodwill is monitored by management
at the operating segment level. The Group’s goodwill was
arisen from the acquisition of additional 11% equity interests
in e-banner Limited on 1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the
banner printing operating segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount of
a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount which results in
impairment of goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculation. The calculation
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budget
approved by management covering a five-year period with
the first year growth rate of 5% (2018: 13%) and forecasted
average revenue growth rate for second to fifth year at 5%
(2018: 6%). Gross profit margin are assumed to be 34% for
the forecast period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 5% and
pre-tax discount rate of 13%.

Management determined the revenue growth rate based on
past performance and expectations on market and operational
development. The discount rate applied by the Group is rate
that reflect current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the CGU.

Impairment assessment was performed on the goodwill and
the recoverable amount of the CGU in which goodwill has
been allocated is higher than the carrying amount as at 31
March 2019. As a result, no impairment loss was charged for
the year ended 31 March 2019.
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18 Financial instruments by category

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Loans and
receivables

BEXK
FE W KR
HK$’000
THET

BB ERR M

18 REHETHEMTA

Assets at

Unlisted
bond
securities

el
BxEE 5
HK$’000

TET

profit or loss

fair value

through
Total
DREE
ReEE
HK$'000

FAT

act
HK$'000
TET

Assets BE
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—NF
—A=+—H
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H o fEU
(excluding prepayments) RIE (T BE
FERKIE) 14,317 - - 14,317
Amounts due from related FEU B E N B FRIR
companies 2,708 - - 2,708
Other financial assets at R EK AR 2
amortised cost HMepEE 9,019 1,000 - 10,019
Financial assets at fair value FREBREAN
through profit or loss BEIIEZ
SREE - - 9,545 9,545
Cash and cash equivalents RekBe%E
1HE 123,664 - - 123,664
149,708 1,000 9,545 160,253
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2018 RZE—N\FE
=A=+—H°
Trade and other receivables 25 KEMEWR
(excluding prepayments) RIE (T BE
HERKIE) 14,484 - - 14,484
Amounts due from related JiE Mk B8 58 1 B 3R
companies 10,191 - - 10,191
Held-to-maturity investments BFEIHRE - 15,000 = 15,000
Financial assets at fair value BREREAA
through profit or loss BEIK2
PRMEE = - 12,746 12,746
Cash and cash equivalents RekieEE
THE 89,524 - - 89,524
114,199 15,000 12,746 141,945
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BHMBHRRME

8 REHEINEMT R

18 Financial instruments by category continueq)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
1% 8 85 PR A< 51 BR
ZE@mas
HK$’000
FHETT
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—8
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ B 38 75 R IB 34
Amounts due to directors ERTEF IR 200
Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities) BE(TEEREHEAR) 25,943
Obligations under finance leases BMEHEBETHEMR 2,136
Trade and other payables (excluding B 5 RAMEMNFKIE (TEEEK
advanced receipts from customers, BEFE AHEaEBERETAR)
contract liabilities and accrued expenses) 11,645
39,958
As at 31 March 2018 n= )\i_HEwL—El
Amounts due to related parties i3 ﬁ %ﬁ #H5 BIE 336
Amounts due to directors JERTEERIA 245
Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities) BE (e rﬂ EHEAE) 24,592
Obligations under finance leases MEREBETHEMR 7,045
Trade and other payables B NHEMENFIE (TEEEK
(excluding advanced receipts from BEPRIBREGHY)
customers and accrued expenses) 15,330
47,548
19 Inventories 19 F&

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Raw materials M R 4,755 5,531
Work-in-progress & m 232 34
Finished goods SYFK o 1,045 486
6,032 6,051

The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included HE-_T-NF=ZA=+—HL1tHF

R ﬁﬁmﬂﬁ'ﬁfzjtﬁu)\ [ 4§ & A A |
B M RS A 453,112,000 7T (=
T — )\ 4F : 53,180,000/ 7T ) °

in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$53,112,000
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$53,180,000).
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20 Trade receivables

BB ERR M

20 EZEWFRIE

2019 2018

—E-hE —F—)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

T8 T FH T

Trade receivables B 5 WA 6,495 7,895
Less: loss allowance B EIE R (15) (15)
Trade receivables — net H 5 W IE — F 5 6,480 7,880

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges
from 30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

ARAEBEERRE D RYKIENK
HEREEAAEBEERS-

AEFRENNRIEREZREE
N REER - FHEEHNFI0H
E60H -REZHHEAONEFE
Wk IR BRI D AT aA T

2019 2018

—ZE—-hEF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FTAT

0 - 30 days 0% 30H 3,906 4,977
31 - 60 days 31£260H 1,155 1,530
Over 60 days H3B60H 1,419 1,373
6,480 7,880

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, no trade receivable was
considered to be impaired.

The maximum exposures of the Group to credit risk are the
carrying value of trade receivables mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables of the Group are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for trade
receivables.

RZE-NEFR-ZZE-NF=H
=t—H BEESERKRERER
1EHS & RIE

AEBEAZNREKEERRT) Lt
B 5 RU IR REE -

AEEESERKENEEEES
LA T EHE -

AEEY ELE 5 RUKAR AT
R B4R o
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& I R MR
20 Trade receivables (conined 20 B 5 EWFRIE =
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade EHRWREBREREHESNT

receivables are as follows:

2019

—E-hE

HK$’000

FERT

At beginning of year/end of year REN/FR 15 15

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables EWFERERENEZRERDE
have been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in the AEGHBERANITHRAZ] - &
consolidated profit or loss. Amounts charged to the allowance EHROMRE —REFELH T K E

account are generally written off, when there is no expectation FHINR & R MEH -

of recovering additional cash.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to AEERABBN B RS ERFEIHR
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime S AT EEREEBE BA
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Group BFESRERKRFIEERAZHEHRER
has assessed that the expected credit losses for these BE - ASBECHHZEeHEE
financial assets are not material. Thus no loss allowance was WEHEEESE SBEIYTEK-
recognised as at statement of financial positions date. The bt B IS AR A 2k B A R SR AT
Group’s credit risk control are disclosed in Note 3. MEERE ~EEEERRZES
M S FE o
21 Deposits, prepayments and other 21 B FANFREREMEK
receivables MIE
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHEIT
Deposits and prepayments Be RIEMRIEAE 15,414 18,570
Other receivables H h & W R IE 752 335
Interest receivables from unlisted EEMEHZFHERFE
bond securities 566 1,044
16,732 19,949
Less: non-current portion B IERBER S
Deposits and prepayments Ee RERMKIEA (6,093) (4,913)
Deposits, prepayments and Be FARNREREAm
other receivables — current portion FEWFRIE — R EED 7 10,639 15,036
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables (continueq)

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments
for utility, insurance expenses and sub-contracting fee.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other receivables and prepayments approximate
their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits, prepayments
and other receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

Other financial assets at amortised cost/
held-to-maturity investments

BB ERR M

21 e FAAREREMER

IE )

ZeREIBERERES 2RARY
BNRE REFEXRD>BEER-

ARAEERG  HAMERRAR
BENRENREEEZE R AEER
%0

AEBMRE BNRAREME
WA BREE X ZIAB LA

22 BBERASRzEME

MEE FEIHBRE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
Other financial

assets at Held-to-maturity

amortised cost investments

T2 4 85 B A B BR BE

ZHEMEE BIHAIR &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FTAT

Unlisted bond securities ELETEHES 1,000 15,000
Loan and interest receivables B E R & B 10,614 =
11,614 15,000

Less: loss allowance B BIa R (1,595) =
10,019 15,000
Less: current portion BB D (8,919) (15,000)
Non-current portion EMENEB 1,100 -

As at 1 April 2018, the unlisted bond securities were
reclassified from held-to-maturity investments to other financial
assets at amortised cost in accordance with HKFRS 9. Details
of the reclassification are set out in Note 2.2.

R-ZFE-N\FHA—HB FEME
FEFERBEEFBYHREERFI
FHRENHREEN O BRERE
HERAGERZEMBEREE B
NRZHBHERKIFE2.2
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BHMBHRRME

22 Other financial assets at amortised cost/
held-to-maturity investments (continueq)

On 27 September 2018, the Group entered into a loan
arrangement with a third party. The principal amount of the
loan amounted to approximately HK$10,000,000, with interest
bearing at 10% per annum.

On 13 March 2018, the Group entered into a 4-year loan
agreement with another third party. The principal amount
of the loan amounted to approximately HK$600,000, with
interest bearing at 5% per annum.

Management considered that the loans to the third parties
are low risk, and therefore the impairment provision is
determined at 12 months expected credit losses. Applying the
expected credit risk model resulted in the recognition of a loss
allowance of HK$1,595,000 as at 31 March 2019 for the loan
and interest receivables.

The unlisted bond securities are based on cash flows
discounted using a rate based on the market interest rate and
the risk premium specific to the unlisted securities at 8% for
the year (2018: 9%).

Both the unlisted bond securities and loan and interest
receivables are dominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is

the carrying value of the unlisted bond securities and loan and
interest receivables.

23

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

22

23

BREBHEREY R EMbE
MEE BRIHRE

R—ZZE—NFALA-++H K&
EREE=-ZFITVUERBZ -ZEXK
2 R4 %8 /5#10,000,0000 7t ¢ 1%
FEREI0%ET B o

%

R—_ZE—NF=ZA+=ZH ~£E
gﬁijﬁl_% ﬁETiqugq%fﬁy\Tﬁn&c’
ZE R 2 A& 58 A 4600,0007 7T -
BEN K5 B -

0

T

].?

Eﬁgwuﬁméﬁv H?E{#E’]EW\
1 = B - B R B B Ty iR 1218 A
EHEEEEEE - R_T—NLEF
=A=+—H HAEHEEEBE
EXERERERER R EEER
1,595,000 Tt

FRFLTESFEFHDRBERABE
RISMERIFETESFNEER
B BRI 8% (=T — \F : 9%)
Hffﬁmfﬁi/m A& o

EEmEFIFREWRERKHE
BB LT E -

RBREAMEREERRAIFLT
BEHERLEREREF SN RE
(@ o

ZREREAREEIEK
ZERMEE

2019 2018

—E-hEF AN

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Fair value of insurance policy investment R ERER AR EE - 12,746
Fair value of mutual fund investments EEESRENAAEE 4,145 =
Listed equity investments IR E 5,400 -
9,545 12,746
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Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

The insurance policy investment is an insurance contract
provided to a director with underlying investment on a capital
fund. The insurance policy investment was redeemed during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

The listed equity investments represent shares listed on the
Stock Exchange.

The fair values of the listed equity investments and mutual
fund investments are based on quoted prices in active
markets and are classified within level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented
within investing activities in the consolidated statement of
cash flows.

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss are recorded in ‘other losses - net’ in the
consolidated profit or loss (Note 7).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

BT RRMITE

23 ZBBEFRAAEEIK

ZEMEE #

RERERAEFTREZRREL
BEAESWHEBRE-RERE
RBE-_T-NF=A=1+—H1L
FEEM -

ERERAEREER

,f/'\ ®

Bt 22 BT BT RO AR

FTRAKREREEEESRENR
;LFTEEETFEA}E%ﬁ%E’ﬁ&FH
BARERAREBEEEENSE —

RZEBE
LA

HEHIHI
S S

BBBERBRANEBEINEZERE
ENAREEZSHHN S HERTH
B R —FE ] (M&E7) -

24 BERBEEEEERE

BeMMeFEER S =AU
NRBEE B2 HE MERRITFR-

2019 2018

—E2-hF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FET

Cash at banks and on hand RPN MFHEES 71,492 46,982
Short-term bank deposits FRHRITIFK 52,172 42 542
Cash and cash equivalents HehFLEBEEBEEB 123,664 89,524

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rate.

RITASREE B RITERM K
B R ERELA B o
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24 Cash and cash equivalents (continueq)

Cash at banks and on hand are amounts of approximately
HK$4,068,000 or RMB3,479,000 (2018: HK$1,519,000 or
RMB1,216,000) denominated in Renminbi. The conversion of
Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of PRC are subject to the relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

24 BERRESEHEEH

IR1T R FEEIE S 494,068,00078 7T =X
AR ¥3,479,000t (=T — )\ F:
1,519,000 7T sk A R #1,216,000
T)TIAARBEEE - L AR
ENEBRHEBRIINE R EZEINE
AENRTEHRESELFE-
¥5 78 8 <F FP B BT 28 46 &9 48 8 O BB
EHIR B ROER -

HekfieaSEEBNERAEBEIAT
SIE T E:

2019

—B-NF

HK$’000

FExT
HK$ BT 110,131 77,275
Renminbi AREE 4,068 1,519
Uss$ ETT 8,678 10,305
Others Hit 787 425
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEH 123,664 89,524

25 Share capital and share premium

25 BAR KD RE

Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
shares shares Share premium
ROEE EEREE R4 EE
(thousands) HK$'000 HK$'000
(Fi&) TAT TAET
Authorised capital - ordinary EERA -
shares of HK$0.01 each RZZE—+t$MA—-H"
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, “T-N\F=ZA=+-8"
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 ZT-N\fEA-BR
ZE-NE=R=1—H
BREBOVETHLER 10,000,000 100,000 -
Issued and fully paid: BETRHR:
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, RZE—tEMA—F"
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 —EZ-N\F=B=+—H"
—ET-\EmA-BK
—E-NE=fA=1-H 550,000 5,500 132,921
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26 Other reserves 26 Hibhi#E
Capital Other Exchange  Retained
reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
EXfEE HittFEE HERE RERA b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL AT FTAET TEL BT
As 1 April 2017 R-E—+EmE—H 6,593 (1) (2684 67,926 71,814
Profit for the year FRER - - - 22,032 22,032
Currency translation fE X =5
differences
- Group —-K&EE - - 516 - 516
— Joint venture and associates —& & % R E & AR - - 1,306 - 1,306
Dividends (Note 31) 2 (Ki3E31) - - - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2018 R-Z-N\F
ZA=+-A8 6,593 21) (862) 81,158 86,868
Profit for the year E R Al - - - 17,353 17,353
Currency translation fE X =5
differences
- Group K& - - (433) - (433)
- Joint venture and associates — A& & (¥ K& A F] - - (582) - (582)
Dividends (Note 31) e (FiEs1) - - - (132000  (13,200)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
ZA=+-A 6,593 21) (1,877) 85311 90,006
27 Trade payables, accruals and other 27 ESBIFIE Bt RER
payables H {th FE {4 K18
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FERT
Trade payables 2 S EMNRIE 9,323 12,886
Accruals and other payables JE 5T 338 & H At e A< SRR
Accrued expenses FEETF X 17,754 16,067
Advanced from customers BEFPEX 4,250 7,945
Contract liabilities EHaE 6,987 =
Other payables H b fE T 3RIE 2,322 2,444
Accruals and other payables JE &t SR I8 N H b FE 5 5RIB 31,313 26,456
Less: non-current portion B IERmENER (1,063) (1,186)
Current portion BN &R 30,250 25,270
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27 ESENFIE BFRER
H it B FRIE o)

HEFRENNTREREZEAEE-
EE 8N F308 £90H -

27 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (continueq)

Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The
credit period ranges from 30 to 90 days.

BEHRMNRBBENZHREHHOKRE
DT

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date was as follows:

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

0 - 30 days 0&30H 5,495 9,720
31 - 60 days 31260H 2,330 2,250
61 — 90 days 61290H 763 916
Over 90 days @90 R 735 =
9,323 12,886

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals
and other payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong

dollars.

28 Borrowings

AEBME S ENKIA B3R
KREMENRENREETENE

FEAHE

28 &

2019 2018
—E-h#E —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T FET

Current mE
Trust receipt loans ErEBIRE R 2,022 1,679
Bank overdrafts RITEX 2,998 =
Bank loans RITER 20,923 22,913
25,943 24,592
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28 Borrowings (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

BT RRMITE

28 B E )

TERAOMAEENEE HREE
FHBEAHECERBBFE I
Bt ACAZERERGRRANZE
DRRBHEBIEER

2019 2018
—2-hF —E—NAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within 1 year — R 6,001 3,674
Between 1 and 2 years —EWE 1,003 981
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF 3,149 3,079
Over 5 years HFELAE 15,790 16,858
25,943 24,592
Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause RITEERBSRTUEZETFE IR
which enables the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. BREE K ﬁﬁ’\ At 2& 4o 8
Accordingly, the entire balance was classified under current RRBEE-
liabilities.
The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong RZE-—NERZZE-—NEFE=A
Kong dollars as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. =+t—HB EENEREENRET
E o

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

MEFABERFEMNEMT

2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FET
Trust receipt loans srtliBRE R 4.07% 2.80%
Bank overdrafts RITEX 4.00% -
Bank loans RITERK 2.25% 2.31%
The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying RZZTE—NERZZE—NF=A
amounts as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 as all the borrowings =+t—H EE®A ft (ERERER -
carry interests which are benchmarked against Hong Kong HEEE REEMEEEDNIZ2R
Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate BTHEBEEBENEXNEFBRITH
(“HIBOR"). EREX([BAERTRAERSX])
il
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28

29

Borrowings (continueq)

The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial
covenants and the Group is in compliance with the financial
covenants as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, the borrowings of the Group were
secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party
of the Group (Note 34(c)). Included in bank loans to the extent
of approximately HK$20,923,000 (2018: HK$21,878,000) are
mortgage loans which are secured by properties of the Group
of approximately HK$62,503,000 (2018: HK$64,716,000)
(Note 16).

Obligations under finance leases

Certain plant and machinery of the Group were held under
finance leases. No arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments. The Group’s obligations under
finance leases were repayable as follows:

Minimum lease

28 fHE

29

RZE—NFER_ZTE—N\F=A
—t+—HB AEEMNEEEZS R
RAOMBRHEAEE —BFEETS R
A

RZZE—AF=A=+—H &&

ENEEAASENBESRHE
B0 8 A fE OR ¢E B HR (B &E34(c)) °
R 1T E R #20,923,0008 T (=&
— J\4F : 21,878,000/ 7T ) £ 3& A A&
&= B ) ¥ 462,503,000 T (=&
— J\ 4% : 64,716,000/ 7T ) 1E K 18 £
EBER (KiE16) °

MEHERETNSME

AEBEETHERESUARERE
B - ASEMETLEMALAM
SR - AEEREHERT
MEERAR THIHEEER:

Present value of minimum

payments lease payments
BEASER BEEASARRE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F ZE—hF —N\FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET FET FHET
Amounts payable under BMEHEBETHN
finance leases: i ANECEE
Within one year —FR 1,911 5,268 1,868 5,110
Later than one year but —FRETEBR
not more than five years hF 273 1,969 268 1,935
2,184 7,237 2,136 7,045
Less: Future finance charges & : KK G E & (48) (192) - =
Present value of lease HEETHNERE
obligations 2,136 7,045 2,136 7,045
Less: Amount due within B mBBRERMR
twelve months shown Rt+-@ARE
under current liabilities #Aexm (1,868) (5,110)
Amount due after twelve R+—@A%
months B8 2 778 268 1,935
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29 Obligations under finance leases (continueq)

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured
by the lessor's charge over the leased assets with net
carrying amount of approximately HK$4,448,000 (2018:
HK$9,735,000) (Note 16).

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

29

BB ERR M

mMEHEE FET @

AEBREAEETETHAERE
ABHEEE AL ERET 2@
FE B #4,448,0008 T (= F— N\
% :9,735,000% ) (MIsE16) -

MEEFAERFEMERMT

2019
—E2-NF

HK$’000
T

MEHEERTNEME

Obligations under finance leases

3.64% 3.52%

As at 31 March 2019, the obligations under finance leases of

the Group were secured by personal guarantee provided by a
related party of the Group (Note 34(c)).

30 Deferred income tax

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
is as follows:

30

R-E—-hWhFEF=RF=+—8 K&
ERREHEETHNEA I AAE
ErREE s R e EAER (KT
34(c)) tE B -

i SE Fr & 51

ELERBEEMECHBABEON
LN

2019
—F-NF

HK$’000
FHERx

Deferred tax assets EETRIEE E

— Deferred tax assets to be recovered

—BE+ = @A RKE

after more than 12 months EEHIBEEE 2,313 2,402
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBBAE
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — i@+ — 1@ A& U EH)

after more than 12 months BEEFRIBAGE (6,901) (7,768)
Deferred tax liabilities — net BEEHIEAEE ¥ (4,588) (5,366)
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30 Deferred income tax (continueq) 30 ELERBH
The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are REFSTHREMNAEHNT :
as follows:
2019 2018
=F-NF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
At beginning of year NGl (5,366) (6,218)
Credited to the consolidated profit REFBRZEFETA
and loss (Note 14) (MIE14) 778 852
At end of year RER (4,588) (5,366)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BLEFEMREERBERFERN (K
for the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of ZREA—BHRAZEHREH) NS
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: ER (NS

Accelerated tax depreciation

IEBEIFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE
At beginning of year REH] (9,397) (11,353)
Credited to the consolidated profit REHFBEREPEA
and loss 1,405 1,956

At end of year MER (7,992) (9,397)
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30 Deferred income tax continueq)

B H SRR T

30 ELEREBH @

Tax losses
HIEEE
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FERT
Deferred tax assets BT IB A E
At beginning of year REH 4,031 5,135
Charged to the consolidated profit RE PHEa P bR
and loss (627) (1,104)
At end of year RER 3,404 4,031
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses BELEMSEHEEDREMBBANIE R

carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of

F B EE B ARKERB S &
3B gL P A5 B8 2 B B 1R 1F R
a€°$$@iﬂﬁwﬁﬁﬁl§§ﬂﬁ

HK$3,394,000 (2018: HK$3,112,000) in respect of tax losses 16,050,000 . (=& — N\ &F:
amounting to HK$16,050,000 (2018: HK$14,787,000). These 14,787,000 75 ) B @ E’J%ELFE S
unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward to offset & E3,394,0008 T (= F —)\¢

against future assessable profits and have no expiry date in
2019 (2018: Nil).

3,112,000 L) - R =T — N F
X BRAB AR A \,nﬁﬁﬁﬁ

ARERBEFN BIXEEm B B
—B—\F ) -
31 Dividends 31 BRE

The dividends paid in 2019 amounted to approximately RZE-—NALFERNTZ2REDN A
HK$13,200,000 (2018: HK$8,800,000). A dividend in respect 13,200 000 L (Z&E — N\ F:
of the year ended 31 March 2019 of HK1.60 cents per 8,800, 000%77:) CEEGR_ET
share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$8,800,000, was —NERARAZTHEAEZRKNMNE
proposed by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2019 and E-_FT-NF=ZA=+—B8BLt#F
to be recommended to the shareholders at the forthcoming EHZR1.608MW 2B 5K E
annual general meeting. These financial statements do not 8,800,000/% 7T + I 7 B ﬂ%%ﬁZHﬁ
reflect this dividend payable. RBAFRELRARREZ - ZZH

Proposed final dividend of BEEARERE

B3R R A M R R % FE A AR ©

2019
—®-hE

2018
—E N\
HK$’000
T8I

HK$’000
FTET

HK1.60 cents (2018: HK2.40 cents) BRI EAR1.608 1L

per ordinary share ZZE—\F :2.40%10) 8,800 13,200
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32 EHEBEERERME

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows

(a) BEMBRE

(@) Cash generated from operations

2019
—E-NE
HK$’000
FET
Profit before income tax B P45 250 AL 4 A1 19,995 28,693
Adjustments for: RATSEETHFAE:
Depreciation of property, M- BEREEBEZITE 16
plant and equipment 18,008 18,483
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & E # 54 17 - 430
Losses on disposals of property, HEWE  HE N 7
plant and equipment BEHEE 1,350 4,720
Loss on partial disposal of s — g R R, 7
an associate w2 B51E - 111
Impairment loss on a financial TREEREEE
asset 1,595 -
Impairment loss on intangible mEEEREEBE 17
assets - 287

BERBRBRARBEINKZ 7
TREENAAEEKSE

Fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through

profit or loss (648) (427)
Recovery of trade receivables W E SRS E 5 8

previously written off FE W SR IE (24) (24)
Write off of trade receivables SR G N 109 3
Interest income from unlisted KEWESFE %“E'J FMEBKA 6

bond securities (723) (1,324)
Finance income & WA 10 (1,510) (488)
Finance costs ELEZD N 10 743 1,292
Share of losses of associates iy R/ Bl B = 12 2,268 143
Share of profit of a joint venture ~ fE{E & &% 2% F 13 (2,494) (777)
Changes in working capital BB ﬁ kL)
— Inventories —FE 19 (642)
— Trade receivables —Z ZRWFRIE 1,315 (3,341)
- Deposit, prepayments and —&Z& BENFER

other receivables HAth U 5 /TJ\ IE 3,721 1,558
— Amounts due from related —FEUR i KIE

companies 2,486 (4,342)
— Trade payables —B S ENHKIE (3,563) 4,938
- Accruals and other payables — FERTIE I B b FE 5 5008 4,857 (1,842)
— Amounts due to related parties — & {< B3 75 718 (302) 327
— Amount due to directors —ENEENIE (45) -
Cash generated from operations & & P15 & 47,157 47,778
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 8B E&HRERM T
cash flows (Continued)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) REFBRE ®
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from REHRERERP HEWE K
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: B RBEOMERIBRE:
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FET
Net book amount (Note 16) AR FE (MIsE16) 1,472 5,145
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEME&EEE
plant and equipment (Note 7) (FfF5ET) (1,350) (4,720)
Proceeds from disposal & TS 5B 122 425
(b) Net debt reconciliation (b) EXFHEHER
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the B EBHFREZOMEBRE
movements in net cash/(debt) for each of the years presented. (BER)FERSIIANEEZEH-

Liabilities from
financing activities
RETHELENER
Obligation
under  Obligation
finance under
Cash lease finance Borrowings

and cash  due within  lease due  due within

equivalents 1year after 1 year 1 year
R-FR R-F#
IemE HHmE

RekEE HEET HEET R-£R

Z{EEH B Bff HHzER st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
THT THT TAT THT THT
Net cash/(debt) as at RZE—tEMA-HZ
1 April 2017 Be/ (BB) 38 68,220 (7,013) (7,045) (38,343) 15,819
Cash flows Bens 21,005 7,013 - 13,751 41,769
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ §ME 552 299 - - - 299
Other non-cash investments ~ EM3FR &R E - (5,110) 5,110 — -
Net cash/(debt) as at RZE-N\E=H
31 March 2018 =+-Bz8%/
(E%)F8 89,524 (5,110) (1,935) (24,592) 57,887
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 §HBRERERM T

cash flows (Continued)

(b) B FHEYER @

(b) Net debt reconciliation (continued)

Liabilities from
financing activities

MERDELNAE

Obligation
under  Obligation

finance

Cash lease

and cash  due within
equivalents 1 year
R-FR

HMzmE

under
finance Borrowings
lease due  due within
after 1 year 1 year

R-F#

HzmE

ReRkRg
$EEE
HK$'000

THET

AEET

& BT HEEK it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE  FAX  FAT  TER

HEET R-%FR

Net cash/(debt) as at RZZ-NFEA—B2

1 April 2018 Re/ (E5)F8 89,524 (5,110) (1,935) (24,592) 57,887
Cash flows Beng 34,475 5,169 - (1,351) 38,293
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMNEF3% (335) - - - (335)
Other non-cash investments ~ Ef IR &K E - (1,927) 1,667 - (260)
Net cash/(debt) as at RZE-N$=H

31 March 2019 =t-RAzB%/

(%) 58 123,664 (1,868) (268) (25,943) 95,585

Non-cash transaction:

The Group entered into finance lease arrangement in respect
of machinery with a total capital amount at the inception of
the lease of HK$260,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019
(2018: Nil).
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B IR
33 Commitments 33 &iE
(a) Capital commitment (a) BAEIE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but FREFTHEHREENEARAY
not yet incurred is as follows: wm
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Property, plant and equipment M- BB RFRE - 994
Investment in an associate REEE R RIMIEE 4,385 4,686

(b) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee (b) BR&HERKE - K EBIEB K

HA
The Group leases various stores and premises under AEBRBIARMESCERASEHZ
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms HMAZHEEHRER-HEHRHA
are between 1 and 5 years. The future aggregate minimum —ERFIFE-BRETARHBELSE
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as HE ARFEHEERERLBNOT :
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Not later than 1 year —F AR 17,978 19,496
Later than 1 year and not later —FUE-RAFEUT
than 5 years 27,471 8,498
45,449 27,994
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33 Commitments continuea)

(b) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
(Continued)

The Group leases machinery, office equipment and billboard
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
lease terms are between 1 to 5 years. The future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are as follows:

33 AE
(b) REHRERE-KXEFEBK
A

AEBBRBIAHESCEHERZ
AR MAERERESR M
AN F—ZRF -RETITHEL
EHE RARRENKEHESEFEWD
T

2019
—2—h#E

HK$’000
FER

Not later than 1 year —F R
Later than 1 year and not later

than 5 years

—FRE-AFUT

35 36

13 51

48 87

(c) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group leases out machinery and a property under
non-cancellable operating lease. The lease terms are between
1 to 2 years. The future minimum lease payments receivable is

(c) ReHEAE-FTREFER L
HA

AEBERBEIAIMESEHELH
kMR- HBS—2MF - RK
Rl e ZEBREMRBEMT

as follows:
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FERT
Not later than 1 year —F AR 216 180
Later than 1 year and not later than —FLE-RAFUT
5 years 216 -
432 180
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34 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the

following individuals and companies were related parties that
had transactions or balances with the Group:

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PSR Ml 2 o2 A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
EE &

Mr. Yau Kin Hung
B 2 1 55 A

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok

B H SRR T

34 BEAXRS

M-S BESEEAEEL MK
MEERRBEPHANKEIT(EE
HEXBEAZEN ABEZTERN
SEERE RZTA-BETAL
BEABIETZEEEBAE TEER
&/T&imLﬁ%FWi)TE@
ER BRXGABEANKTEERR

ﬁﬁéﬁnamfmoﬁﬁﬂTﬂ
B & IR AE e
$AT§$ME T E A KR A
AUHEARNEFETR ST ES
HREE R -

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEWNBARFFERERITAA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEWNBARFFERERITAA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEWNBARFFERERITAA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

BWRELE

Ms. Wong Man Yee

AEBEWMER

BIFFEE I A A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

BIFREE A A

Controlled by the directors of the Company

EHELZL AEBKHEA
CTP Limited
CTP Limited EEINYNICT === a1

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

eprint Limited
eprint Limited

Fitness World (Group) Limited
fEEXi (£EF) BRAF]

Giant State Limited
EBBRAA

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

AEBEWMBER

AIMAEDRE

UItimate holding company (Note i)

:]: J'L/_\

Al (M%)

Controlled by an associate of the Group (Note ii)

RN NI Q)

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group (Note ii)

AEBEWNER

EIE0LZWNCIRG D
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BB EmRNEE
34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BELRRS o)

Montana Capital Sdn Bhd
Montana Capital Sdn Bhd

King Profit International Limited
ZHNERER AR

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd
Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited
BEZERATA

Promise Properties Limited

R WEBR AT

Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong
Technology Company Limited

AYEEEEBREBRAR]

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong)
Limited

B2 TBE (F8)BRAF

Sakura Global Property Limited
B2 RRELERAA

TBC Group Limited
TBC Group Limited

VWV Limited
VWV Limited

Wab2 Group (HK) Limited

Wab2 Group (HK) Limited

Controlled by an joint venture of the Group
MAKES L hEES

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A ESES

Controlled by an joint venture of the Group
MAKES L hEES

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A ESES

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A ESES

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
AEEHE A A B SR
Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
N SN PN ) N

Controlled by an associate of the Group
BN G E B N RE

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REENBRREERERETE A

Controlled by the directors of the Company
MAR A EEEH

Controlled by non-controlling interests of
a subsidiary of the Group (Note iii)
P 2N 5 1 P B8 8 W) S48 PR dE e 42 ol (PR i )

Notes: BT -

i. The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the i. AR T Aeprint Limited#E #l o )R = F— 1,
Company’s shares as at 31 March 2019 and 2018, and is beneficially FR_FE—NF=ZA=+—H8 eprint
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam Limited# A AR 7] 256.9% & 7+ I AR
Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The directors BESE FadEE MERELEE R
consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, being the FHEERR-—BLEESER -ESF
immediate and the ultimate holding company. R Aeprint Limited ( 70 2% 8 5E 7 A & 71 it
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34 Related party transactions (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

On 28 Aug 2018, e-print Trading Limited (“e-print Trading”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with a third party relating to the shares of Giant State
Limited. All shares held by e-print Trading Limited were sold to this third
party investor at a consideration of US$1 accordingly. Since then, Giant
State Limited, together with its subsidiary, Fitness World (Group) Limited
are no longer the related parties.

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris, Mr. Foo Pei Pan, Mr. Cheng Sze Tok and
Ms. Wong Man Yee, non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the
Group, transferred all their interest in Wab2 Group (HK) Limited to
independent third parties on 31 August 2017. Since then, Wab2 Group
(HK) Limited is no longer a related party.

BB ERR M

34 BERIRS =

BfsE: (&)

R—ZZE—NENB=-+NB X&EH
2 & W B A Fle-print Trading Limited
(Te-print Tradingl) ,JR—ZHE = A E
RERRATROEE-—HEZ =R
It » e-print Trading Limited®:2 % % =7
BREERERREIZTHERFANS
ARG - HBEERBRATREFAA
EEXM (KB BRARTHEAME S -

R=ZT—tFNA=+—8 RAI%EL
o 1@%%&5‘6{ HBELERTHEL
T+ (REERBE AR FEERER) GE
A Wab2 Group (HK) Limited®) f & #
wmERERTEILE=J E{&Wab2 Group

(HK) Limited I~ &R 75 -
HEEFNRS

AEEHBEIGETUTRS
ARREZRE BEIRIRIE
ﬁ%%ﬂk¢&$%lﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
7 T MR SREST ©

(@) Transactions with related parties (a)

The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the related party transactions were carried out in the normal
course of business and at terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties.

2019
—E-h%E

HK$’000
FHET

BN ENREENBE M
HeR BFT RERIFES

Rental expense of plants and
machinery, premises, stores and

carparks in Hong Kong payable HMeRX
or paid
— CTP Limited —CTP Limited 5,272 4,815
— Profit More Rich Limited —RBEZERA 720 660
— Promise Properties Limited — R HT%%ﬁﬁE 1,855 1,817
- VWV Limited —VVV Limited 1,965 2,110
- King Profit International Limited —ZEFEEREER AR 486 439
— Wab2 Group (HK) Limited —Wab2 Group (HK) Limited - 390
10,298 10,231
Emolument payable or paid ANEA=ANE A
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — PR I 5 A 827 798
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan —BER L 827 798
— Mr. Yau Kin Hung — R M S A - 415
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok —HRELRLE 827 798
2,481 2,809
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&I R M aE
34 Related party transactions (continued) 34 BMELRS =
(a) Transactions with related parties (continveq) (a) EHBEEFNRS (&)
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
TEx
Expenses paid for purchase of goods HBEERDMHEX
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. - 5
I.T. license fee income receivable JE Y=k 2 B SRR E A
or received FHBERA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 67 254
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. - 4,945
67 5,199
Subcontracting fee payable or paid e BER
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 7 -
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 2 -
9 —
Revenue from sales of goods and EWHEREEE MR
services receivable or received PR 75 W 2
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 363 11
— Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) —#BZTBE (Fi8)
Limited BRAA] 130 107
— Fitness World (Group) Limited —fEEXM (£E)
BRAA - 18
— Sakura Global Property Limited —BRIREZEBRAA] 25 -~
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 512 -
1,030 136
Rental income of store in Hong Kong JEY B R BB
receivable or received EHAe ks
— Sakura Japan Property — B2 HE(FE)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAA] 198 144
Management fee income receivable EWHEKRERBRA
or received
— Sakura Japan Property —BZAHE(FB)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAA] 75 200
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B IR
34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BEAFRS =
(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEBEAESFHMH
Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in TEEBABTFMoFBEERW

Note 36. ¥36 °

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by a related  (c) BE 75 2 £t & R K #
party

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for BESHEER (A28 MBERE
borrowings (Note 28) and obligations under finance leases BT E T (M 5E29) Frid &R F1 3K
(Note 29) were as follows: R
2019 2018
—E-hEF AN S
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FHET
Guarantees provided by a director MASE—EHRBARZ
of a subsidiary of the Group EERMHER 47,753 47,460
Guarantee provided by a director of MASEE cESREER
the Group - 105
Guarantee provided by a spouse of RASEE—HEHEA A
non-controlling interests of EERERFTFEAZ
a subsidiary of the Group A B IR B4R 19,025 19,025
66,778 66,590
(d) Balances with related parties (d) BEEBE R &tk
2019 2018
—ESE—-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Amounts due from PEUWRBAE A R K IE
related companies
Giant State Limited ERBRAA - 4,997
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) B REE (BH)BRAA
Limited 24 1
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 10 967
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 2,674 4,226
2,708 10,191
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BHMBHRRME

34 Related party transactions (continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties (continuea)

Certain directors of the Company and the following related
companies are in common. Pursuant to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Section 383(1)(d), the maximum
amount outstanding are as follows:

34 BEEFRG
(d) EEREER &k (o)
ARARABEFEENANTHERF

ZEF -RIEEFB D AEHIFE383(1)
(O e REEREBENT

2019 2018

= i —N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FHET

Giant State Limited EXBERRA 4,997 4,997

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BZABE (BE)BRAF

Limited 24 1

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, EREBEFREAERE 28

interest-free and are repayable on demand. The fair values of
these balances approximate their carrying values.

W54
&x*fﬁﬁﬁ%—nuﬁ% Y EE
HEHREEMES -

2019
—E-NEF —ZE-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Amounts due to related parties FE{RAES RIE
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BABE (FEB)BRAA
Limited 34 36
Mr. Yau Kin Hung ER 7 52 4 - 300
34 336
Amounts due to directors EAESRE
Mr. She Siu Kee 7.R: MESLE 50 50
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEEEA 35 35
Mr. Lam Shing Ki %%&%E 35 35
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERLEE 35 35
Mr. Poon Chun Wai IR BT 15 30
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BkREE 15 30
Mr. Fu Chung BEEAE 15 30
200 245

The payable balances with related parties and directors
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured, interest
free and are repayable on demand. The fair values of these
balances approximate their carrying values.
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BT RRMITE

35 Statement of financial position and 35 AR A B BEMRR KK FHiE
reserve movement of the Company 2 E

NGRSO

Statement of financial position of the Company

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—)N\%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR E 73,897 73,897
Prepayments TEf IR - 18
73,897 73,915
Current assets MEEE

Prepayments and other receivables 8 1< 718 K E fib & U 3k 18 81 308

Financial assets at fair value BBERRAABETY E-E Z

through profit or loss TREE 4,145 12,746
Amount due from subsidiaries JE W B /B~ B) 5K I8 19,533 19,530
Amounts due from fellow B E = NGIE ]

subsidiaries 121,984 120,015
Cash and cash equivalents He kB2 EFMEER 9,691 501
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 155434 153,100
Total assets BERE 229,331 227,015
Equity and liabilities EmkaE

Equity attributable to owners of AN A A A (RS
the Company

Share capital f& 7 5,500 5,500

Share premium f& 15 & B 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H A {# 1# (@) 90,194 87,660
Total equity G G 228,615 226,081
Liabilities afE

Current liabilities nEEE

Accruals JEET IR 466 425
Amounts due to directors ERTEEHIE 200 245
Current income tax payable JERTE BIFT ST 50 264
Total liabiies ~~~~~ +~fF®es ne 934
Total equity and liabilities EERkAGEERE 229,331 227,015
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Xt ik
35 Statement of financial position and 35 AP EBBEMRRREFHEE
reserve movement of the Company BE) o
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AP THBEMRRE 2
(Continued)
Note: B -
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARAEFEEED
Capital Retained
reserve earnings Total
BARGEE REBEA o
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#T FHIT FHIT
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—tFWHA—H 73,508 11,035 84,543
Profit for the year F R - 11,917 11,917
Dividends (Note 31) iR 8 (HH3E31) - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2018 R-E—N\F=A=+—8H 73,508 14,152 87,660
Profit for the year F N A - 15,734 15,734
Dividends (Note 31) iR S (PfiEE31) - (13,200) (13,200)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 73,508 16,686 90,194
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BB ERR M

36 Benefits and interests of directors 36 ESFERER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ESH M
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERAEENITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBEZ_ZTE—NLF=ZA=+—
the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out as below. HIEFEFESES2HMEINBAT-
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
Estimated Employer's of the affairs of
money value of  contribution to the Company
Performance other benefits a retirement Share-based  or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses (Notei)  benefit scheme payments undertaking
HEZEE
VNG ]
At ERIN PCES E
FHRLEE EENRAER HtRBERS
FRIA (GED) RS EUHE NS
Executive Directors H17ES
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam KAEEE 600 2,820 1,102 92 18 - - 4,632
Mr. Lam Shing Kai HEELE 420 960 661 - 18 - - 2,059
Non-executive Directors F417ES
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Eents 420 - - - - - - 420
Mr. Deng Xiaen HERLE - - - - - - - -
Mr. Leung Wai Ming 2EMEE 420 - - - - - - 420

Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai BRELE 180 - - - - - - 180
Mr. Ma Siu Kit L3 Syt 180 - - - - - - 180
Mr. Fu Chung BRLE 180 - - - - - - 180

2,400 3,780 1,763 92 36 - - 8,071
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BHMBHRRME

36 Benefits and interests of directors coninesy 36 EB S RS @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continueq) (a) EEHM »)
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERAEENITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBEZ_TE—N\F=ZA=+—
the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEAINMAT-

Other emoluments

paid or receivable

in respect of

director's other

services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs of

Estimated money contribution the Company

Performance value of other to a retirement Share-based  orits subsidiary
Salaries bonuses  benefits (Note )~ benefit scheme payments undertaking

Executive Directors H7ES

Mr. She Siu Kee William KBERE 600 2,580 1,178 8 18 - - 4,464
Mr. Lam Shing Kai WEELE 40 360 - - 18 - - 798
Non-executive Directors F417ES

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki fens 420 - - - - - - 40
Mr. Deng Xiaen HERAE - - - - - - - -
Mr. Leung Wai Ming 2EREE 420 - - - - - - 420

Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES

Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai BRELE 120 - - - - - - 120

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BkAkE 120 - - - - - - 120

Mr. Fu Chung BRLE 120 - - - - - - 120
2,220 2,940 1,178 8 % = = 6,462

Notes: B &

() Other benefits include insurance premium and medical allowances. i) HEMASEERE KB EM-

No Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in E -T2 -NERZFE—-N\F=H

any of the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. =+t HLEARAFE BMEEENK

RAFRBERRCTAME -
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36

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Benefits and interests of directors coninueq)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 34(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2018: Nil).

36

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BB ERR M

ESNmRER e

ESERRBARESRILERS
&

BHE_ZT—NWFrk=_ZFE—-—N\F=A
EI= EHJ:Er ME S ERE
ERRBEFHNESRIERBEEF -

RRUEERBAF=SxH
KR E

BE_T-NF=A=+—RBEkZ
Z-NF=ZA=+—-HBLEEE XK
NEYERRBEHRESTRERAE=T]
SAHEATARAE ©

%%

)4]?\

#Z

L g

Cas i
iy
N F T3S

%)

EE
i)
kH

}Si

i
S g A
N BB N¢
s N >

i# il

3 W
Jfﬁrr

BRE B4 MBEE I BE-F
—hER_ZE-N\F=A=+—H
I FEREMEREXFER I E
MEE XZRFEFEHNEAR
BLZEZESNHETE hf =0}

=] =El-v

EX EERMELEMR

EERRS REIASHTH
EXER

AN BV RT3 F R 3 F A ] B
B AR A8 K AN SR 2 A A
NAEFEEAMEREETEEE
ARBZEARG THREH(Z
T N\F:H|)-
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Five-year Financial Summary

L FEHBEBE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hEFE ) N\FE _FE—++F —FT—RF —_FT—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FBTT TABTT TFETT FA&EIT
Result E
Year ended 31 March #HZE=A=+—H
IHEE
Profit attributable to ViN/NEI Es S TN
equity holders of JEAS 52 A
the Company 17,353 22,032 17,321 26,053 32,335

Assets and liabilites ZBERAES

As at 31 March MR=A=+—H

Total assets BEE 310,673 311,157 312,829 299,158 237,849
Total liabilities AE S (76,155) (79,491)  (105,309) (92,327) (76,850)
Net assets FEE 234,518 231,666 207,520 206,831 160,999
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